

ISSN 1520-295X

# Proceedings of the Special International Workshop on Seismic Connection Details for Segmental Bridge Construction

# Edited by W. Phillip Yen and George C. Lee



Technical Report MCEER-09-0012 December 21, 2009

This workshop was held in Seattle, Washington on July 22-24, 2009. It was sponsored by the Federal Highway Administration under contract number DTFH61-07-C-00020.

### NOTICE

This report was prepared by MCEER (Multidisciplinary Center for Earthquake Engineering Research) University at Buffalo, State University of New York through a contract from the Federal Highway Administration. Neither MCEER, associates of MCEER, its sponsors, nor any person acting on their behalf:

- a. makes any warranty, express or implied, with respect to the use of any information, apparatus, method, or process disclosed in this report or that such use may not infringe upon privately owned rights; or
- b. assumes any liabilities of whatsoever kind with respect to the use of, or the damage resulting from the use of, any information, apparatus, method, or process disclosed in this report.

Any opinions, findings, and conclusions or recommendations expressed in this publication are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the views of MCEER or the Federal Highway Administration.





### Proceedings of the Special International Workshop on Seismic Connection Details for Segmental Bridge Construction

Held in Seattle, Washington July 22-24, 2009

Editors and Workshop Co-Chairmen:

W. Phillip Yen<sup>1</sup> and George C. Lee<sup>2</sup>

Publication Date: December 21, 2009

Technical Report MCEER-09-0012

FHWA Contract Number DTFH61-07-C-00020

- 1 Senior Research Structural Engineer/Seismic Research Program Manager, Federal Highway Administration
- 2 Samuel P. Capen Professor of Engineering, Department of Civil, Structural and Environmental Engineering, University at Buffalo, State University of New York

MCEER

University at Buffalo, State University of New York Red Jacket Quadrangle, Buffalo, NY 14261 Phone: (716) 645-3391; Fax (716) 645-3399 E-mail: *mceer@buffalo.edu*; WWW Site: *http://mceer.buffalo.edu* 



Participants of the Special International Workshop on Seismic Connection Details for Segmental Bridge Construction

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

SECTION	TITLE PA	GE		
1	Introduction	1		
2	Short Papers by Workshop Participants5			
	State-of-Practice and Research of Precast Segmental Concrete Bridge Columns in Japan Jun-ichi Hoshikuma	7		
	Cyclic Behavior of Precast Segmental Concrete Bridge Columns with High Performance or Conventional Steel Reinforcing Bars as Energy Dissipation Ba Yu-Chen Ou, Mu-Sen Tsai, Kuo-Chun Chang and George C. Lee	ars 15		
	A Study on Restorable Precast and Prestressed Hybrid Piers Yoshihiko Taira, Junichi Sakai and Jun-ichi Hoshikuma	21		
	Development of Seismic Design Method for Precast Segmental Concrete Bridge Column Junichi Sakai, Shigeki Unjoh and Jun-ichi Hoshikuma	27		
	Analytical and Experimental Investigation of Precast Segmental Bridge Systems P. Sideris, M. Anagnostopoulou, A. Aref and A. Filiatrault	35		
	Research and Application of Precast Segmental Concrete Bridge Columns in Taiwan Kuo-Chun Chang, Yu-Chen Ou, Mu-Sen Tsai and George C. Lee	47		
	A Precast Concrete Bridge Bent for Seismic Regions Olafur S. Haraldsson, Jason B.K. Pang, John F. Stanton and Marc O. Eberhard	55		
	Precast Bridge Members in Areas of High or Moderate Seismicity Jugesh Kapur and Bijan Khaleghi	67		
	Seismic Performance of Precast Bridge Columns with Built-in Elastomeric Par S. Motaref, M. Saiidi, and D. Sanders	d 75		
	IT Roles in Seismic ABC Stuart Chen, H. Hu, I-S Ahn and Q.Gao	83		
3	Summary and Future Research Needs	95		

# TABLE OF CONTENTS (CONT'D)

SECTION	TITLE	PAGE
APPENDIX A	Workshop Participants	97
APPENDIX B	Workshop Agenda	
APPENDIX C	Presentations	103
	Welcome/Overview George Lee	105
	Development of Monograph on Seismic Accelerated Bridge Construction Amjad Aref	109
	Recent Research Activities for Seismic Design of Segmental Concrete Bridge Columns Jun-ichi Hoshikuma	113
	Precast Segmental Concrete Bridge Columns with High Performance Steel Rebar as ED Bars <i>Yu-Chen Ou</i>	117
	A Study on Restorable Precast Prestressed Hybrid Piers Yoshihiko Taira	121
	Development of Design Method of Precast Segmental Concrete Bridge Column Junichi Sakai	s 127
	Analytical and Experimental Investigation of Precast Segmental Bridge System Amjad Aref	131
	Research and Application of Precast Segmental Concrete Bridge Columns in Taiwan <i>Kuo-Chun Chang</i>	135
	Accelerating Bridge Construction in Regions of High Seismicity John Stanton and Marc Eberhard	141
	Seismic Connection of Precast Concrete Bridges in Washington State Jugesh Kapur and Bijan Khaleghi	147
	Segmental Bridge Columns with Damage-Free Plastic Hinges S. Motaref, M. Saiidi and D. Sanders	155
	IT Roles in Seismic ABC Stuart Chen	159

### Section 1

### Introduction

### 1.1 Overview

Using precast/prestressed concrete components to accelerate the construction of highway bridges has been a major professional thrust of the bridge engineering community. Rapid construction leads to many positive effects on costs, quality and safety. Thus, accelerated bridge construction (ABC) has become a popular option for both new installations and in bridge rehabilitation projects. ABC covers a broad spectrum of activities, including the development of high performance materials; fabrication processes; design, construction and erection methods; and techniques and equipment for transportation, installation, removal and reuse of existing bridges. Additionally, ABC can reduce negative environmental impacts and detour times due to new bridge construction and/or retrofit projects.

The behavior of segmental bridges in regions of moderate to high seismicity has not been carefully studied, and therefore, there are no design provisions for seismic ABC (SABC). In recent years, SABC has been a new emphasis of AASHTO. For this reason, the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) has sponsored a research project at the Multidisciplinary Center for Earthquake Engineering Research (MCEER) since 2006 on SABC, in parallel with NCHRP 12-74, "Development of Precast Bent Cap Systems for Seismic Regions." The MCEER project emphasizes two specific aspects of SABC: (1) seismic performance and design of segmental piers, and (2) seismic performance of a segmental bridge as a system.

Earthquake resistant design typically follows one of two basic philosophies: (1) provide adequate seismic strength and ductility, and (2) reduce the seismic demand by using isolation systems. The MCEER project gives more emphasis to innovative systems and at the same time stays within these basic design philosophies to ensure that new research results can be more readily accepted and used by engineers in practice. One example is the well accepted approach for segmental columns to perform equal to or better than cast-in-place (CIP) columns under earthquake ground motions (Culmo, 2009; PCI, 2008). On the other hand, the MCEER project also emphasizes more innovative development by permitting gap opening/closing between bridge segments, which requires the use of seismic response modification systems, and high performance steel rebars as well as high performance concrete to achieve a higher level of seismic performance with reduced cost.

The MCEER project on SABC has several subtasks including substructure, superstructure, connections and system performance. The first major effort is given to substructures, which is an international cooperative project between MCEER and

NCREE (National Center for Research on Earthquake Engineering in Taiwan). Funding is provided by both FHWA (to MCEER) and by the National Science Council of Taiwan (to NCREE) working on the same SABC project on segmental piers (see papers by Chang et al. and Ou et al. in Section 2 of this report).

The second major research effort is on large scale laboratory experiments to observe the seismic performance (connection behavior and system behavior) of a segmental bridge of this type. The MCEER project is using the pair of synchronized shaking tables at the University at Buffalo (UB) to carry out the experiments.

The specific objectives of this workshop are to gather information on current research and/or practice on the connection details of segmental bridges for SABC from Japan, Taiwan and the State of Washington in the U.S., so that they can be documented and integrated with the MCEER studies to formulate a SABC monograph on precast segmental concrete bridges. (Note: SABC practice in some U.S. states such as California and Utah are familiar to the workshop organizers.) The workshop is organized by a committee consisting of the following individuals:

Co-chairs:George C. Lee and Phillip W. H. YenMembers:Amjad Aref, Stuart Chen, Il-Sang Ahn and Jane Stoyle Welch

The workshop participants are listed in Appendix A and the workshop agenda is provided in Appendix B.

### **1.2 MCEER SABC Project**

The SABC research project at MCEER is a five-year program of study funded by FHWA. This is a SAFETEA-LU project which began in 2006. The major program thrust is to develop design recommendations for segmental bridges of short-to-medium spans in strong seismic regions. Specific emphases are given to the seismic behavior and design of segmental piers and the integrity of system performance of the segmental bridges considered in this research project. A number of coordinated tasks are being carried out, including:

- Segmental substructures (a US-Taiwan joint project)
- Segmental superstructures
- System performance of segmental bridges
- IT systems for Accelerated Bridge Construction in seismic regions
- Scaling issues of down-scaled segmental column testing
- Seismic isolation system/devices
- Structural fuse and energy dissipation systems/devices
- Other innovative technologies

The study of segmental substructures is an international cooperative project between MCEER and NCREE (the National Center for Research on Earthquake Engineering) of

Taiwan. This cooperative project addresses the seismic performance and design of segmental columns by considering the column ductility using regular rebars, high performance rebars, high performance concrete, and the use of isolation devices.



The MCEER project deliverables are described in the figure below.

Figure 1: MCEER Project Deliverables

There are many issues that must be considered in developing a set of design recommendations. Therefore, it was decided that this project will only address standard precast girder type bridges with short-to-medium spans (less than 500 feet). Efforts will be devoted to the seismic behavior of segmental column connections and their design details. Furthermore, the integrity of the system and behavior of the segmental bridges will be studied using the shaking tables at UB. These studies will be summarized with additional relevant research results carried out by others, in a technical monograph. Design recommendations for the type of segmental bridges chosen for study will be developed as the final deliverables for FHWA.

### **1.3 References**

Culmo, M. P. Connection Details for Prefabricated Bridge Elements and Systems (FHWA-IF-09-010). FHWA 2009. PCI. PCI Connections Manual for Precast and Prestressed Concrete Construction (1<sup>st</sup> Ed.). Precast/Prestressed Concrete Institute. 2008.

### Section 2

### **Short Papers by Workshop Participants**

State-of-Practice and Research of Precast Segmental Concrete Bridge Columns in Japan Jun-ichi Hoshikuma

Cyclic Behavior of Precast Segmental Concrete Bridge Columns with High Performance or Conventional Steel Reinforcing Bars as Energy Dissipation Bars *Yu-Chen Ou, Mu-Sen Tsai, Kuo-Chun Chang and George C. Lee* 

- A Study on Restorable Precast and Prestressed Hybrid Piers Yoshihiko Taira, Junichi Sakai and Jun-ichi Hoshikuma
- Development of Seismic Design Method for Precast Segmental Concrete Bridge Column Junichi Sakai, Shigeki Unjoh and Jun-ichi Hoshikuma
- Analytical and Experimental Investigation of Precast Segmental Bridge Systems P. Sideris, M. Anagnostopoulou, A. Aref and A. Filiatrault
- Research and Application of Precast Segmental Concrete Bridge Columns in Taiwan Kuo-Chun Chang, Yu-Chen Ou, Mu-Sen Tsai and George C. Lee
- A Precast Concrete Bridge Bent for Seismic Regions Olafur S. Haraldsson, Jason B.K. Pang, John F. Stanton and Marc O. Eberhard
- Precast Bridge Members in Areas of High or Moderate Seismicity Jugesh Kapur and Bijan Khaleghi
- Seismic Performance of Precast Bridge Columns with Built-in Elastomeric Pad S. Motaref, M. Saiidi, and D. Sanders

IT Roles in Seismic ABC Stuart Chen, H. Hu, Il-Sang Ahn and G. Gao

### State-of-Practice and Research of Precast Segmental Concrete Bridge Columns in Japan

### Jun-ichi Hoshikuma

#### INTRODUCTION

With a background of the generalization of the performance-based design concept into practices, the applications of new materials, new designs, and new structures have initiated to be actively employed with necessary performance verifications. The precast segmental bridge columns are one of such new applications, and effectively use the combination of high strength materials including steels and concrete. The precast segments are fabricated at factory, so that the precast segmental bridge columns are expected to have better-quality. Therefore, the precast segmental bridge columns are expected to improve the constructionability at sites and shorten the construction period. This paper briefly introduces the state-of-practice of the segmental concrete bridge columns in Japan. Furthermore, recent research activities for the precast segmental concrete bridge columns are summarized.

#### STRUCTURAL CONCEPT OF PRECAST SEGMENTAL BRIDGE COLUMNS

**Figure 1** shows the outline of the precast segmental bridge columns which have been designed and constructed in the past in Japan. The precast segments are produced at factory and transported to the construction site. These segments are piled up at the site and connected each other through the steel bars, to be a column. It would be an important advantage to shorten the construction period at the site because of no need of formwork, placement and curing of concrete. Therefore, the precast segmental bridge system would be expected to be applied for overpass crossings in the urban areas in order to decrease the traffic jamming and then to minimize the effect on existing traffic.

Structural details of the conventional precast segmental bridge columns are shown in **Figure 2**. There are two types of the precast segmental columns. The precast PC columns are built with the segments connected through the high strength steel bars columns, as illustrated on the left side section in **Figure 2**. Each segment is post-tensioned by all high strength steel bars, to integrate with column structure. After post-tensioning, the following segment is piled up on the lower segment and the high strength steel bars are installed into the section through the ducts. These bars are coupled with the lower high strength steel bars and the grout is injected to the duct to be bonded. Details of the segment connection are shown in **Figure 3**. These processes are repeated up to the column height.

On the other hand, the precast RC columns are built with the segments connected basically through the nominal strength steel bar, as illustrated on the right side section in **Figure 2**. A few high-strength steel bars are installed and minimum post-tension required for setup of the segment is applied to these bars. The steel bars are coupled and grouted with the same procedure as the precast PC column.

Jun-ichi Hoshikuma, Chief Researcher, Center of Advanced Engineering Structural Assessment and Research, Public Works Research Institute, 1-6 Minamihara, Tsukuba, IBARAKI, 305-8516, Japan, phone: +81-29-879-6793; email: hosikuma@pwri.go.jp



Figure 1 Illustration of Precast Segmental Concrete Columns



Figure 2 Concepts of Connection Details in Conventional Precast Segmental Concrete Columns



Figure 3 Connection Details of Steel Bars in Segment



Photo 1 Connection of Precast Segmental PC Piles with Cast-in-place Footing



Photo 2 Precast RC Oval Column Constructed Very Close to Existing Column

Construction samples of the precast segmental concrete columns or piles are shown in **Photos 1** and **2**. **Photo 1** shows connection of the precast segmental PC piles with the cast-in-place footing. **Photos 2** shows the precast RC oval column constructed very close to existing bridge column.

# RECENT RESEARCH ACTIVITIES FOR PRECAST SEGMENTAL BRIDGE COLUMNS IN PWRI

PWRI has conducted the joint research program on the new precast segmental concrete columns with 3 private companies including Kajima Co., Sumitomo Mitsui Construction Co., Ltd., and P.S. Mitsubishi Construction Co., Ltd. Three types of the precast segmental concrete column details were proposed. Research issues were to obtain the data on the failure mechanism, the strength and ductility performance, and the dynamic behavior of proposed precast segmental bridge columns, and to develop the design method including the limit states to achieve necessary seismic performance, detailed design methods for segments, joints, PC cables, bending–shear resistance evaluation, and construction methods. In the joint research program, a series of cyclic loading tests, shaking table tests, and analytical studies were made to develop the seismic design guidelines for the proposed precast segmental concrete columns.

Structural concepts of the proposed precast segmental concrete columns are shown in **Figures 4** to **6**. The structural details and properties are described in the followings.

#### Precast Segmental PC Columns 1 (Proposed by Kajima Co., Ltd.)

**Figure 4** shows the outline of the precast PC column proposed by Kajima Co. The segments are piled up at the site, and each segment has the outer and inner steel pipes. Outer steel piles are embedded in the segment when it is produced at factory, and inner steel pipe are installed at the site

between the segments. The inner steel pipe is to resist against the shear force acted the joints of segments as a shear key. After the piling up of all segments for columns, the vertical tensioning force is applied for segments by PC cables through the inner pipes, in which the PC bars work as longitudinal steel.



Figure 4 Precast Segmental Columns Proposed by Kajima Co., Ltd.



Figure 5 Precast Segmental Columns Proposed by Sumitomo Mitsui Co., Ltd

### Precast Segmental PC Columns 2 (Proposed by Sumitomo-Mitsui Co.)

Sumitomo Mitsui Construction Co., Ltd proposed the precast segmental PC columns as shown in **Figure 5**. The segments are piled up at the site. Each segment is made of combination of inside steel shell and outside concrete. Inside steel shells of the segments are connected by steel bolts. After the piling up of all segments for column, vertical tensioning is applied for segments by external PC bars/cables. At the joints between segments, shear keys are provided at the edge of steel shell and concrete mortar is placed between the segments outside concrete. Therefore, vertical axial force by dead load and live load is carried by inside steel shell but the earthquake force is carried by steel shells, bolts, and outside concrete. Shear force acted at the joints is carried by the shear keys of steel shell.

Steel shells and bolts, and PC cables works as longitudinal steel. The bolts are designed to be firstly yielded when the deformation is exceeding the elastic limit and then the steel shells are not expected to be damaged. It is an important concept for this column that the yielded bolts can be replaceable after the earthquake and then the columns can be easily recovered to the original performance.



Figure 6 Precast Segmental Columns Proposed by P.S. Mitsubishi Co., Ltd

### Precast Segmental RC Columns (Proposed by P.S. Mitsubishi Construction Co., Ltd.)

**Figure 6** illustrates the precast RC column proposed by P.S. Mitsubishi Construction Co., Ltd. The concrete segments are piled up at the site with a few temporally PC bars. Those bars are provided not for tensioning as longitudinal steel but for just construction to assure the quality of the joint connection between segments by resin. After piling up of all segments, mild longitudinal steel bars are inserted into the ducts, which are pre-grouted with the mortar from the top to the bottom of the column. The columns are made of segments but the design concept is the same as nominal reinforced concrete column. Since the longitudinal steel bars are placed inside the sheathe of segments, so the confinement effect to prevent the buckling of longitudinal bars is much higher than the nominal reinforced concrete columns which is confined by the cover concrete and lateral steel bars.

#### Seismic Testing for Proposed Precast Segmental Concrete Columns

In order to obtain the data on the failure mechanism, the strength and ductility performance, and the dynamic behavior of proposed precast segmental concrete columns, as well as in order to develop the design method, a series of dynamic loading tests and shaking table tests were performed. Test results are reported in the company papers (written by Dr. Sakai and Mr. Taira)

### CONCLUSIONS

This paper introduces the state-of-practice of the conventional segmental concrete bridge columns in Japan. Also, recent research works for the development of the new precast segmental concrete columns were introduced in this paper. Design Guidelines for the seismic effect of the precast segmental concrete columns is scheduled to be published in 2010. The seismic performance

and the seismic limit states of the precast segmental columns will be described in the guidelines. Furthermore, connection design details of those columns will be specified.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENT

Some illustrations and photos of the structural details of the precast segmental concrete bridge columns in this paper were provided by PC-WELL Method Association, Kajima Co., Sumitomo Mitsui Construction Co., Ltd., and P.S. Mitsubishi Construction Co., Ltd. Author would like to appreciate their contribution for the paper.

### Cyclic Behavior of Precast Segmental Concrete Bridge Columns with High Performance or Conventional Steel Reinforcing Bars as Energy Dissipation Bars

Yu-Chen Ou<sup>1</sup>, Mu-Sen Tsai<sup>2</sup>, Kuo-Chun Chang<sup>3</sup>, and George C. Lee<sup>4</sup>

### ABSTRACT

The cyclic behavior of precast segmental concrete bridge columns with high performance (HP) steel reinforcing bars and that with conventional steel reinforcing bars as energy dissipation (ED) bars were investigated. The HP steel reinforcing bars are characterized by higher strength, greater ductility and superior corrosion resistance compared to the conventional steel reinforcing bars. Three large-scale columns were tested. One was designed with the HP ED bars and two with the conventional ED bars. The HP ED bars were fully bonded to the concrete. The conventional ED bars were fully bonded to the concrete for one column while unbonded for a length to delay fracture of the bars and to increase energy dissipation for the other column. Test results showed that the column with the HP ED bars had greater drift capacity, higher lateral strength and larger energy dissipation than that with fully-bonded conventional ED bars. The column with unbonded conventional ED bars. All the three columns showed good self-centering capability with residual drifts not greater than 0.4% drift.

### **INTRODUCTION**

In a typical design of a precast segmental concrete bridge column, prestressing tendons throughout the column are stressed to apply compression forces across precast connections, which with the compression forces from gravity loads provide required flexural and shear strengths at the connections. Mild steel reinforcement is normally not continuous across the connections and thus contributes little to the strengths. Under lateral loads, the column shows a behavior same as a monolithic column prior to opening of the connections. Once the connections open, the column exhibits a nonlinear behavior with little energy dissipation but a small residual drift upon unloading (Wang et al 2008). To increase energy dissipation, Wang et al. (2008) and Ou et al. (2009) propose to add mild steel reinforcing bars across the connections. The bars are referred to as energy dissipation (ED) bars to emphasize their function and to distinguish them from other mild steel bars that are not continuous across the connections. It has been shown that the use of the ED bars can significantly increase energy dissipation. However, when the columns are subjected to a large lateral displacement,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Assistant Professor, Department of Construction Engineering, National Taiwan University of Science and Technology, Taipei, Taiwan. E-mail:yuchenou@mail.ntust.edu.tw.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Ph.D. Student, Department of Civil Engineering, National Taiwan University, Taipei, Taiwan. E-mail: f94521249@ntu.edu.tw.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Professor and Chairman, Department of Civil Engineering, National Taiwan University, Taipei, Taiwan. E-mail: ciekuo@ntu.edu.tw.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Professor and Special Task Director (MCEER), Department of Civil, Structural and Environmental Engineering, University at Buffalo, Buffalo, U.S.A. E-mail: gclee@buffalo.edu.

significant connection opening will occur and likely cause premature fracture of the ED bars. Unbonding the bars for a length can decrease the strains and delay fracture. Alternatively, fracture can be delayed by using more ductile steel capable of absorbing greater energy before fracture. In this research, high performance (HP) steel reinforcing bars commercially known as Enduramet 32, designated as S24100 in ASTM A955, are investigated for use as ED bars. They have superior ductility capacity than conventional carbon steel reinforcing bars. Additionally, it has excellent corrosion resistance. This can address potential corrosion problems resulting from opening of precast connections.

The energy dissipation and residual drift of a segmental column with ED bars increase as the strength contribution of the ED bars to the lateral strength of the column increases (Ou et al. 2009). In Japan, it has been found difficult to re-center the superstructure of bridge columns with a residual drift exceeding 1/60 or with a residual displacement more than 15 cm, whichever is smaller (Zatar and Mutsuyoshi 2002). As a result, the 1996 Japanese seismic design specifications of highway bridges requires that the residual drift developed at a bridge column after an earthquake not be greater than 1% (Kawashima 2000). Test results show that the segmental column can maintain a residual drift not greater than 1% provided the strength contribution of the ED bars is below approximately 35% of the lateral strength of the column (Ou et al. 2009).

Three large-scale precast segmental concrete columns were tested in this research under lateral cyclic loading to demonstrate the cyclic performance of segmental columns with HP reinforcing bars as ED bars in comparison to conventional reinforcing bars.

### SPECIMEN DESIGN AND TEST SETUP

The design and test setup of the segmental columns tested are shown in Figs. 1(a) and 1(b), respectively. Table 1 lists major design parameters. Each column consisted of four precast segments with a hollow cross section and one precast cap beam. Prestressing tendons were anchored at the underside of the foundation at one end and anchored on the top of the cap beam at the other end. The tendons were unbonded to the concrete and passed through ducts in the foundation, through hollow core of the segments and through ducts in the cap beam. Note that "unbonded" does not mean the tendons are "ungrouted" against corrosion. The tendons can be placed in smooth polyethylene pipes that are not bonded to concrete and fully grouted for corrosion protection. The tendons can also be epoxy coated for enhanced corrosion resistance. The total prestressing force was 1042 kN, which was carried by four tendons, each consisting of two D15 seven-wire strands. The prestressing force was determined to ensure no opening of the precast connections under a lateral force corresponding to an assumed moderate earthquake. The prestress corresponded to 55% tendon yield stress. This is lower than typically used for prestressed concrete. Lower initial prestress and unbonding the tendons were intended to minimize yielding of the tendons and hence preserve an axial force necessary for self-centering capability. The specified gravity load was 1456 kN or  $0.1 f_{co}^{'} A_g$ , typical for a bridge column, where  $f_{co}^{'}$  is the specified concrete strength, 28 MPa, and  $A_{g}$  is the gross cross-sectional area of the column. The gravity load was applied to the cap beam by two hydraulic actuators and remained constant throughout the testing. The displacement-controlled lateral cyclic loading was applied by a hydraulic actuator at one end anchored to the reaction wall and at the other end to the cap beam. The drift levels included 0.25%, 0.375%, 0.5%, 0.75%, 1.0%, 1.5%, 2.0%, 3.0%, 4.0%, 5%, and 6% with each drift level repeated twice.



Figure 1. Specimen design and test setup

Column	Gravity load (kN)	Prestressing force (kN)	ED bar ratio (%)	L <sub>au</sub> (mm)
C5C-FB	1456	1042	0.5	0
C5C-E32	1456	1042	0.5	0
C5C-UB	1456	1042	0.5	400

Table 1. Design parameters

Conventional reinforcing bars used in this research were low-alloy steel deformed bars conforming to ASTM A706, typical for seismic design. Fig. 2 shows the monotonic tension responses of a conventional reinforcing bar and a HP reinforcing bar. The uniform elongation before necking of the HP reinforcing bar was 48%, more than three times that of the conventional reinforcing bar, 13%. In addition, the HP reinforcing bar had higher yield and ultimate strengths than the conventional reinforcing bar as listed. The ED bar contribution to the column lateral strength, denoted as  $\lambda_{ED}$  and defined by Eq. (1), was calculated to be lower than 35% for the three columns. The 35% limitation was to ensure that the residual drift would not exceed 1% before failure of the column as previously mentioned.



Figure 2. Monotonic tension behavior of conventional and HP ED bars

$$\lambda_{ED} = \frac{V - V_0}{V} \tag{1}$$

where V =lateral strength of a column with ED bars; and  $V_0$  =lateral strength of that column without considering the ED bars.

The ED bars were inserted through corrugated steel ducts during assembling of the columns. The ducts were grouted using a cement-based grout with an actual compression strength of 49 MPa. The ED bars were terminated in segment S3. This was because the peak moment demand at the connection between segments S3 and S4, denoted as connection S3-S4, was found to be lower than the moment that would result in a compression depth lower than half the sectional diameter. The embedded lengths of the bars into segment S3 were determined by multiplying the development length calculated from AASHTO Section 5.11.2.1 (AASHTO 2007) by a ratio of the predicted bar stress at that connection to the ultimate stress of the bar. For the HP ED bars, the computed development length was further multiplied by 1.1 to take into account the higher ratio of the ultimate to yield strengths of the bars. Columns C5C-FB and C5C-UB used conventional reinforcing bars while column C5C-E32 used HP reinforcing bars as ED bars. The ED bars of columns C5C-FB and C5C-E32 were fully-bonded, i.e., bonded to the concrete along their entire length while those of column C5C-UB were unbonded starting from connection foundation-S1 into the foundation for a length of 400 mm. The length is denoted as additionally unbonded length or  $L_{au}$ . The unbonding was done by wrapping the bars with duct tape. The 400-mm unbonded length was to ensure no fracture of the ED bars up to 5% drift. The method to determine  $L_{au}$  is discussed in detail in Ou et al (2009).

### **EXPERIMENTAL RESULTS**

The lateral force-displacement relationships are shown in Figs. 3(a), 3(b), and 3(c) for columns C5C-FB, C5C-E32, and C5C-UB, respectively. All the three columns failed due to fracture of the ED bars, which occurred at 3%, 6%, and 6% drifts, respectively. Test results in terms of peak values are summarized in Table 3. The ultimate drifts of the three columns were defined as the drift level at which two cycles of loading were completed without fracture of the ED bars. Thus, the drift capacities were set as 2%, 5%, and 5%, respectively. All the three columns showed good self-centering capability with residual drifts not greater than 0.4%. The values of  $\lambda_{ED}$  of the three columns calculated from measured lateral strengths ranged from 23% to 28% (Table 3).



Figure 3. Base-shear versus drift relationships: (a) C5C-FB, (b) C5C-E32, and (c) C5C-UB.

Column	Lateral strength (kN)	Ultimate drift (%)	λ <sub>ED</sub> (%)	Max $\zeta_{_{eq}}(\%)$	Max residual (%)
C5C-FB	370	2.0	25	10	0.1
C5C-E32	386	5.0	28	15	0.4
C5C-UB	363	5.0	23	16	0.4

Table 3. Test results

For column C5C-FB, six of the critical ED bars, which were located at the east and west walls at connection foundation-S1 of the column fractured at 3% drift. For column C5C-E32, the HP ED bars were able to sustain cyclic loading up to 5% drift of the column without any fracture. Compared to column C5C-FB, the drift capacity of column C5C-E32 was greatly increased from 2% to 5% and hence the maximum energy dissipation in terms of equivalent viscous damping ratio  $\zeta_{eq}$  was improved from 10% to 15% (Table 3). Additionally, column C5C-E32 showed a higher lateral strength. These demonstrated the capability of the HP ED bar to increase the drift capacity, energy dissipation and lateral strength of a segmental column. Instead of using the HP ED bars, fracture of the conventional ED bars can be delayed by unbonding the bars for a length. Unbonding slightly decreased energy dissipation for a given drift but increased maximum energy dissipation by delaying fracture of the bars. The column with unbonding achieved similar performance to that with the HP ED bars in terms of drift capacity and energy dissipation (Table 3). However, unbonding requires additional labor work. In addition, unlike the prestressing tendons, which are fully unbonded and hence can be replaced if corrosion occurs, it is difficult to replace the ED bars. Better corrosion resistance is expected for the column with the HP ED bars than with unbonded conventional ED bars,

because not only the HP ED bars have superior corrosion resistance but they are also fully grouted, which further enhances corrosion protection.

### CONCLUSIONS

The cyclic behaviors were investigated for three precast segmental concrete bridge columns designed with fully-bonded conventional ED bars, with fully-bonded HP ED bars, and with conventional ED bars that were unbonded for a length. Important conclusions are summarized as follows.

- (1)The column with the HP ED bars showed higher drift capacity, greater energy dissipation, and higher lateral strength than that with fully-bonded conventional ED bars. Uubonding the conventional ED bars for a length of 400 mm effectively delayed fracture of the bars while slightly decreased the lateral strength. The column with such unbonded bars achieved the same drift capacity and similar energy dissipation capability as that with the HP ED bars. However, unbonding requires considerable labor work and weakens corrosion protection of the bars.
- (3)All the three columns showed good self-centering capability with residual drifts not greater than 0.4%. The measured strength contributions of the ED bars to the lateral strengths of the three columns ranged from 23% to 28%.

### REFERENCES

- Wang J-C, Ou Y-C, Chang KC, Lee GC. Large-scale seismic tests of tall concrete bridge columns with precast segmental construction. *Earthquake Engineering and Structural Dynamics* 2008; **37**(12):1449-1465.
- Ou Y.-C., Wang, P.-H., Tsai, M.-S., Chang, K.-C., and Lee, G. C. (2009). "Large-scale experimental study of precast segmental unbonded post-tensioned concrete bridge columns for seismic regions," *Journal of Structural Engineering, ASCE*, 10.1061/(ASCE)ST.1943-541X.0000110.
- Zatar WA, Mutsuyoshi H. Residual displacements of concrete bridge piers subjected to near field earthquakes. ACI Structural Journal 2002; **99**(6):740-749.
- Kawashima K. Seismic performance of RC bridge piers in Japan: an evaluation after the 1995 Hyogo-ken nanbu earthquake. *Progress in Structural Engineering and Materials* 2000; **2**(1):82-91.
- AASHTO. AASHTO LRFD Bridge Design Specifications, 4th ED. American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials, Washington, DC, U.S.A., 2007.

### A Study on Restorable Precast and Prestressed Hybrid Piers

Yoshihiko Taira<sup>1</sup> Junichi Sakai<sup>2</sup> Junichi Hosikuma<sup>2</sup>

#### ABSTRACT

For the urban viaduct projects, rapid constructions are generally required in order to minimize the temporary traffic control and it is an effective solution to apply the precast and prestressed column structures for the substructures. Precast and prestressed hybrid (P&PH) pier is a new structural type that consists of precast segments and external tendons inside the hollowed pier. The prestressed piers can also reduce the residual displacement after the earthquakes in the seismic regions.

Important structures such as bridges are required to be restorable and reusable quickly as possible even after the large earthquake. Therefore, another advantage of the P&PH pier is the restorable structure. External prestressing cables can minimize the residual displacement of the pier and the hybrid segments of steel and concrete are linked with vertical replaceable steel reinforcement inside the hollow section. As results, the behavior of the pier can be restored quickly after the earthquakes and it is possible to reuse the pier immediately by replacing damaged joint bars.

This paper describes the structural characteristics and some test results of P&PH pier.

1 Yoshihiko Taira, Senior Structural Engineer, Sumitomo Mitsui Construction Co., Ltd., 1-38-1, Chuo, Nakano-ku, Tokyo 164-0011, Japan, phone: +81-3-5337-2134, fax: +81-3-3367-4763, e-mail: ytaira@smcon.co.jp

<sup>2</sup> Junichi Sakai and Junichi Hosikuma, Public Works Research Institute, Japan

### **INTRODUCTION**

Column members such as bridge piers that resist seismic forces are generally designed as ductile reinforced concrete members with enhanced energy absorption capacities. The fracture mode of members of this type is spalling of the cover concrete due to seismic forces, following which the vertical reinforcements buckle and strength is lost. If a member that has been damaged is to be reused, it needs to undergo a restoration process that typically includes strengthening or repair, such as retrofitting by wrapping in steel plates or adding concrete to increase the thickness. In addition, if there is a large amount of residual displacement, the need to restore the member to its original position in order to reuse it can be particularly problematic.

There have recently been suggestions of using a prestressed concrete column or pier to keep residual displacement to a minimum at the expense of energy absorption capacity.<sup>[1][2]</sup> This sort of approach is predicated on reuse of the member after an earthquake, and enables a design which will require as little strengthening or repair as possible. Nevertheless, since the prestressing steel still yields in such members, there may be a need to add additional steel or reinforcement the member in some other way to take account of low-cycle fatigue.

Given this background, there has not been sufficient debate concerning the incorporation of seismic performance in LCC (life cycle cost) calculations for bridges. For asset management purposes, engineers assess the risk of damage to a building using the concept of Probable Maximum Loss (PML), calculated as the maximum probable loss (repair cost)/cost of reconstruction x 100 (%). Since adoption of Japan's new anti-seismic design code in 1981, the PML for buildings has generally been considered to be in the range 10-20%.<sup>[3]</sup> Consequently, a similar approach has been taken to LCC assessment for bridges, in the belief that cost can be minimized. The corollary of this is that seismic design should not only be determined by initial cost, but should employ an approach to design that aims to minimize the cost of restoration after an earthquake while ensuring that the structure retains at least minimal functionality as a transportation route.

This paper presents a structure for minimizing residual displacement after an earthquake while also keeping restoration costs to a minimum when the structure is reused.

#### **CONCEPT OF A NEW STRUCTURE**

Figure 1 shows a proposal for a precast prestressed hybrid pier (P&PH pier) structure that can be reused, but which also reduces residual displacement after an earthquake. The proposed structure has the following characteristics.

- Composite structure comprising steel plates on the inside, and concrete on the outside

- Prestressing force is introduced only to the steep plates using external cables

- Segments are precast, and fitted together with un-welded metal-to-metal joints between the steel plates

- Concrete parts are jointed with non-shrink mortar, forming composite members with respect to compressive forces

- Joints between steel plates incorporate joint bars
- After an earthquake, pier performance can be restored by replacing damaged joint bars
- Shear forces are resisted by shear keys in the steel plates

In general, since precast prestressed concrete piers have prestressing applied in the concrete section, a large amount of prestressing is required. In contrast, the P&PH pier only has prestressing applied to the steel plates, so the amount of prestressing required is only small. Also, since compressive forces are resisted as a composite structure with the concrete, the structure ensures that the steel plates are not subjected to excessive load. Furthermore, short steel joint bars are employed to act as yield members for the joints between segments, with the aim of absorbing a certain amount of energy through yielding of the joint bars without the steel plates yielding. As a result of this configuration, the proposed P&PH pier is a rational structure that maximizes the advantages of each of the individual materials and does not result in concrete spalling or yielding length, the steel joint bars do not buckle. In addition, the structure also has the particular characteristic of being able to replace the members that are subject to damage, which enables the pier to be reused with only a small cost.

The aim of this research was to ascertain the seismic performance of the P&PH pier, so experiments were performed on a scale model to examine behavior under cyclic loading and to examine behavior after replacing damaged members.



Figure 1 Detail of P&PH pier

#### **TEST OUTLINE**

#### (1) Specimens

Envisaging an urban viaduct, the specimens were 1/4-scale models of a P&PH pier (full size: width 3.3 m x 3.3 m, pier height: 14.0 m, superstructure weight 8076 kN, external cables: 12S15.2 x 8). The model used as the specimen is shown in Figure 2.



The pier itself consists of 6 segments (width:  $0.825 \text{ m} \times 0.825 \text{ m}$ , height: 0.500 m, concrete thickness: 75 mm), with a total height of 3.250 m from the top of the footing to the loading point. Concrete strength is 60 N/mm<sup>2</sup> for the segments and 40 N/mm<sup>2</sup> for the footings. The steel plates have a thickness of 9 mm (SM490) and between the segments they incorporate shear keys (width: 20

a thickness of 9 mm (SM490), and between the segments they incorporate shear keys (width: 20 mm-36 mm, height: 8 mm). The steel plates have metal-to-metal joints, and the bottom segment. 1, which forms the base of the pier, is joined by means of Perfobond shear connectors (PBL) embedded

in the footing. Eight external cables are distributed around the perimeter of the central void, and the joint bars are M16 bolts (SS400), distributed around the whole of the perimeter. The cross-sectional area of the joint bars is calculated so as to be below the allowable stress for a level 1 earthquake, in contrast to the steel plates, which have thickness calculated so that the plates do not yield when subjected to a level 2 earthquake. In the specimen, the cross-sectional area of steel for one flange was 6075 mm<sup>2</sup> for the steel plate and 1256 mm<sup>2</sup> for the joint bars.

The initial axial compressive stress for the model of the pier was a total of 4.4 N/mm<sup>2</sup>, including initial prestressing, the weight of the superstructure, and the weight of the pier.

### (2) Loading steps

Since the structure is designed so that the joint section an ultimate state before the base of the pier, cyclic loading test is based on a displacement  $\delta y$ , at which the Joint 1 joint bars on the tension side yield. It was determined that the test would be performed by applying three cycles of cyclic loading that produce displacements that are an integral multiple of  $\delta y$ .

Figure 3 shows the loading steps used in the test, and Figure 4 shows the test rig at the time of the test.

In order to verify recoverability after earthquake damage, a first cyclic loading test series was performed first of all to produce earthquake damage in the specimen. Then, only the joint bars were replaced before performing a second cyclic loading test series. Reproduction of the earthquake damage focused on the joint bars in Joint 1, and the strain producing the damage was assumed to occur in the situation where maximum tensile strain was attained in dynamic analysis. The dynamic analysis, performed in advance, utilized E-W waves recorded on Kobe Port Island in the Hyogo-Nanbu Earthquake for ground type III.

### TEST RESULTS

In the 1st loading series, the Joint 1 joint bars attained the standard strain for earthquake damage (the level set for this test) at a displacement of  $2.4\delta y$ . At that point, the first loading series was terminated and the joint bars were replaced before performing the second series up to a displacement of  $8\delta y$ . Figure 5 shows the load-displacement curves for both the first and the second series.

In the 2nd loading series, first of all a horizontal crack occurred in the base of the pier at 1δy and then at 2δy Joint 1 began to open. Maximum load was reached at 4δy, then when loading to 5δy one of the joint bars in Joint 1 began to fracture, resulting in a substantial decline in load. At that point, however, the segment showed no significant spalling of the covering concrete. At 7δy, all 16 joint bars in the plane subjected to loading in Joint 1 fractured, after which the decline in load became much smaller. Loading was continued but no significant opening was observed at any of the joints other than Joint 1. Furthermore, no significant damage was observed at the base of the pier, demonstrating that with this structure, damage is concentrated at Joint 1. The amounts by which Joint 1 and Joint 2 opened are shown in Figure 6.

Examining the load-displacement curve reveals a strong tendency to return to the original position when the load is removed, demonstrating that this structure can control residual displacement in a similar manner to other prestressed concrete structures. Furthermore, although the

specimen was configured so that the joint bars are not subject to compression when the load is removed, it would also be possible to modify this configuration to produce a structure likely to absorb energy due to the hysteresis loop of the joint bars.

Regarding recoverability, the fact that no significant differences between the load-displacement curves for the 1st loading series and the 2nd loading series can be observed demonstrates that when the structure is subject to earthquake forces that damage the joint bars, the load resistance performance of the pier can be restored by replacing the damaged joint bars.



Figure 5 Load-displacement curves

Figure 6 Joint opening

### CONCLUSIONS

In summary, the research drew the following conclusions about the proposed P&PH pier.

- (1) The P&PH pier can control residual displacement after earthquakes in a similar manner to other prestressed concrete structures. Also, although cracking occurred in the base of the pier damage was successfully restricted to the segment joints.
- (2) Even after being damaged by an earthquake, it was possible to restore load-bearing performance by replacing joint bars.

Future research includes examination of ways to enhance performance, including increasing the energy absorption capacity by making the joint bars subject to compression.

#### REFERENCES

- Japan Prestressed Concrete Engineering Association: Seismic Design Guidelines for Prestressed Concrete Piers, November 1998
- [2] Minehiro Nishiyama: Unbonded Prestressed Concrete Joint Construction in New Zealand and the U.S.A., Journal of Prestressed Concrete, Japan Vol.45, No.4, pp.28-33, 2003
- [3] Japan Structural Consultants Association: Earthquake Risk and Probable Maximum Loss (PML), http://www.jsca.or.jp/vol2/15tec\_terms/200409/20040929.html,2004.10

### Development of Seismic Design Method for Precast Segmental Concrete Bridge Column

Junichi Sakai, Shigeki Unjoh and Jun-ichi Hoshikuma

#### ABSTRACT

This paper presents research on the development of seismic design method for precast segmental concrete bridge columns. The precast segmental concrete bridge column would be a suitable structure for accelerated bridge construction because the construction period at the site can be shorten due to no need of formwork, placement and curing of concrete. Thus, they are expected to be applied for the construction of overpass crossings in urban areas to minimize the effect on existing traffic. Additionally, high quality of the concrete members would be ensured because the concrete segments are fabricated at factories.

Public Works Research Institute had conducted 2-years joint research program with three private companies including Kajima Co., Sumitomo Mitsui Construction Co., Ltd., and P.S. Mitsubishi Construction Co., Ltd. in 2007-2008. In the research program, three types of structural details of precast segmental concrete bridge columns were proposed and the failure mechanism of the proposed columns was investigated through a series of shake table test. Based on the experimental studies, seismic design methods including limit states to achieve the required seismic performance, detailed design methods for segments, joints, prestressing steel, and bending–shear resistance were determined.

Junichi Sakai, Senior Researcher, Bridge and Structural Technology Research Group, Center for Advanced Engineering Structural Assessment and Research, Public Works Research Institute, 1-6 Minamihara, Tsukuba, Ibaraki, 305-8516, JAPAN, phone: +81-29-879-6773; E-mail: sakai55@pwri.go.jp

Shigeki Unjoh, Research Coordinator for Earthquake Disaster Prevention, Research Center for Disaster Risk Management, National Institute of Land and Infrastructure Management, Japan

Jun-ichi Hoshikuma, Cheif Researcher, Bridge and Structural Technology Research Group, Center for Advanced Engineering Structural Assessment and Research, Public Works Research Institute, Japan

#### **INTRODUCTION**

The precast segmental concrete bridge columns would be a suitable structure for accelerated bridge construction because the construction period at the site can be shorten due to no need of formwork, placement and curing of concrete to construct bridge substructures. Thus, they are expected to be applied for the construction of overpass crossings in urban areas to minimize the effect on existing traffic. Additionally, high quality of the concrete members would be ensured because the concrete segments are fabricated at factories. However, the seismic design method of such precast segmental concrete bridge columns has not yet been developed because the seismic performance of the structure has not yet been investigated comprehensively. To accelerate the implementation of such structures, it is needed to develop the seismic design method.

Public Works Research Institute had conducted 2-years joint research program with three private companies including Kajima Co., Sumitomo Mitsui Construction Co., Ltd., and P.S. Mitsubishi Construction Co., Ltd. in 2007-2008. In this research program, three types of structural details of precast segmental concrete bridge columns were proposed and the failure mechanism of the proposed columns was investigated through a series of shake table test. Based on the experimental studies, design methods including limit states to achieve the required seismic performance, detailed design methods for segments, joints, prestressing steel, and bending–shear resistance were determined.

This paper introduces the seismic design method proposed based on the results from the joint research program, and especially focuses on the limit states of the precast segmental concrete columns.

### STRUCTURAL DETAILS OF PRECAST SEGMENTAL BRIDGE COLUMNS

In the joint research program, the seismic performance of three types of precast segmental concrete bridge columns was investigated. Since structural details can be found in the company papers (written by Dr. Hosikuma and Mr. Taira), main features are briefly introduced in this paper.

**Figure 1** shows the precast segmental prestressed concrete bridge column proposed by Kajima Co. Only prestressing steel but no mild reinforcement is provided as longitudinal steel bars. Inner pipes are provided for shear resistance.

**Figure 2** shows the precast segmental hybrid bridge column proposed by Sumitomo Mitsui Construction Co., Ltd. The segment of this column is a hybrid structure made of steel shell and concrete. Connecting bolts are the main longitudinal steel bars, and these bolts are designed to be replaceable after a design earthquake to ensure the repairability. Shear keys of the steel shells are provided for shear resistance.

**Figure 3** shows the precast segmental reinforced concrete bridge column proposed by P.S. Mitsubishi Construction Co., Ltd. The column is longitudinally reinforced by mild reinforcement going through ducts of the precast segments. The seismic performance of this column is expected to be similar or even better than the conventional reinforced concrete bridge column because the longitudinal reinforcing bars that are provided in the mortal grouted ducts have better performance on anti-buckling.


Figure 1 Precast segmental prestressed concrete bridge column



Figure 3 Precast segmental reinforced concrete bridge column

Revised July 31, 2009

#### LIMIT STATES OF PRECAST SEGMENTAL BRIDGE COLUMNS

#### **General Concepts of Limit States**

To develop the seismic design method, it is essential to determine the limit state for each seismic performance level. In Specifications for Highway Bridges issued by Japan Road Association, three seismic performance levels are considered for intensities of design ground motions and importance of the bridges. The limit states are determined based on the seismic performance, which are described as the safety, serviceability and repairability. The schematic image of the limit state of the conventional reinforced concrete bridge column is shown in **Figure 4**.

For the seismic performance level 1, it is required to ensure the normal functions of bridges after an earthquake. As limit states, the mechanical properties of the bridges are maintained within the elastic ranges. For each structural member, the stress induced by an earthquake shall not exceed its allowable stress.

For the seismic performance level 2, it is required to ensure the serviceability after an earthquake, and the repairability is also ensured. As the limit state, the structural members in which the nonlinear behavior is allowed deform beyond elastic range but within a range of easy functional recovery.

For the seismic performance level 3, it is required to ensure the structural safety after an earthquake. Neither serviceability nor repairability is required. As the limit state, structural members in which the nonlinear behavior is allowed deform within the ultimate ductility capacity.



Figure 4 Limit states of conventional reinforced concrete column

#### Limit States of Precast Segmental Concrete Bridge Column

## General

The limit states of the precast segmental concrete bridge columns shown in **Figures 1**, **2** and **3** are determined considering the structural properties and nonlinear behavior of each structure.

For the seismic performance level 1, the limit states of the precast segmental structures are determined to be same to a conventional reinforced concrete column. For each structural member, the stress induced by an earthquake shall not exceed its allowable stress.

The limit states for the seismic performance levels 2 and 3 are determined based on the nonlinear behavior of each structure, which are introduced in details below.

Revised July 31, 2009

#### Limit States of Precast Prestressed Concrete Bridge Column

Because no mild longitudinal reinforcement is provided in the precast prestressed concrete bridge column, the yielding of the prestressing steel is the important limit state. Once the yielding of the prestressing steel occur, it is difficult to recover the required functions. Based on these conditions, the limit states are determined as shown in **Figure 5**.

For the seismic performance level 2, the yielding of the prestressing steel is determined as the limit state to ensure the serviceability and repairability. **Figure 6** shows the force-displacement hysteresis and the failure mode obtained from the shake table tests during the design level earthquake ground motion. The prestressing steel remained in the elastic range and minor spalling of cover concrete was observed.

Although the column model performed well beyond the yielding of the prestressing steel in the shake table test, the range beyond this point is not considered in the seismic design of the precast prestressed concrete bridge for safety consideration. Thus, the same limit state is used for the seismic performance levels 2 and 3. Further research is needed for consideration of the behavior after yielding of the prestressing steel.



Figure 5 Limit states of precast prestressed concrete column



Figure 6 Response hysteresis and failure mode after design level test for precast prestressed concrete column

Revised July 31, 2009

#### Limit States of Precast Hybrid Bridge Column

The schematic image of the limit states of the precast hybrid bridge column is shown in **Figure 7**. Because the key feature of this column is the repairability by replacement of the connecting bolts, the limit states of the seismic performance level 3 is determined to be same as those of the seismic performance level 2.

The replaceable limit of the connecting bolts is determined as the limit state for the seismic performance level 2. The allowable strain of the bolts is set to be 2% based on the low-cycle fatigue tests and the shake table tests. The other structural members should remain in the elastic range. **Figure 8** shows the force-displacement hysteresis and the failure mode obtained from the shake table tests during the design level earthquake ground motion. The results from first series (case 1) and post-repair series (case 2) are compared. After the design level tests in the post-repair series, the response displacement was still smaller than the design displacement while about 2% strain was induced in the connecting bolts and minor spalling of cover concrete was observed.



Figure 7 Limit states of precast hybrid column



Figure 8 Response hysteresis and failure mode after design level test in post-repair series for precast hybrid column

Revised July 31, 2009

#### Limit States of Precast Reinforced Concrete Bridge Column

It was confirmed that the nonlinear behavior of the precast reinforced concrete bridge column is similar or even better than the conventional reinforced concrete bridge column because the longitudinal reinforcing bars that are provided in the mortal grouted ducts have better performance on anti-buckling. The limit states of this column are determined to be the same as those of the conventional ones, which is shown in **Figure 4**.

Figure 9 shows the force-displacement hysteresis and the failure mode obtained from the shake table tests during the design level earthquake ground motion. Only flexural cracks were observed, and the stable hysteresis loop is obtained.



Figure 9 Response hysteresis and failure mode after design level test for precast reinforced concrete column

# CONCLUSIONS

To develop the seismic design method for precast segmental concrete bridge columns, a joint research program was conducted. Three types of structural details of precast segmental concrete bridge columns were proposed and the failure mechanism of the proposed columns was investigated through a series of shake table test. Based on the experimental studies, seismic design methods including limit states to achieve the required seismic performance, detailed design methods were determined, and the design limit states of each proposed structure are introduced in this paper.

# Analytical and Experimental Investigation of Precast Segmental Bridge Systems

P. Sideris<sup>1</sup>, M. Anagnostopoulou<sup>2</sup>, A. Aref<sup>3</sup> and A. Filiatrault<sup>3</sup>

# ABSTRACT

Precast segmental bridge construction is currently receiving increasing attention in North America and Europe mainly due to the advantages of accelerated construction and high quality control that offers over the traditional cast-in-place techniques. Despite these advantages, concerns have arisen amongst the engineering design community regarding the response of such systems under intense earthquake shaking, which may include joint opening and/or relative sliding between adjacent segments. In this study, a novel segmental concrete bridge system, which is going to be used for shake table and quasi-static testing, is presented as well as an approach to efficiently model segmental systems using 2-node elements widely available is most structural analysis software. The results of the analyses conducted for the proposed bridge system using this modeling approach indicate that segmental systems may exhibit high ductility and enhanced self-centering capabilities under severe ground excitation.

# **1. INTRODUCTION**

Precast segmental concrete bridge construction was first introduced in Europe in the 1950s, whereas the first application of this type of construction in the United States was the John F. Kennedy Memorial Causeway in Corpus Christi, Texas in 1972. Since then, the number of applications of precast segmental bridge systems has increased substantially both in the United States and around the world mainly due to the advantages that precast segmental construction offers over the traditional cast-in-place techniques. These advantages include: (i) higher construction quality, since the segments are constructed in a shop under well-controlled quality conditions, and (ii) rapid construction, since, as soon as the segments have been carried to the construction site, only assembly and preparation of the joint connections is required. Assembly is usually achieved by internal grouting or external tendons, while, at the joints, epoxy adhesive high-strength materials or male-female indentation connections are utilized.

Despite the apparent advantages of the precast segmental construction, concerns have arisen

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Graduate Research Assistant / Ph.D. Candidate, Dept. of Civil, Structural & Environmental Engineering, State University of New York at Buffalo, 212 Ketter Hall, Buffalo, NY, 14260, U.S.A.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Senior Structural Engineer, Structural Engineering and Earthquake Simulation Laboratory (SEESL), State University of New York at Buffalo, 212 Ketter Hall, Buffalo, NY, 14260, U.S.A.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Professor, Dept. of Civil, Structural & Environmental Engineering, State University of New York at Buffalo, 212 Ketter Hall, Buffalo, NY, 14260, U.S.A..

amongst the engineering design community regarding the performance of such structural systems in regions of moderate to high seismicity. These concerns, which have limited the applications of this construction technique only to low seismicity areas, primarily refer to: (i) the effects of significant joint opening and/or sliding between adjacent segments during strong earthquake shaking on the global stability of the structural system, and (ii) the reliability of existing analysis tools in predicting the dynamic response of segmental bridge systems under tri-axial earthquake excitation, which is necessary in the context of performance-based design.

This paper presents the partial results of a study investigating the seismic performance of precast segmental concrete bridges both experimentally and analytically/numerically. As far as the experimental part is concerned, a large-scale bridge specimen intended to be used for quasi-static and shake table testing is described, whereas, in the context of the analytical investigation, an approach to model efficiently segmental systems using 2-node elements is illustrated.

# 2. TEST SPECIMEN: PRECAST SEGMENTAL CONCRETE BRIDGE

# 2.1. General Description

The prototype bridge structure on which the design of the test specimen is based is a five span single cell box girder bridge considered by Megally et al. (2002). Each span of the prototype bridge is post-tensioned with a harped shaped tendon. The test specimen considered in this study is a large scale (~1:2.4) single-span (referring to the mid-span of the prototype system) single cell box girder segmental concrete bridge with both of its supports overhanging at equal lengths, as shown in Figure 1. Following the principles of the "Accelerated Bridge Construction" (ABC) technique, the deck of the bridge specimen consists of 8 hollow segments of trapezoidal crosssection which are post-tensioned together using 10 to 14 internal unbonded tendons, whereas each pier consists of 5 segments of hollow square cross-section that are post-tensioned together by 8 internal unbonded tendons. Further information on the preliminary design of the specimen superstructure may be found in Anagnostopoulou (2009). The geometric properties of the superstructure segments and the pier segments are shown in Figure 2 and Figure 3, respectively.

Although use of internal unbonded tendons has never been considered in any of the existing segmental bridges and has never been reported in the literature for segmental bridge superstructures, preliminary studies show that they may result in better system performance, since local tendon yielding and rupture, which could result in global system instability, is avoided because deformation is distributed over larger tendon lengths. Consequently, tendon yielding occurs at larger system deformations providing the bridge system with greater ductility capacity and enhanced self-centering capabilities. Similar findings have been reported for bridge segmental piers by Ou (2007). The segment-to-segment joints for both the deck and the piers are simple friction-type connections defined by direct contact of adjacent segments. Thus, shear resistance at the joints is provided only by the friction generated between concrete segment end surfaces in contact, and the "dowel effect" of the tendons. Similarly to the unbonded tendons, use of friction-type joints has never been reported in the literature for bridge superstructures and has never been used in any of the existing bridges; however, this connection type performed adequately in segmental bridge piers (Ou 2007).

Another novelty incorporated in this study is the use of gap restrainers in order to distribute the gap opening over the length of segmental members. Theoretical investigation has shown that as soon as gap opening occurs at a joint, and as long as the applied member force distribution does not change, no gap opening (or no significant gap) opening is highly likely to develop in the adjacent sections. The same studies suggest that the gap opening of a joint has to be restrained in order to allow gap opening at the adjacent joints. For this reason, gap restrainers are currently under design for the piers, which are the most critical components for the stability of the bridge system. Distribution of gap opening at segmental piers has already been attempted by energy dissipation bars (Ou 2007). However, although the energy dissipation provided by the member increased, insignificant gap opening distribution was achieved.

To facilitate support of the deck on the piers, a cap beam of trapezoidal solid shape presented in Figure 4 is placed on top of each pier. At the two ends of each cap beam, stoppers are installed to prevent lateral sliding of the deck, while sliding of the deck in the longitudinal direction is prevented by stoppers attached to the bottom of the deck segment located on top of the cap beam. Anchorage of each pier on one of the two adjacent relocatable shake tables of the Structural Engineering and Earthquake Simulation Laboratory (SEESL) of the University at Buffalo, where shake table and quasi-testing will be conducted, is achieved by a foundation concrete block mounted on each shake table, as shown in Figure 1. The foundation block, the cap beam and the 5 pier segments are all post-tensioned together by the same tendons, as illustrated in Figure 5. In the same figure, the stoppers against lateral sliding are presented, whereas the stoppers for the longitudinal sliding are shown in Figure 6, which presents a lateral elevation view of the bridge specimen.

The bridge specimen was designed as if it was a monolithic system according to AASHTO LRFD Bridge Design Specifications (2007), while its design was also assisted by the PCI Bridge Design Manual (2003). The performance objectives stated in these codes of practice were properly adjusted to abide by the concepts and principles of the ABC system. For example, the requirement for crack opening control under service loads was extended to include joint opening control under the same loading scenario. To determine the seismic loads, the prototype bridge on which the bridge specimen is based was assumed to be located at a site in the Western United States. The seismic loads, along with all other loads, were properly scaled in order to be consistent with the assumptions of the similitude analysis.



Figure 1. Precast segmental concrete bridge specimen on the two adjacent relocatable shake tables of Structural Engineering and Earthquake Simulation Laboratory (SEESL) at University at Buffalo (UB)



Figure 4. Cap beam: (a) Elevation view, (b) Plan view





Figure 6. Bridge specimen lateral elevation view

# **3. ANALYTICAL/NUMERICAL INVESTIGATION USING 2-NODE ELEMENTS**

# **3.1. Proposed Modeling Approach**

The response of precast segmental systems under static and/or dynamic loading is significantly different from the response of conventional monolithic systems, since they potentially experience joint opening and sliding at the segment-to-segment interface. Although finite element analysis may efficiently predict the response of such non-conventional systems (Ou 2007, Aref et al. 2008), it requires large computational resources, extensive time, and use of complicated analysis software, which discourage practicing engineers from using it. On the other hand, widely available commercial structural analysis software, which mainly incorporate two-node elements or two-node macro-elements to predict the response of conventional structural members (i.e. beams and columns), seem incapable of capturing the main characteristics of the response of segmental systems.

In the present study, an approach to consistently model the response of segmental systems using typical nonlinear two-node beam-column elements and special connection elements available in most structural analysis programs is presented, and utilized to model the bridge specimen described earlier. In the proposed approach, segments are modeled as beam-column elements except for a region at the ends of each segment which is discretized into several 2-node axial (or axially-dominated) "fiber" springs. The "fiber" springs, which are independent from each other, are connected to the ends of the corresponding beam-column element through rigid body constraints/links. In order to ensure consistent behavior of the segment super-element (beam-column element and fiber springs), the number (minimum) and appropriate distribution of the "fiber" springs over a cross-section,  $I_y$  and  $I_z$ , and the approximate values of the associated integrals based on the selected discretization deviate from each other by less than 1%. The approximation of these integrals is shown below:

$$I_{y} = \int_{A} y^{2} dA \approx \sum_{i=1}^{N} y_{i}^{2} A_{i} \quad and \qquad I_{z} = \int_{A} z^{2} dA \approx \sum_{i=1}^{N} z_{i}^{2} A_{i}$$
(1)

where  $A_i$  is the area of the *i*-th fiber spring, and  $(y_i, z_i)$  is its location on the cross-section. If nonuniform material is considered, this concept should be extended to the cross-section moduli EA,  $EI_y$  and  $EI_z$ . The approximation of the corresponding integrals is:

$$EI_{y} = \int_{A} Ey^{2} dA \approx \sum_{i=1}^{N} y_{i}^{2} E_{i} A_{i} \quad and \quad EI_{z} = \int_{A} Ez^{2} dA \approx \sum_{i=1}^{N} z_{i}^{2} E_{i} A_{i}$$
(2)

$$EA = \int_{A} E_{i} dA \approx \sum_{i=1}^{N} E_{i} A_{i}$$
(3)

where  $E_i$  is the modulus of elasticity of the *i*-th fiber spring.

The nonlinear properties of the "fiber" springs are selected so that the segment super-elements demonstrate consistent axial and bending behavior. Thus, assuming bilinear hysteretic response, the total axial yield force provided by the "fiber" springs should be the same as that provided by the beam-column element, while the yield axial strain should be the same for all "fiber" springs and the beam-column element.

$$F_{y}^{Beam-Column} = \sum_{i=1}^{N} F_{y,i} \quad and \quad \varepsilon_{y}^{Beam-Column} = \varepsilon_{y,i}, \text{ for } i = 1,...,N$$
(4)

Elastic and post-yield stiffnesses should also satisfy similar concepts.

Considering that moment – axial force interaction is directly taken into account at the end regions of a segment by the distributed "fiber" springs, it is necessary to consider inelastic behavior at the beam-column elements with moment-axial force interaction envelopes in order to maintain consistent nonlinear behavior over the super-element. Furthermore, to avoid penetration of a segment into its adjacent ones, contact springs (e.g. hertzian contact law) should be considered at the perimeter of the end cross-sections.

As far as the selection of the portion of a segment which is modeled by "fiber" springs is concerned, it may be based on the geometric characteristics (cross-section depth, wall thickness, segment length) of the segment and the level of nonlinear behavior considered and/or expected at the segmental joints of interest. Thus, for longer segments, the length of the "fiber" springs may equal the depth of the cross-section, whereas, for shorter segments, the "fiber" element length may be taken such that the contact elements at the perimeter of the cross-section are not activated (or not significantly activated) during the analysis. For short segments, it is also suggested that shear deformations be considered for the beam-column element.

Due to the nature of the proposed modeling approach, three generalized section forces can be generated at the ends of the super-element; an axial force  $N_S$  and two moments,  $M_{S,y}$  and  $M_{S,z}$ , defined as:

$$F_{S} = \sum_{i=1}^{N} F_{i} , \quad M_{S,y} = \sum_{i=1}^{N} z_{i} F_{i} \quad and \quad M_{S,z} = -\sum_{i=1}^{N} y_{i} F_{i}$$
(5)

where  $F_i$  is the force of the i-th "fiber" spring located at  $(y_i, z_i)$  on the cross-section. Shear and/or torsional resistance may be introduced either by considering a shear springs between every pair of nodes of a "fiber" spring, or by considering one shear/tortional spring between the two end nodes of two adjacent beam-column elements. The properties of these springs are determined by the properties of the segments in contact and the segment-to-segment interface.

Regarding the tendons of the post-tensioning system, each of them is modeled by several axial "tension-only" bilinear springs in series. Each node of this spring assembly is laterally constrained to the adjacent segmental joint. Post-tensioning is achieved by considering initial element stressing, either as a thermal effect, or as pre-stressing.

# **3.2. Model Definition**

A 2-D numerical model for the bridge specimen in the lateral direction is developed using the structural analysis software Ruaumoko (Carr 2004) to illustrate the proposed multi-element modeling approach. The model, which is shown in Figure 7, utilizes "compression-only" bilinear hysteretic springs with slackness as "fiber" springs, beam-column elements incorporating moment-axial force interaction diagrams, hertzian contact elements, and "tension-only" axial bilinear springs with slackness to model the post-tensioning system The pier segment crosssection is divided into 9 "fiber" spring areas along its depth, 5 of which are located in the webs, whereas the remaining 4 are located in the two flanges (2 in each flange). The portion of the segments (longitudinally) modeled by "fiber" springs is 6 inches at each end, resulting in "fiber" elements of total length of 12 inches. Although the cap beam and the foundation block are assumed to be rigid compared to the pier segments, short "fiber" springs (3 inches in length) are considered in the area of contact in both the cap beam and the foundation block to account for the existing local flexibility. The properties of the "fiber" elements are derived by taking into account the effect of both the concrete and the steel reinforcement, while the moment-axial force interaction diagrams are determined using appropriate computer codes. To avoid penetration of a segment into the adjacent ones, contact springs are placed at the edges of the cross-section and in the middle of the cross-section depth.



Figure 7. Numerical model for bridge specimen in the lateral direction

The post-tensioning system, which consists of 8 tendons, is modeled by three series of "tensiononly" axial bilinear springs. The two series closer to the exterior surfaces of the segments model the tendons located at the flanges (3 at each flange), whereas the one series in the middle of the segment depth models the two tendons located at the webs. No sliding is considered at the segment-to-segment joints and at the interface between the cap beam and the deck.

# **3.3. Modal and Dynamic Analyses**

By performing a modal analysis for the bridge specimen using the model presented in Figure 7, the first few modes of the response are computed. Thus, the first natural period of the system is found to be 0.224 seconds, while the  $2^{nd}$  and the  $3^{rd}$  natural periods are found to be 0.018 seconds and 0.009 seconds, respectively. From these values, in the context of the similitude analysis performed for the design of the test specimen, the natural periods of the prototype may be approximated as 0.535 seconds, 0.043 seconds and 0.021 seconds for the  $1^{st}$ ,  $2^{nd}$  and  $3^{rd}$  mode, respectively.

Dynamic analyses are performed with 200% amplitude of the North-South component of the 1940 El Centro record. To abide by the assumption of the similitude analysis, the earthquake accelerogram is also scaled both in time  $(\times 1/2.4)$  and amplitude  $(\times 2.4)$ , resulting in a peak ground acceleration of 1.62g (compared to the original 0.34g). Rayleigh damping is considered for the numerical model with a 3% damping ratio assigned to its two first modes. From the data obtained from the time history analysis of the system, observations may be made regarding the dynamic behavior of the bridge specimen in the lateral direction. Thus, the ground acceleration applied to the system and the total acceleration computed at the deck are shown in Figure 8. From these time histories, it can be seen that the absolute deck acceleration does not exceed an upper bound of 0.5g to 0.6g. Such behavior may be attributed to the joint opening at the base of the system (pier segment-to-foundation block joint) which controls/limits the maximum base moment that can be developed at the joint, and, consequently, controls the maximum seismic force applied to the system as well. An illustration of the self-centering capabilities of the bridge specimen considered in this study is presented in Figure 9 which shows the relative displacement response of the deck. According to this figure, the residual deformation of the system is negligible, which may be attributed to the fact that the tendons did not yield during the analysis, while the concrete segments experienced negligible inelastic deformations.



Figure 8. Total acceleration time histories



Figure 9. Relative displacement time history of deck (measured at its center of mass)

# 4. CONCLUSIONS

The proposed precast segmental bridge system with internal unbonded tendons and shear resistance at the joints provided only by friction between adjacent segments in contact seems to perform satisfactorily under earthquake excitation. Preliminary numerical analyses show that the system can be designed to exhibit high ductility and enhanced self-centering capabilities. These analyses followed the concepts presented above for modeling of segmental systems with 2-node elements, and they seem to have provided reasonable results.

Significant information on the seismic behavior of precast segmental systems following the design concepts described earlier is expected to be obtained from quasi-static and shake table testing of the bridge specimen described earlier. The tests will be conducted in the SEESL of the State University of New York at Buffalo, U.S.A.

# **5. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

The authors would like to acknowledge the Federal Highway Administration of the U.S. Department of Transportation for providing funding for this research. The help of Mr. Joe Salvadori from Dywidag – Systems International, in designing the post-tensioning system, is also greatly appreciated. Bodossaki Foundation is also acknowledged for providing partial financial support to the first author.

# 6. REFERENCES

AASHTO LRFD Bridge Design Specifications, 2007. *American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials*, 444 North Capitol Street, NW, Suite 249, Washington, DC 20001.

Anagnostopoulou, M., 2009. Seismic Design and Analysis of Precast Segmental Concrete Bridge Superstructure, *Master Thesis*, European School for Advanced Studies in Reduction of Seismic Risk

(ROSE School), University of Pavia, Italy.

Precast/Prestressed Concrete Bridge Design Manual, 2nd Edition, 2003. *Precast/Prestressed Concrete Institute* (PCI), 209 W. Jackson Blvd. #500, Chicago, IL 60606 - 312.786.0300.

Aref, A.J., Warn, G.P., Sideris, P. and Filiatrault, A., 2008. Pre-Fabricated Bridge Superstructures, *The 6th National Conference on Bridges & Highways*, July 27 – 30, 2008, Charleston, South Carolina, U.S.A.

Carr, A.J., 2004. RUAUMOKO 2D – Program for Inelastic Dynamic Analysis, *Users Manual*, Department of Civil Engineering, University of Canterbury, Christchurch, New Zealand.

Ou, Y.-C., 2007. Precast Segmental Post-Tensioned Concrete Bridge Columns for Seismic Regions, *Ph.D. Dissertation*, Department of Civil, Structural and Environmental Engineering, State University of New York, at Buffalo, Buffalo, NY, U.S.A.

Megally, S.H., Garg, M., Seible, F., Dowell, R.K., 2002. Seismic Performance of Precast Segmental Bridge Superstructures, *Structural Systems Research Project, Report No. SSRP 2001/24*, University of California at San Diego, La Jolla, California, U.S.A.

# **Research and Application of Precast Segmental Concrete** Bridge Columns in Taiwan

Kuo-Chun Chang<sup>1</sup>, Yu-Chen Ou<sup>2</sup>, Mu-Sen Tsai<sup>3</sup>, and George C. Lee<sup>4</sup>

# ABSTRACT

This paper presents the design concepts and connection details of precast segmental concrete bridge columns investigated in two experimental studies and implemented in a highway project in Taiwan. Post-tensioning was used to assemble the columns. The two experimental studies showed that precast segmental columns with or without mild steel reinforcing bars across the precast joints (also referred to as energy dissipation bars, ED bars) and allowing nonlinear behavior of precast connections can be designed for ductile and self-centering behavior under earthquake loading. Current application of precast segmental columns in Taiwan uses CIP hinge region and seismic isolation. The limit state of the columns is not controlled by nonlinear behavior of precast connections.

# INTRODUCTION

In recent years, growing attention has been given to the investigation, development and application of precast concrete bridge elements and systems for highway bridges. Cast-in-place concrete bridge construction normally causes traffic disruption for long periods of time. Precast concrete bridge construction offers a viable solution to this problem, by shifting most of the construction activities into precast factories where quality control is more reliable, thus minimizing traffic disruption and improving construction quality. Reducing on-site construction activities also means that work zone safety can be improved and environmental impact reduced (TRB 2003). Another advantage is ease of construction, particularly for bridges over waterways and across mountains, because on-site temporary support work, formwork and reinforcing work are reduced. Precast segmental bridge columns have been used in many bridge construction projects in regions of low seismicity in the U.S. (e.g. Billington et al. 1999 and Figg and Pate 2004). Recent applications were found in the Victory Bridge in New Jersey and the Colorado River Bridge of Hoover Dam Bypass in Nevada. This paper presents the design concepts and connection details of precast segmental concrete bridge columns that were examined in two experimental studies and those implemented in a highway project in Taiwan.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Professor and Chairman, Department of Civil Engineering, National Taiwan University, Taipei, Taiwan. E-mail: ciekuo@ntu.edu.tw.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Assistant Professor, Department of Construction Engineering, National Taiwan University of Science and Technology, Taipei, Taiwan. E-mail:yuchenou@mail.ntust.edu.tw.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Ph.D. Student, Department of Civil Engineering, National Taiwan University, Taipei, Taiwan. E-mail: f94521249@ntu.edu.tw.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Professor and Special Task Director (MCEER), Department of Civil, Structural and Environmental Engineering, University at Buffalo, Buffalo, U.S.A. E-mail: gclee@buffalo.edu.

# TALL PRECAST SEGMENTAL CONCRETE BRIDGE COLUMNS FOR HIGHWAY BRIDGES IN TAIWAN

# Background

This research was funded jointly by the Taiwan Area National Expressway Engineering Bureau and the National Center for Research on Earthquake Engineering (NCREE) in Taiwan. The objective of this research was to investigate the use of precast segmental construction in tall concrete bridge columns in a highway to be built in areas with beautiful mountains and coastline to reduce disturbance to the environment. Emphasis was given to the seismic performance of the columns since Taiwan is a region of high seismicity. Details of this research can be found in Wang et al. (2008).

# **Connection Design Details**

Four large-scale specimens were tested. Figs. 1 and 2 show the specimen design and section design, respectively. Post-tensioning was used to connect precast segments. Specimen P1 was post-tensioned with unbonded tendons. The tendon ducts formed a U-loop in the foundation. Plain concrete shear keys were introduced at the segment connections from segments S1 to S9. The purpose of the shear keys was mainly to provide an alignment guide during assembling. No shear key was used at connection foundation-S1 (the connection between the foundation and segment S1) to examine shear transfer at the critical connection only by shear friction. The mild steel longitudinal reinforcement was discontinued at the segment connections.

Test results of specimen P1 showed that it had much lower hysteretic energy dissipation capacity as opposed to conventional monolithic columns as expected. To improve this, specimen P2 was designed with 8 D36 high strength reinforcing bars at the critical section, which was located at connection foundation-S1. These bars are also referred to as energy dissipation (ED) bars herein to distinguish them from other steel reinforcing bars. These bars were anchored with T-headed threaded couplers embedded in the foundation. 4 of the 8 ED bars were extended through grouted steel corrugated ducts to the top of segment S2 and anchored with steel plates and nuts. The other 4 were continued to the top of segment S5 and anchored using the same method.

Test results of specimen P2 showed its hysteretic energy dissipation was increased marginally compared to specimen P1. One reason to this was attributed to the large opening of connection foundation-S1, which was considered detrimental because it limited the inelastic deformations of segment S1 (plastic hinge mechanism). Therefore, connection foundation-S1 of specimen P3 was strengthened to avoid opening. The base of segment S1 was enlarged and tied down to the foundation with D32 high strength steel bolts. In addition, the height of segment S1 was increased to 2 m to reduce the influence of expected opening of connection S1-S2 on the plastic hinge mechanism. In addition, mild steel bars with a lower yield strength (490 MPa) were used for ED bars in specimen P3. 20 ED bars were precast with segment S1 with one end protruding out of the bottom surface of the segment with a length of 200 mm. The protruding portion of the bar was later inserted into grouted coupler embedded in the foundation. In this specimen, the critical section was located at connection S1-S2 (the connection between segments S1 and S2). 12 of the 20 bars were extended across this connection. 4 of the 12 bars were extended through grouted steel corrugated ducts to the top of segment S3 and the other 8 bars continued to the top of segment S5 based on the moment capacity-demand diagram. This specimen did not have shear keys because it was found that relative

shear slip between the segments and the alignment of the segments during assembling without shear keys did not cause any problem.

Specimen P3 demonstrated a good hysteretic energy dissipation capability during testing. Thus, specimen P4 was designed using the same design concepts as specimen P3 but with a different method of constructing segment S1. In specimen P4, 12 ED bars were precast with segment S1 with one end protruding out of the bottom surface of segment S1 with 90 degree bents plus 612 mm extension, which together with the bottom 300 mm portion of segment S1 were later cast-in-place with the foundation. This is a partially-precast method, as compared to fully-precast methods used in the previous specimens, since fresh concrete was still needed during assembling.



Figure 1. Column design (Front elevation view).

# **Test Results**

All the specimens exhibited satisfactory ductile behavior as shown in Fig. 3. No shear-slip failure occurred at the segment connections despite the fact that a significant amount of connection opening was observed in all the specimens during testing. Specimen P1 had an energy dissipation capacity that was much lower than the other specimens. However, this specimen could self-center to its original position at the end of testing with minor damage. Specimens P3 and P4 demonstrated ductile behavior and significantly higher hysteretic energy dissipation capacity than specimen P1.



Figure 2. Section design.



# SELF-CENTERING PRECAST SEGMENTAL CONCRETE BRIDGE COLUMNS

# Background

This research was part of the Accelerated Bridge Construction (ABC) project funded by the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) to the Multidisciplinary Center for Earthquake Engineering Research (MCEER) on the U.S. side and funded by Taiwan's National Science Foundation to NCREE on the Taiwan side. It aimed at developing precast segmental concrete bridge

columns that have enhanced energy dissipation capacity while maintaining self-centering capability. More information on this research can be found in Ou et al. (2007) and Ou et al. (2009).

# **Specimen Design**

Four specimens were tested. Major design details of the specimens are illustrated in Fig. 4. Post-tensioning was used to connect precast segments. The post-tensioning tendons were placed inside the hollow core of the column same as external unbonded tendons. The use of unbonded tendons reduces the loss of prestress forces as compared to bonded tendons. No shear keys or epoxy was provided at the interface of the adjoined segments for the purpose of shear transfer.

Specimen C0C was designed without any ED bars. Specimens C5C and C5C-1 were designed with 0.5% ED bar ratio (12 D16 bars), which was intended to produce a flag-shape hysteretic behavior with a significant amount of energy dissipation and a small residual displacement. Specimen C5C-1 had a lower post-tensioning force than specimen C5C. The ED bar ratio in specimen C8C was further increased to 1% (12 D25 bars). Eq. (1) defines a factor,  $\lambda_{ED}$ , which is related to the ED bar contribution to the expected column strength.  $\lambda_{ED}$  for specimens C5C, C5C-1 and C8C was calculated to be approximately 28%, 35% and 50%, respectively.

$$\lambda_{ED} = \frac{V_{exp} - V_{exp0}}{V_{exp}} \tag{1}$$

where  $V_{exp}$  =maximum expected shear demand of the specimens; and  $V_{exp0}$ =maximum expected shear demand not considering the contribution from the ED bars. To avoid premature low cycle fatigue failure of the ED bars at the critical connection, which was located at the base of the column (connection Found-S1), due to the repeated opening and closing of the connection, an additional unbonded length,  $L_{au}$ , was introduced to the bars from the face of the foundation extending into it (see Fig. 4). This length was created by wrapping the bars with duct tape. The performance objective of  $L_{au}$  was set to prevent low cycle fatigue failure of the ED bars under cyclic loading up to 5% drift. The procedure to determine the unbonded length  $L_{au}$  can be found in Ou et al. (2009).

### **Test Results**

Test results (see Fig. 5) showed that the proposed columns possessed excellent drift capacities that are adequate for use in regions of high seismicity. The specimens without and with the ED bars exhibited drift capacities of 4.6% and 5%, respectively. The former failed mainly due to the P-delta effect and the latter due to fracture of the ED bars. The hysteretic energy dissipation capacity and residual drift of the columns increased as  $\lambda_{ED}$  increased. The specimens with  $\lambda_{ED}$  of 28% and 35% exhibited flag-shape hysteretic behaviors with significant amounts of hysteretic energy dissipation while maintaining small residual drifts. The specimen with  $\lambda_{ED}$  of 50% showed a further improved energy dissipation capacity but had a maximum residual drift that was much higher than the other specimens. Based on the test results,  $\lambda_{ED}$  of more than 35% is not recommended for maintaining self-centering capability.





Figure 5. Base-shear versus drift behavior: (a)C0C, (b)C5C, (c)C8C, and (d)C5C-1.

# APPLICATION OF PRECAST SEGMENTAL BRIDGE COLUMNS IN TAIWAN

Two of the elevated portions of a highway in central Taiwan were designed with precast concrete segmental columns. One elevated portion was designed with tall segmental columns with heights ranging from 17 to 31 m (see Fig. 6) and the other portion with relatively short segmental columns with heights ranging from 8 to 14 m (see Fig. 7). Post-tensioning was used for both types of columns. For the tall columns, the potential plastic hinge region was cast-in-place (CIP). The level of the post-tensioning force was chosen so that the precast connections would not open during a design earthquake (475 return period). The post-tensioning tendons formed a U-loop in the CIP region a distance above the base of the column. The ultimate state of the column was designed at the section at the base of the CIP regions. Thus, the column is expected to behave similarly to a conventional monolithic column at the ultimate state. For the short columns, lead rubber seismic isolation bearings were used to reduce the seismic demand. The post-tensioning force was selected so that under the forces of the bearings the precast connections would not open. The purpose of the shear keys at precast connections in both types of columns was to facilitate assembling process.



Figure 6. Tall column design



Figure 7. Short column design

# CONCLUSIONS

The following conclusions are drawn from the study presented herein.

- (1) Experimental studies carried out by the authors have shown that precast segmental columns assembled by post-tensioning and allowing nonlinear behavior of precast connections (with or without ED bars) can be designed for ductile and self-centering behavior under earthquake loading.
- (2) Current application of precast segmental columns in Taiwan uses the concept where limit state of the column is not controlled by nonlinear behavior of precast connections (CIP hinge region and seismic isolation). The behavior of the columns is expected to be similar to conventional monolithic columns during a design earthquake.

# REFERENCES

- TRB. (2003). Prefabricated Bridge Elements and Systems to Limit Traffic Disruption during Construction (NCHRP Synthesis 324), Transportation Research Board, Washington, D. C.
- Billington, S. L., Barnes, R. W., and Breen, J. E. (1999). "A precast segmental substructure system for standard bridges." *PCI J.*, 44(4), 56-73.
- Figg, L., and Pate, W. D. (2004). "Precast concrete segmental bridges-America's beautiful and affordable icons." PCI Journal, 49(5), 26-38.
- Wang, J.-C., Ou, Y.-C., Chang, K.-C., and Lee, G. C. (2008). "Large-scale seismic tests of tall concrete bridge columns with precast segmental construction," *Earthquake Engineering and Structural Dynamics*, 37(12), 1449-1465.
- Ou, Y.-C., Chiewanichakorn, M., Aref, A. J., and Lee, G. C. (2007). "Seismic performance of segmental precast unbonded post-tensioned concrete bridge columns." *Journal of Structural Engineering, ASCE*, 133(11), 1636-1647.
- Ou, Y.-C., Wang, P.-H., Tsai, M.-S., Chang, K.-C., and Lee, G. C. (2009). "Large-scale experimental study of precast segmental unbonded post-tensioned concrete bridge columns for seismic regions," *Journal of Structural Engineering*, ASCE, 10.1061/(ASCE)ST.1943-541X.0000110.

# A Precast Concrete Bridge Bent for Seismic Regions

Olafur S. Haraldsson, University of Washington, Seattle, WA.
 Jason B.K. Pang, KPFF Engineers, Seattle WA.
 John F. Stanton, Ph.D., PE, University of Washington, Seattle, WA.
 Marc O. Eberhard, Ph.D., University of Washington, Seattle, WA.

#### ABSTRACT

This paper describes a precast concrete bridge bent connection that is suitable for rapid construction in seismic zones. Its features include speed and simplicity of erection, generous tolerances and good seismic performance. It was been developed with the help of structural designers, a precast concrete fabricator a general contractor and the state Department of Transportation. It uses a different connection system at the top and bottom of the column. Lateral load tests on the top connection system have shown that it has strength and ductility similar to those of a comparable cast-in-place connection. Tests on the bottom connection system are ongoing.

#### INTRODUCTION

Bridge construction frequently leads to traffic delays, which incur costs that can be measured in time, money and wasted fuel. Agencies are therefore seeking method for accelerating bridge construction, referred to as ABC. Such methods offer not only for relief to traffic delays, but also reduced environmental impacts, better worker safety, higher quality construction and lower lifecycle costs (Wacker et al. 2005). Use of precast concrete represents promising technology for ABC, and has been successfully used for bridge substructures in non-seismic regions (Matsumoto et al. 2001). Connections are typically made at the beamcolumn and column-foundation interfaces to permit the use of straight elements. This facilitates fabrication and transportation. However, for structures in seismic regions, those interfaces represent the locations of high moments and large inelastic cyclic strain reversals. Devising connections that are not only sufficiently robust to accommodate those cyclic loads, but are also readily constructible, represents a challenge.



Figure 1 – Details of Full Scale Connection

The precast concrete bridge bent system described in this paper is intended to satisfy the combined needs of seismic performance and constructability. Different connection systems are used at the column-to-foundation and the cap beam-to-column interfaces, because the conditions at each location offer unique opportunities. The cap beam connection has already been tested, and has proved to be very satisfactory. Results from those tests are presented first. The foundation connection has been designed and, at the time of writing, the test specimens are being cast. Testing is due to be complete by the spring of 2010.

While the concepts were developed and tested at the University of Washington, significant assistance was provided by the Washington State Department of Transportation, Tri-State Construction, Concrete Technology Corporation and Berger/ABAM Engineers.

## **BEAM-TO-COLUMN CONNECTION**

#### CONCEPT

The connection concept consists of bars that project from the column and are grouted into ducts in the cap beam. This concept has been used before by others (e.g. Getty, *website*). Such designs have used a conventional arrangement of longitudinal reinforcement, consisting of, say, 18 D35 bars in a 1.5m diameter column (18 No 11 bars in a 5'-0" diameter column). In such a configuration, the vertical ducts need to be quite small in order to fit between the horizontal beam bars. Then, fitting the 18 column bars into 18 relatively small ducts in the cap beam requires very accurate fabrication and field assembly. It does not constitute a readily constructible solution.

The system developed here is shown in Figure 1. It uses a small number of large bars in order to permit larger ducts and thereby facilitate the fit-up on site. In a typical 1.5m (5'-0") circular column, 8 D57 (No. 18) bars in 200 mm (8") diameter ducts will often suffice. The major obstacle then lies in anchoring the bars in the available space, because the AASHTO LRFD Specifications require a development length in 28 MPa (4000 psi) concrete of 2.75m. (9ft), whereas the cap beam is typically only about 1m (3'-6") deep.

Two approaches may be taken to solve this problem. The first is to demonstrate that the anchorage available from the grouted ducts is sufficient to develop the bar. The second is to note that, in a typical dropped cap beam design, such as the one used here, a diaphragm is cast in place over the cap beam once the girders have been placed and the deck has been cast. That diaphragm, shown in Figure 1, provides additional anchorage length that can be used together with the anchorage in the ducts to resist the cyclic forces on the bar caused by seismic loading. The ducts alone then need to provide only enough development to ensure strength and stability during erection. It is likely that development to resist the yield stress under static loading, rather than the ultimate strength under cyclic loading, would be enough for that purpose.

## TESTING

## Bar Anchorage

The anchorage characteristics of large bars were first investigated by conducting full scale pull-out tests on D32, D45 and D57 (No.10, 14 and 18) bars grouted into corrugated ducts. These tests confirmed that the D57 bars could be fully anchored in a length significantly shorter than the depth of the cap beam (Steuck et al. 2007). Those tests combined with earlier work (Raynor et al., 2002; Precast, 2004; Moustafa et al. 1974) showed that, under static loading, the lengths needed to provide anchorage for yield and fracture were approximately  $6d_b$  and  $10d_b$  respectively. An additional allowance of 50% was suggested to account for cyclic loading. The 50% is believed to be conservative, and is supported by a small number of Raynor's tests that were conducted cyclically, and by reference to Chapter 21 of ACI 318-08, which requires an increase of approximately 30% for the development length of bars cast directly in concrete. Even with that 50% increase in  $l_d$ , the bars can be anchored within the depth of the cap beam so that, when they eventually fail under cyclic loading, it is by fracture rather than pullout.

#### **Connection tests**

Specimen	Description	ρ(%)	Longitudinal Reinforcement	f' <sub>co</sub> (ksi)	P <sub>axial</sub> (kips)	α <sub>axial</sub> (%)
REF	Reference cast-in-place reinforced column	1.58	16- #5	6.83	240	11.2
LB-FB	Precast column with bars fully grouted in corrugated ducts in beam	1.51	6- #8 (12- #3 for spacing)	8.34	212	8.1
LB-D1	LB-FB with bars debonded 8 d <sub>b</sub> in the grouted ducts using Method 1	1.51	6- #8 (12- #3 for spacing)	7.69	260	10.8
LB-D2	LB-FB with bars debonded 8 d <sub>b</sub> in the grouted ducts using Method 2	1.51	6- #8 (12- #3 for spacing)	6.20	240	12.3

#### Table 1 - Test Matrix

Four scaled sub-assemblage tests were also conducted to evaluate the seismic performance of the proposed connection. The primary study variable was the anchorage of the longitudinal bars. In two specimens, those bars were debonded over a short length near the beam-column interface, to reduce the strain concentration that might otherwise occur there because the bond resistance provided by the grouted duct is very high.

Each specimen was a 40% scale sub-assemblage of the proposed beam-to-column connection. The full-scale prototype was assumed to be a 1.2m (4'-0") diameter circular column. Table 1 and Figure 2 show the details of the scaled test specimens, which included a 445mm (17 ½-in) deep cap beam, a 470 mm (18 ½-in) deep portion of the diaphragm, and a 1.5m (60-in) tall segment of the 500 mm (20-in) in diameter column. Specimen REF is a scaled model of a typical Washington State cast-in-place bridge column, with 16 D16 (16 No. 5) bars evenly distributed round the perimeter, giving a longitudinal reinforcement ratio,  $\rho$ , of 1.58 percent. The column bars were cast in place into the cap beam and diaphragm. The transverse reinforcement consists of 6 mm (1/4-in) diameter spirals spaced at 30 mm (1¼-in). This specimen provides a baseline for evaluating the performance of the proposed system.

The other three specimens, LB-FB, LB-D1, and LB-D2, represented possible variations of the proposed precast connection. The columns were reinforced longitudinally with 6 D25 (#8) bars that were grouted into 100 mm (4-in) diameter corrugated metal ducts in the cap beam and further anchored in concrete within the diaphragm, providing a longitudinal reinforcement ratio,  $\rho$ , of 1.51 percent. In Specimen LB-FB the bars were fully bonded into grouted ducts, whereas in specimens LB-D1 and LB-D2, two methods of local debonding were studied. The bars in LB-D1 and LB-D2 were debonded over a length of 8 bar diameters,  $d_b$ , into the cap beam using two different methods. LB-D1 was debonded using a 25 mm (1-in) SCH-40 PVC pipe slit longitudinally, fitted tightly around the #8 bar, taped together, and sealed with caulk at the ends. LB-D2 was debonded using a 25 mm (1-in) SCH-30 PVC pipe. That pipe fitted more loosely round the bar, and provided no restraint against buckling. The detail was constructed by sliding the pipe over the bar and sealing it with caulk at the ends.

For all precast specimens, 12 D10 (#3) bars were added to the column. They stopped at the interface and so provided no additional flexural capacity; they were included purely to meet AASHTO bar spacing requirements. The spiral reinforcement in the columns was the same as in the reference specimen, and it continued at the same spacing into the cap beam to confine the joint region. A thin grout pad was also provided at the beam-column interface to simulate field erection of the precast pieces. Fluid, high-strength, non-shrink grout with an average compressive strength of 63 MPa (9 ksi) at 5 days was used. 420 MPa (gr. 60) bars were used for the mild steel reinforcement, while 630 MPa (gr. 90) wire was used for the spirals. The design concrete strength was 42 MPa (6 ksi).

#### Experimental Setup

Each specimen was tested under constant axial load and a cyclic lateral displacement history. The test set up is shown in Figure 2. Axial load was applied via a 10 MN (2400 kip) Baldwin Universal Test Machine, equipped with a swivel head and a low-friction sliding PTFE track. Lateral displacements were applied using a 1 MN (220-kip) MTS displacement-controlled actuator, located 1.5 m (5 ft) above the interface. The lateral loading protocol was a slightly modified version of that recommended in the NEHRP Recommended Provisions (Building, 2004), and consisted of 3 cycles at each of a series of increasing displacements.



Figure 2 - Test Setup, Showing Precast Connection

## **Experimental results**

All four specimens demonstrated nearly identical force-displacement responses and levels of physical damage. Specimens REF, LB-FB, LB-D1, and LB-D2 maintained 80 percent of their peak lateral resistance out to drifts of 5.5%, 5.2%, 5.7%, and 5.8%. All of these values greatly exceed the drift demands expected in even a severe earthquake.

Figure 3 shows the load-deflection curves for each specimen. They are expressed as Equivalent Moment vs. drift ratio, where the equivalent moment consists of the overturning effects of both the lateral load acting at the specified height and the vertical load multiplied by the lateral displacement. The drift ratio is the horizontal displacement divided by the height to the loading point. The curves are remarkably similar, despite the different construction methods. The slightly different peak loads are mainly attributable to minor differences in the applied axial load. There is a small amount of pinching as the system crosses zero displacement, caused by the fact that the compressive force is resisted by the bars alone prior to closing of the cracks in the concrete. There is also little loss in strength until the drift reaches at least 4 percent, despite the increasing damage accumulating in the plastic hinge region.

The majority of deformation for specimens LB-FB, LB-D1 and LB-D2 resulted from a large localized crack opening at the interface. Rotations measured over the bottom 38 mm (1.5 in) of the column accounted for more than 90 percent of the total column displacement. The additional 12 D10 (#3) bars in the column, which did not cross the interface, made the body of the column stronger and stiffer than the interface, so most of the deformation was forced to occur at the interface and the precast members essentially rotated as rigid bodies. This approach, in which the connection is designed to behave in a ductile manner during an earthquake, has been successfully used in precast building design and tested in the PRESSS Program ( $\underline{5}$ ). In contrast, in Specimen REF, the curvature was more evenly distributed over the bottom 1 m (40 in) of the column, as is common in cast-in-place systems. The width of the interface crack was about the same as that of some of the flexural cracks above.



Figure 3 - Equivalent Moment vs. Drift Ratio. (Note: 1 kip-in = 0.113 kN-m).

### **Observed Damage**

The types and amount of physical damage were nearly identical for all specimens, including Specimen REF, which had a different configuration of reinforcement and a slightly larger reinforcement ratio. Figure 4 shows the damage, including spalling of the concrete cover, damage to the cap beam, bar buckling, spiral fracture, and longitudinal bar fracture. Damage consisted of moderate spalling of the concrete cover and crushing of the core concrete over a plastic hinge region about 12 in. long. Spalling initiated at drift levels of 2.0%, 2.0%, 2.4%, and 2.1% for specimens REF, LB-FB, LB-D1 and LB-D2, respectively.

At drift levels of 5.6%, 5.3%, 5.7%, and 5.8%, respectively, the two bars at the extreme north and south locations began to buckle, pushing out on the spiral. The spirals fractured when buckling was first observed, or



(a) LB-FB cumulative spalling damage to beam.



( c ) LB-D2 bar buckling and spiral fracture.



(b) LB-D1 level of spalling at initiation of bar buckling with no damage to beam.



(d) LB-D2 spiral and bar fracture, and core crushing.

Figure 4. Observed Damage

shortly thereafter. Bar buckling is shown in Figure 4c. Severe necking occurred before the spiral fractured. When the bars were next loaded in tension, they straightened and fractured. The finding that buckling occurred at almost the same drift in each specimen was surprising, given that in two specimens the bars were debonded over a length of 200 mm (8 in), while in the other two specimens they were fully bonded. The buckling always occurred in the column, whereas the debonded region was in the cap beam.

Bars in specimens LB-FB, LB-D1 and LB-D2 fractured at drift levels of 6.5%, 7.1%, and 7.4%, respectively. Bar fracture was brittle with no visible necking, and occurred approximately 6" above the interface, at the peak of the buckled shape. Figure 4d shows bar fracture and damage in the hinge region. Specimen REF underwent slightly larger drifts before fracture occurred. Three bars on the north and two bars on the south fractured at a drift of 8.8%. It was observed that a partially fractured bar showed cracks propagating from the inner side of the buckle. This, along with the lack of necking, indicates that bar fracture occurs as a consequence of bar buckling instead of strain concentrations at the interface.

## Effects of Debonding

In specimens LB-D1 and LB-D2 the bars were intentionally debonded to reduce the maximum strain at the interface. Deformation in the bar was thus distributed over the debonded length rather than being concentrated at the interface crack. The debonded region was placed in the cap beam for several reasons. First, the joint region constitutes a large, relatively rigid, block of concrete that provides restraint to local bar buckling, which is otherwise a possibility in a debonded system. Second, the bond stresses needed for anchorage will develop deep inside the cap beam, rather than at the surface where they are more likely to lead to surface damage. Last, it is a more constructible alternative, as bars could be easily sleeved for debonding after casting and prior to erection.

Despite their different capacities for inhibiting buckling, the two details performed almost identically. This is confirmed by the similarity in their force-displacement curves in Figure 3. The primary reason was that the debonding was located in the cap beam, whereas the buckling deformations occurred in the body of the column, where the configurations of both specimens were identical.

The need for any debonding was also brought into question, because the attack end of the grouted bar pulls out a conical wedge of concrete from the duct. This region then behaves as an intentionally debonded region and relieves the majority of any strain concentration.

## COLUMN-TO-FOUNDATION CONNECTION

CONCEPT



Figure 4. Socket Connection: Concept.

The concept adopted for joining the column to the footing is referred to as a socket connection, and is shown in Figure 4. It is suitable for use with spread footings. The construction sequence is as follows. First the column is precast, with a roughened surface in the region that will eventually be embedded in the footing. Then the

foundation is excavated and, in the bottom, a small temporary slab is cast on which to set the column. The column is set, plumbed, leveled and braced, the footing steel is placed, and then the footing concrete is cast.

The constructability advantages of the system are that it is quick and simple to build, it avoids any potential problems of fit-up of bars in ducts, the column detailing can be almost identical to that of a cast-in-place column, and no grouting is needed.

A possible variant on the system is to cast the footing before setting the column, leaving a void in the footing into which the column can subsequently be set and grouted. While this alternative adds an extra step (grouting), it has the advantage that the top of the footing provides a solid surface to which the column braces can be attached.

The simplicity of the socket connection suggests that it could also be used at the beam-to-column interface, by creating a cap-beam with a large hole into which the precast column would fit. While this configuration is possible, the cap beam would have to be significantly wider than the column to provide sufficient beam strength at the connection. The weight of the cap beam, and the crane needed for lifting it, would have to be considered in evaluating the overall economy of the system. If the bridge girders are long and approximately the same weight as the cap beam, the crane required capacity may be controlled by the girders and the large cap beam may impose no real penalty.

The longitudinal reinforcement in the column is developed at the base by mechanical anchors, rather than the traditional method of bending the bars outwards. Doing so offers the construction advantage that the precast column becomes a large concrete cylinder with no protruding reinforcement, and is therefore simpler and safer to cast and transport. The headed bars also offer a much more direct transfer of forces between the column and the footing, as demonstrated by the strut-and tie models shown in Figure 5. Figure 5a (copied from Xiao et al. 1996) shows the model typically applied for bent-out bars. It requires a top mat and extensive stirrup steel in the footing. Furthermore the hook on the main bar is in effective for anchorage because it is facing the wrong way; the diagonal strut that joins it to the compression side of the column must transfer its load to the bar by bond rather than bearing, because its orientation is tangential, rather than radial, to the hook. The model proposed for use with the headed bars (Figure 5b) is, by contrast, very simple, and needs no top mat or tie steel, unless the "uplift" side of the footing self-weight on that side. The headed bars thus offer advantages for both constructability and seismic performance viewpoints. This is quite unusual: more commonly a change that benefits one tends to constitute a disadvantage for the other.



Figure 5. Strut and tie models for (a) bent out bars and (b) headed bars.

## TESTING

The major questions associated with the connection's seismic performance are expected to be in the transfer of forces from the column to the footing, so the planned testing focuses on them. The connection must be able to resist the cyclic column moments without significant damage to the footing, and without the column punching through the footing under gravity load. Osanai et al. (1996) tested socket connections for building columns and concluded that, unless special conditions were satisfied, the footing depth should be at least 1.5 times the column diameter. However, the sockets they used were much smaller in plan than a typical spread footing for a bridge, so the present tests, which are based on a footing depth/column diameter ratio of 1.0, are expected to demonstrate that the connection is strong enough to induce a plastic hinge in the column itself, just above the footing, despite the relatively small footing depth. Ensuring that the yielding occurs in the columns is important, not only because it is advocated by the AASHTO Specifications, but also because post-earthquake inspection and repair are more expensive for footings than for columns.

The first two planned test specimens are shown in Figure 6. In both, the exterior of the column is roughened near the bottom to improve the transfer of shear stress. The column also extends just below the footing, to be sure that the force transfer at the node at the bottom of the column bars can take place satisfactorily.



Figure 6. Socket Connection Test Specimens

Specimen A is the more conservative option. It is needed because the WSDOT has agreed to build a bridge over I-5 using the technology advocated here. The bridge is due to be bid before all the research test results are available, so a system with a very high probability of success had to be included. Two footing bars run through a slot under the column in each direction to ensure their direct engagement with the tension steel in the column. Sets of diagonal bars in the horizontal plane are placed in the top and bottom of the footing round the column. Their purpose is to act as "shear friction" steel that will provide the friction forces needed to prevent punching failure along the pc/cip interface. One set is placed in the top and three, stacked, in the bottom. Ties are included in accordance with the Caltrans recommendations (Caltrans, 2006). The AASHTO Guide Specification for Seismic Design (AASHTO Guide, 2009) is based on the Caltrans recommendations, but contains no tie requirements. The omission appears (Marsh, 2009) to be an oversight that is likely to be corrected, so the ties were included here in anticipation of their being required in future designs.

Specimen B was designed to determine whether the system could be simplified further. First, in each direction, the two center bars in the bottom mat of the footing steel were moved so they no longer passed under the column, but are placed just outside it. There they are bundled with the existing bar in that location. That placement frees the bottom mat to be placed at any time, thereby improving constructability. Second, the shear friction steel was reduced so that only one set of four bars was used at the top and bottom of the footing. The reasoning was that the bottom mat alone provides sufficient steel, provided that that steel can be used to provide both flexural strength and shear friction. (It should be noted that AASHTO allows some shear force to be resisted by a cohesive component of the concrete shear strength, but ACI 318 does not. In this case the cohesion component alone is theoretically sufficient to resist the axial force, which was taken as  $0.1f'_cA_g$ . The shear friction steel in Specimen A was designed conservatively using the ACI requirements, ignoring the cohesion component, to minimize any chance of vertical slip). One set of diagonal bars was retained at the top and bottom to act as "trimming" reinforcement at the corners of the square opening in the footing mat. Last, the tie steel was reduced by 50%, on the basis that the Caltrans recommendations appeared to be developed for a system in which the column steel was bent out, rather than being anchored by heads. In that case the strut and tie model suggests that tie steel is largely unnecessary.

## CONCLUSIONS

A precast concrete bridge bent system is presented that is simple and rapid to construct and offers excellent seismic performance. The following conclusions are drawn:

- 1. The details have been developed with extensive input from a structural design engineer, the Washington State DOT, a precaster and a general contractor. The assistance from a range of disciplines was critical to achieving the constructability goals.
- 2. The column to cap beam connection is made with a small number of large (D57 or No. 18) bars column grouted into ducts in the cap beam. Their small number, and the correspondingly large ducts sizes that are possible, lead to a connection that can be assembled easily on site.
- 3. The column-to-cap-beam connection has been tested under cyclic loading in three different variations. All three displayed behavior that was essentially identical to that of a cast-in-place column with similar properties. All reached a drift of approximately 6% before bar buckling in the column precipitated failure.
- 4. The footing-to-column connection is to be tested in the near future. One conservative option and one stripped-down option are to be tested. Strut and tie analyses suggest that the conservative connection detail will be stronger than the column, and that failure will occur by plastic hinging in the column, as desired. The stripped-down detail uses less steel and is simpler to construct. The constructability benefits are clear, and it is hoped that its seismic performance will also prove adequate.
#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Support for this work was provided by the Federal Highway Administration, through their Highways for Life program, by the Washington State Department of Transportation, and by the Valle Foundation at the University of Washington. The findings and conclusions contained herein are those of the authors alone. Thanks are extended to graduate students Kyle Steuck and Laila Cohagen, Laboratory Manager Vince Chaijaroen, the staff of Tri-state Construction, Mr. Steve Seguirant of Concrete Technology Corporation, Dr. Bijan Khaleghi and Mr. Jugesh Kapur of the WSDOT, and Dr. Lee Marsh of Berger/ABAM Engineers for their valuable assistance, without which the project would not have been possible.

#### REFERENCES

- "AASHTO Guide Specification for LRFD Seismic Bridge Design" (2009). AASHTO, Washington DC.
- Building Seismic Safety Council for the FEMA. (2004) "NEHRP Recommended Provisions for Seismic Regulations and for New Buildings and Other Structures (FEMA 450) 2003 Edition," Washington D.C.

Caltrans (2006). "Seismic Design Criteria Version 1.4". Caltrans, Sacramento, CA.

Getty Center Tram Guideway. http://www.cement.org/transit/tr cs gettycenter.asp

- Marsh, L. (2009). Personal communication with J. Stanton.
- Matsumoto, E., Waggoner, M., Sumen, G., Kreger, M., Wood, S., and Breen, J. (2001). "Development of a Precast Bent Cap System," Center for Transportation Research, Research Project 0-1748, University of Texas at Austin.
- Moustafa, S., (1989). "Ductile Pullout Connections". Concrete Technology Associates, CTA Bulletin 74B11. Now available from the Precast and Prestressed Concrete Institute, Chicago, IL.
- Nakaki, S., Stanton, J., Sritharan, S. (1999). "Overview of the PRESSS Five Story Precast Test Building," PCI Journal, V.44 N2, March-April 1999, pp 26-39.
- Osanai, Y., Watanabe, F. and Okamoto, S., (1996). "Stress Transfer Mechanism of Socket Base Connections with Precast Concrete Columns". ACI Structural Journal, ACI, Chicago. IL. May-June, pp. 266-276.
- Precast and Prestressed Concrete Institute (2004). "PCI Design Handbook". 6th ed. Chicago, IL.
- Raynor, D.J., Lehman, D.L. and Stanton, J.F. (2002). "Bond-Slip Response of Reinforcing Bars Grouted in Ducts". ACI Str. Jo. 99(5), Sept. pp 568-576.
- Steuck, K., Pang, J., Stanton, J. and Eberhard, M. (2007) "Anchorage of Large Bars in Grouted Ducts," Washington State Transportation Center Report WA-RD 684.1, Seattle, WA.
- Wacker, J., Hieber, D., Stanton, J., and Eberhard, M. (2005). "Design of Precast Concrete Piers for Rapid Bridge Construction in Seismic Regions," Washington State Transportation Center Report, Seattle, WA.
- Xiao, Y., Priestley, M.J.N., and Seible, F. (1996). "Seismic Assessment and Retrofit of Bridge Column Footings". ACI Structural Journal, ACI, Farmington Hills, MI. Jan-Feb., pp. 79-94.

## Precast Bridge Members in Areas of High or Moderate Seismicity

### Jugesh Kapur, P.E., S.E.

State Bridge and Structures Engineer Washington State Department of Transportation Bridge and Structures Office 7345 Linderson Way SW Tumwater, WA 98501 Phone: 360 705-7207 Fax::360 705-6814 <u>KapurJu@wsdot.wa.gov</u>

### Bijan Khaleghi, Ph, D. P.E., S.E.

(Contact Person and Presenter) State Bridge Design Engineer Washington State Department of Transportation Bridge and Structures Office 7345 Linderson Way SW Tumwater, WA 98501 Phone: 360 705-7181 Fax::360 705-6814 <u>khalegb@wsdot.wa.gov</u>

#### **SYNOPSIS**

Bridge construction with prefabrication of modular components offers an attractive alternative to conventional bridges. Prefabricated bridge components are in increasing demand for accelerated bridge construction. Precasting eliminates the need for forming, casting, and curing of concrete in the work zones, making bridge construction safer while improving quality and durability. Precast bridges consisting of pretensioned girders, post-tensioned spliced girders, trapezoidal open box girders, and other types of superstructure members are often used for accelerated bridge construction; however, bridge engineers are concerned with the durability and performance of bridges made of precast members in areas of high or moderate seismicity.

This paper examines the applicability of the AASHTO LRFD Specifications to precast prefabricated bridges in areas of high or moderate seismisity, discusses the different seismic design methodologies, and provides guidance in their application to precast bridges. It provides an overview of WSDOT design criteria and recent research and bridge projects using the accelerated bridge construction technique in Washington State.

The outline of WSDOT strategic plan for implementation of accelerated bridge construction is discussed herein. It introduces the innovation through Highways for Life project of a totally precast concrete bridge bent system that can be used in seismic regions.

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Precast concrete bridge systems provide effective and economical design solutions for new bridge construction as well as for the rehabilitation of existing bridges. The proper seismic design entails a detailed evaluation of the connections between precast components as well as the connection between superstructure and the supporting substructure system. In seismic regions, provisions must be made to transfer greater forces through connections and to ensure ductile behavior in both longitudinal and transverse directions. The system must be made to protect the superstructure from force effects due to ground motions through fusing or plastic hinging. In seismic regions, provisions must be made to ensure ductile behavior in both longitudinal and transverse directions.

The Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) has been actively promoting the advantages of ABC. Proven benefits include minimized traffic disruption, improved work zone safety, and reduced on-site environmental impacts. Related traffic impacts derive from both expedited congestion relief projects and minimized traffic disruption due to reduced on-site highway construction activities.

#### SEISMIC RESPONSE OF BRIDGES WITH PRECAST COMPONENTS

Plastic hinging is the basis of the ductile design for bridge structures. Plastic hinges may be formed at one or both ends of a reinforced concrete column. After a plastic hinge is formed, the load path will change until the second plastic hinge is formed. The philosophy of ductility and the concept of plastic hinging are applicable to precast bridges if connections are cast-in-place emulative.

The lack of monolithic action between the superstructure and bent cap in precast, prestressed concrete beam systems causes either the girder seats or the column tops to act as pinned connections. Consequently, while the transverse stability of multi-column bents is ensured by frame action in that direction, stability in the longitudinal direction requires the column bases to be fixed to the foundation supports. This requirement places substantial force demands on the foundations of multi-column bents, particularly in areas of moderate to high seismic zones. Developing a moment connection between the superstructure and substructure makes it possible to introduce a reduced fixity connection at the base of column

#### PRECAST SUPERSTRUCTURE

In Washington State, the use of prestressed I-girders started in the 1950's. Since then the Washington State Department of Transportation (WSDOT) has developed standard girders for composite and non-composite sections to facilitate economical design and construction. The complete description of standard prestressed girders and their span capability is presented in WSDOT Bridge Design Manual (BDM)<sup>1</sup>, and PCI Journals<sup>3,4</sup> can be downloaded from the WSDOT website at: http://www.wsdot.wa.gov/eesc/bridge/index.cfm.

#### **CONNECTION OF PRECAST GIRDERS AT INTERMEDIATE PIERS**

The most common types of connections for precast prestressed girder bridges are fixed for high seismic zones (western Washington), and hinge connection for low seismic zones (eastern Washington). Precast column could be used if monolithic moment resistant connections meeting seismic design and detailing requirements are provided.

Monolithic action between the superstructure and substructure components is the key to seismic resistant precast concrete bridge systems. Lack of monolithic action causes the column tops to behave as

pin connections resulting in substantial force demands on the foundations of multi-column bents, particularly in areas of moderate to high seismisity. Developing a moment connection between the superstructure and substructure reduces the moment in the footing. Fig.1 shows a typical monolithic moment resistant connection used for WSDOT precast girder bridges.



Fig. 1 Typical Monolithic Moment Resistant

The cast-in-place concrete for intermediate diaphragm of continuous bridges is completed in two stages to ensure the stability of precast girders after erection, and occurrence of initial creep. Extended strands and reinforcing bars are provided to ensure adequate performance of the connection during a seismic event. The design assumptions for fixed diaphragms are:

- 1. All girders of adjoining spans are the same depth, spacing, and preferably the same type.
- 2. Design girders as simple span for both dead and live loads.
- 3. Provide reinforcement for negative moments at intermediate piers in the deck due to live loads and superimposed dead loads from traffic barrier, pedestrian walkway, utilities, etc.
- 4. Determine resultant plastic hinging forces at centroid of superstructure.
- 5. Determine the number of extended strands to resist seismic positive moment.
- 6. Design diaphragm reinforcement to resist the resultant seismic forces at centroid of diaphragm.
- 7. Design longitudinal reinforcement at girder ends for interface shear friction.

### STRAND FOR POSITIVE EQ MOMENT

The design procedure to calculate the required number of extended strands is described herein. This calculation is based on developing tensile strength of the strands at ultimate loads. Since the distance across the connection is too short to develop the strands by concrete bond alone, mechanical anchors are

provided to develop the yield strength of the strands. Strand extension details with strand anchors and strand chucks are used for continuous spans at diaphragms is shown in Fig. 2.

Extended bottom prestress strands are used to carry positive EQ load, creep, and other restrained moments from one span to another. Strands used for this purpose must be developed in the short distance between the two girder ends. The strand end anchorage device used, per WSDOT Standard Plan, is a 2'-0" (610 mm) strand extension with strand chuck and steel anchor plate. The number of strands to be extended cannot be less than four.



#### Fig. 2 Strand Extension Detail

The torsion in the bent cap is distributed into the superstructure based on the relative flexibility of the superstructure and the bent cap. Hence, the superstructure does not resist column overstrength moments uniformly across the width. To account for this, an effective width approximation is used, where the maximum resistance per unit of superstructure width of the actual structure is distributed over an equivalent effective width to provide an equivalent resistance.

Based on the structural testing conducted at the University of California at San Diego La Jolla<sup>5</sup>, California in the late 1990's (Holombo 2000), roughly two-thirds of the column plastic moment to be resisted by the two girders adjacent to the column (encompassed by the effective width) and the other one-third to be resisted by the non-adjacent girders.

Number of extended straight strands needed to develop the required moment capacity at the end of girder is based on the yield strength of the strands.

$$N_{ps} = 12 \left[ M_{sei} \cdot K - M_{SIDL} \right] \cdot \frac{1}{0.9 \phi A_{ps} f_{py} d}$$
<sup>(1)</sup>

where:

#### PRECAST GIRDER CONNECTION AT END PIERS

Precast girders are often supported on elastomeric bearing pads at end piers. Semi-integral cantilever abutments are used for shorter bridges, and L abutments for longer bridges are typically used for precast girder bridges. Bridge ends are free for longitudinal movement, but restrained for transverse seismic movement by girder stops. The bearings are designed to be accessible so that the superstructure can be jacked up to replace the bearings after a major seismic event.

In L-shaped end piers, the minimum displacement requirements at the expansion bearing should accommodate the greater of the maximum displacement calculated from a displacement analysis or a percentage of the empirical support length, N, as specified in the LRFD Guide Specifications<sup>2:</sup>

for Seismic Design Category A, B and C:  $N = (8 + 0.02L + 0.08H) (1 + 0.000125 S^2)$  (2)

for Seismic Design Category D:  $N = (4+1.65\Delta_{eq})((1+0.00025 \text{ S}^2) > 24 \text{ in.}$  (3) Where:

L = bridge length to the adjacent expansion joint, or to the end of the bridge, ft

- H = average height of abutment wall supporting the superstructure, ft
- S = skew angle of the support measured normal to span, deg

 $\Delta_{eq}$  = seismic displacement demand of the long period frame, in.

#### **RESEARCH PROJECT ON PRECAST CONCRETE PIERS IN SEISMIC REGIONS**

An experimental research program at the University of Washington<sup>7</sup> has developed and evaluated details for a precast concrete bridge bent substructure system having satisfactory seismic performance and suitability for rapid construction.

Details of the cap beam-column connection consist of 6 #18 vertical column steel bars grouted into 8 in. (200 mm) diameter corrugated metal ducts embedded in the cap beam as shown in Fig. 3. Precast concrete columns with six bars protruding are brought onto site, braced, and then cast integrally with their footing. Later, the precast cap beam is fitted over the column bars through the corrugated ducts and grouted in place, completing the bent substructure.

Full scale monotonic pull-out tests, with different embedment lengths, were first conducted to investigate the bond characteristics of large bars grouted into corrugated ducts<sup>7</sup>. These tests confirmed that the #18 bars could be developed in the depth of the cap beam.



Fig. 3 Precast Pier Research Project

Two one-third scaled connections, one with fully bonded vertical bars in ducts and another debonded eight bar diameters in the cap beam, were tested under 10% axial load and were subject to cyclic lateral displacements to study their performance. Both specimens performed well to 7% drift, failing as a result of bar buckling and fracture in the hinge region. Less damage to the cap beam was observed in the debonded specimen than the bonded, which saw moderate spalling around the underside of the beam as a result of duct slip. However, both demonstrated satisfactory strength and ductility, while allowing easy and rapid erection and generous construction tolerances.

#### PRECAST BENT CAP

Precast bent cap systems eliminate the need for forming, reinforcement, casting, and curing of concrete on the jobsite removing the bent cap construction from the critical path. Fig. 4 shows a precast bent cap under construction in Washington State. The #14 column vertical reinforcement will be placed through sleeves installed in the precast bent cap. Sleeves are made of 4 in. (100 mm) diameter corrugated galvanized metal ducts allowing adequate construction tolerance and room for grouting. The completed bent cap will be performing as conventional cast-in-place concrete pier with column bars extended through the precast bent cap to the top of diaphragm.



Fig..4. Precast Bent Cap under Construction in Washington State

#### Fully Precast Bridge Bents for Use in Seismic Region

Bridge construction with prefabrication of modular components offers an attractive alternative to conventional bridges. This concept has been used for many years for bridge girders, which are often prefabricated in steel or prestressed concrete and are lifted into place once the bents have been constructed. The product innovation through Highways For Life (HFL) project consists of a totally precast concrete bridge bent system that can be used in seismic regions. The proposed system uses a small number of large bars grouted in ducts to achieve the connection between components so that it can

be constructed rapidly and safely, and in contrast with systems developed previously, it has the structural resilience to resist earthquake shaking. To apply the system in a wide range of girder bridges, the product innovation will be accompanied by a design methodology, laboratory specimen testing, as well as guidelines for fabricators, contractors, and practicing bridge engineers.

WSDOT HFL project consists of a totally precast bridge bent system, including precast segmental columns, precast bent cap, and precast superstructure as shown in Fig. 5. To accelerate construction without sacrificing seismic resistance, the beam-to-column connections are made with a small number of large-diameter reinforcing bars that are grouted into much larger-diameter ducts. The HFL project will ensure that the product can be deployed in a wide range of applications. HFL project includes four phases:

- 1. Proof testing of project-specific and alternative-design variations of the system,
- 2. Development of project-specific and general design provisions and specifications,
- 3. Development of design examples, and
- 4. Deployment of the basic system in the field.



Fig. 5. WSDOT Fully Precast Bridge Bents for Use in Seismic Region

### WSDOT Strategic Plan for Accelerated Bridge Construction

Starting in 2008, WSDOT initiated a practice development and implementation for accelerated bridge construction. WSDOT has established a task force that is headed by an ABC Advisory Committee to develop standards, guidelines, and key policies for implementing structural design for accelerated bridge construction.

Consisting of subject matter experts from the Bridge Design Office, Bridge Construction, Regions, FHWA, Consultants, Research, Precast producers, Maintenance, Materials, and other relevant fields, the task force outlined a strategic plan to develop, implement, and promote ABC practice in Washington. The WSDOT ABC team has formulated strategy and work plans with the specific tasks outlined below.

The goal of ABC is to deliver projects earlier to the traveling public; to effectively reduce the impacts of on-site construction to motorists. The Department's larger goal, as stated in its Mission/Vision statement, is to enhance mobility. Therefore, ABC should be viewed as a subset of a larger "accelerated project delivery" effort encompassing all aspects of project development through construction contract acceptance. This latter requirement stems from the fact that quite often new techniques involve unassigned risk that must be borne by the Contractor at a premium until the comfort level garnered from successes has been realized.

#### CONCLUSION

Precast prestressed concrete bridge systems are economical and effective for rapid bridge construction. Precasting eliminates traffic disruptions during bridge construction while maintaining quality and long-term performance.

Precast bridges with monolithic connections meeting the AASHTO LRFD seismic design and detailing requirements could safely be used in seismic zones. Proper seismic design entails a detailed evaluation of the connections between precast components as well as the connection between superstructure and the supporting substructure system. Monolithic connections are the key to proper seismic performance of precast bridges.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Bridge Design Manual, Publication No. M23-50, Washington State Department of Transportation, Bridge and Structures Office, Olympia, Washington, 2007.
- 2. AASHTO-LRFD Bridge Design Specifications, forth Edition, 2007.
- 3. Khaleghi, B, Seguirant, S. J., Brice, R. Flexural strength of Reinforced and Prestressed Concrete T- Beams. PCI JOURNAL, Vol. 50, January/February 2005
- 4. Khaleghi, B, Weigel, J., Seguirant, S. J., Brice, R., High Performance Precast Prestressed Concrete Girders in Washington State. PCI JOURNAL, Vol. 48. No. 2, March/April, 2004
- 5. Holombo, J., M.J.N. Priestley, and F. Seible, "Continuity of Precast Prestressed Spliced-Girder Bridge Under Seismic Loads", PCI Journal, 45(2), 40-63, March-April, 2000.
- Laila S. Cohagen Jason B.K. Pang, John F. Stanton, Marc O Eberhard Professor, A Precast Concrete Bridge Bent Designed to Re-center after an Earthquake, Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, University of Washington Transportation Center (TRAC), Agreement T4118, Task 05, August 2008

## Seismic Performance of Precast Bridge Columns with Built-in Elastomeric Pad

S. Motaref, M. Saiidi, and D. Sanders

#### ABSTRACT

A one-third scale precast concrete segmental column with an energy dissipating plastic hinge was designed and tested on a shake table at the University of Nevada, Reno. A built-in elastomeric pad integrated with the footing and a concrete segment constituted the plastic hinge. The purpose of using the pad was to minimize damage while dissipating energy through yielding of the longitudinal bars and deformation of the pad. The column was subjected to the Sylmar earthquake (Northridge 1994) record with increasing amplitudes until failure happened. Compared to conventional reinforced concrete construction, the column showed superior performance with considerable energy dissipation, minimal residual displacement, and a damage-free plastic hinge. These advantages make the proposed detail a better alternative for accelerated bridge construction in high seismic zones.

S.Motaref PhD Student, Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, University of Nevada, Reno,89557, phone: 775-327-5323; email <u>smotaref@unr.edu</u>

M. Saiidi Professor of Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, Director, Office of Undergraduate Research, Vice President for Research Office, University of Nevada, Reno,89557, phone: 775-784-4839; email saiidi@unr.edu

D. Sanders Professor of Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, University of Nevada, Reno,89557, phone: 775-784-4288; email <u>sanders@unr.edu</u>

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Conventional bridge construction involves a time consuming process associated with traffic delays and risk to public safety. In contrast, prefabricated bridge systems can expedite construction, thus minimizing traffic delays and construction site safety risk. Existing details for precast segmental columns offer minimal energy dissipation as a result of the discontinuation of longitudinal reinforcement; therefore, their usage is very limited in high seismic zones.

Many studies have been conducted since the mid 90's to investigate the use of precast building and bridge components reinforced with unbonded prestressing steel in regions with seismic activities. Tests by Priestley and MacRae (1996), Mander and Cheng (1997), Billington et al. (1999), Chou and Chen (2005), Hewes and Priestley (2002), Yamashita and Sanders (2006) revealed that precast concrete elements with unbonded tendons can undergo very larger lateral drifts while exhibit less damage and residual displacement than conventional CIP (cast-in-place) RC (reinforced concrete) (Hewes, 2007).

Yamagishi and Kawashima (2006) used the high damping rubber in plastic hinge area to minimize the damage and provide larger deformation and energy dissipation capacity.

A series of innovative precast concrete segmental column details are being proposed and studied at the University of Nevada, Reno through a research project funded by the California Department of Transportation.

The first phase of this project involved analytical and experimental study of a segmental concrete column incorporating an elastomeric bearing pad in the plastic hinge. This article presents a summary of the experimental part of the first phase of the study.

#### **SPECIMEN DETAILS**

A one-third scaled cantilever column model referred to as SBR-1 (segmental column with builtin rubber pad) was constructed and tested on a shake table under simulated earthquakes. The elastomeric pad was connected to the footing via reinforcing bars and was intended to increase the energy dissipation and to minimize the damage. An unbonded post-tensioning rod was used to connect the segments and to minimize the residual displacements. The model consisted of five segments. The base segment, including the elastomeric bearing pad in the lower part and the upper concrete part, was connected to the footing by steel longitudinal bars. The second, third, and fourth segments were identical RC segments. The fifth segment was a concrete head to connect the specimen to the mass rig system via a steel link (Figure 1. (a)).

The elastomeric bearing pad was designed by controlling the failure of the rubber when subjected to axial compression and bending moment (Aiken et al., 1989). Total height of the bearing was 8 in. composed of 21 layers of rubber, and 20 layers of steel shim. Each layer of rubber and steel was 3/16 in. and 1/8 in. thick, respectively. The shear deformation in the elastomeric bearing pad was restrained using a 3-1/2 in. diameter x-strong steel pipe used at the center of bearing. Eight shear studs were welded to the top and bottom steel plates to provide anchorage to concrete. Eight holes with 11/16 in. diameter were drilled through the bearing pad to allow for the passage of the longitudinal bars (Figure 1.(b) and (c)).



Figure 1. a) Specimen Detail b) Elastomeric Bearing c) Base Segment Detail

Column diameter was 16 in. and the column height was 72 in. leading to an aspect ratio of 4.5 for the column. The RC portion of the base segment was 12 in. high. The depth of each of the other segments was 14 in. 8-#5 bars spaced evenly in a circular pattern were used to reinforce the base segment, leading to a longitudinal steel ratio of 1.2%. This amount of steel at base segment guaranteed that the yielding of the bars precedes the gap opening. Other segments were minimally reinforced with 8-#4(a steel ratio of 0.8%). Due to the short length of these segments, the cross sections were not expected to yield within the segments, and hence only a small amount of steel was used.

The loading head and footing were designed to be sufficiently rigid and strong to remain free from damage. The Footing was 72x72x28 in. and head block was 30x30x24 in. Axial load included the gravity load of 80 kips and the post-tensioning force of 100 kips. It was corresponding to axial load index of 0.20 (Axial load index is defined as the ratio of the axial load to the product of the gross section area and the concrete compressive strength). There are no established guidelines for the level of post-tensioning force, and hence the PT force was

designed to be close to the gravity load. This force was not sufficient to prevent opening of the gaps in between the segments under moderate and higher lateral drifts.

A 1-5/8 in. diameter post-tensioning unbonded high strength Dwyidag rod was used in the column central core. Other researchers have reported a significant increase in the post-tensioning force under large drifts (Hewes and Priestley, 2001). Computer program OpenSees was used to determine the design post-tensioning force. The diameter of the rod was selected such that the maximum force in the rod does not reach the yielding point for the expected maximum 14% drift at failure.

#### COLUMN CONSTRUCTION AND TEST SET UP

Construction stages of SBR-1 included building the steel cages, pouring the footing, pouring the segments, and finally, assembling the column (Figure 2). The second and fourth segments were cast on top of the base and the third segments with match cast method. Column segments were assembled on the shake table inside the laboratory in approximately three hours. A small amount of epoxy was applied on top of each surface before placing the next segment to stabilize the segments during construction.



Figure 2. Assembling the Column at UNR Large Structural Laboratory

Figure 3. (a) shows the shake table setup of the specimen. The column was attached rigidly to the shake table and the mass rig link. The steel spreader beam was bolted to the top of the column head and two hydraulic jacks applied the axial force. Large number of instruments including, sixty four strain gauges, displacement transducers, load cells, and accelerometers were installed on the column to measure the longitudinal and transverse bar strains, axial load, lateral load, lateral displacement, curvatures, and accelerations. Details of instrumentation are provided in S. Motaref et al.

SBR-1 was subjected to a series of simulated Sylmar ground motions (Figure 3. (b)) with the acceleration amplitude scaled by an increasing factor in subsequent runs. The testing was continued until failure. To determine the dynamic characteristics of the column as the level of motions increased, a white noise motion was applied to the specimen after each earthquake motion. Table 1 displays the testing program.





Figure 3. (b) Sylmar Earthquake Time History

Table 1. Input Earthquake Amplitudes

Run	Input Ground Motion				
Α	White noise				
1	Sylmar X 0.1				
в	White noise				
2	Sylmar X 0.25				
С	White noise				
3	Sylmar X 0.5				
D	White noise				
4	Sylmar X 0.75				
E	White noise				
5	Sylmar X 1.00				
F	White noise				
6	Sylmar X 1.25				
G	White noise				
7	Sylmar X 1.50				

#### **OBSERVATION AND TEST RESULTS**

The dominating failure mode in SBR-1 was concrete crushing at the interface of base and second segments due to the gap opening and excessive rotation between base and first segment. Concrete spalled on one side of column at Run 5 ( $1 \times$  Sylmar with PGA of 0.6 g), which corresponded to the first gap opening between the base and the second segments (Figure 4. (a)). Cover crushed on both sides of base segment, and some core crushing occurred during run 7

 $(1.5 \times \text{Sylmar with PGA of } 0.9 \text{ g})$  which was considered as the failure of column (Figure 4. (b)). Column displacement at early runs was due to the rotation of elastomeric bearing and yielding of steel bars. On the other hand, at later runs, gap opening was the main source of displacement of column.

No damage was observed in the elastomeric bearing pad. The force in the unbonded rod remained under the yield force (it reached 67% of the ultimate strength during run 7). During run 6, the maximum drift ratio was 6.9% and the residual drift ratio after this run was 0.19%, indicating a very small residual drift under what could be considered as the design motion. During run 7 the maximum drift ratio was 14% and the residual drift ratio was 2.9%.





Figure 4.(a) Specimen after Run 5 (PGA 0.6g) Figure 4.(b) Specimen after Run 7 (PGA 0.9g)

Figure 5 shows the cumulative measured force-displacement curves. The maximum force of 26.5 kips and maximum displacement of 10.12 in. (14% Drift) was measured during run 7.



Figure 5. Cumulative Measured Force-Displacement Curves

A detailed OpenSees model of the column was developed and very good correlation was obtained between the measured and calculated data. The model consisted of different sections and elements, nonlinear beam-column element, elastic beam column element, corotational truss element and zero length elements to model different parts of SBR-1 (Mazzoni et al., 2006). This model was capable to simulate force, displacement, post-tensioning force, gap opening and material strain. The description of the OpenSees model is provided in S. Motaref et al. A comparison of the analytical and experimental results is also presented in S. Motaref et al.

# ADVANTAGES OF SBR-1 OVER CONVENTIONAL PRECAST SEGMENTAL CONCRETE COLUMNS

The test result revealed the potential use of SBR-1 in high seismic zones because of its advantages over conventional precast concrete column. Superiority of this detail includes construction speed, large energy dissipation, minimal damage in the plastic hinge zone and minimal residual displacement. Energy dissipation took place mostly through the rotation of elastomeric bearing and yielding of the longitudinal bars at base segment. The measured data showed that 56% of dissipated energy was due to rotation of elastomeric bearing and the rest was through the yielding of the bars. Unlike the bearing pads used in Yamagishi and Kawashima, 2006, the pad in the present study was shimmed and hence buckling of longitudinal bars was prevented.

To verify the superiority of SBR-1 over conventional precast segmental column, a conventional precast concrete segmental column with no extended bars and elastomeric bearing was modeled in OpenSees. The results showed that energy dissipation in SBR-1 was 244 % larger than that of a conventional segmental column in which the base segment is not connected to the footing by dowels.

#### CONCLUSIONS

The shake table and analytical studies of a one-third scaled cantilever precast concrete segmental column incorporating a steel shimmed elastomeric bearing pad showed that this detail can substantially reduce damage in the plastic hinge while dissipating the earthquake energy. Post-tensioning of the column minimized the residual displacement of the column. Damage to confined concrete was observed in between segments. External confinement of the segments appears to potentially delay the damage. Residual displacement and concrete damage were small in this column. The energy dissipation in SBR-1 was 80% larger than a similar conventional precast segmental column. A comprehensive OpenSees computer model of the columns was developed and very good correlation was observed between the measured and calculated results (S. Motaref et al.). The detail incorporated in SBR-1 can be a potential alternative for accelerated bridge construction in high seismic zone.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENT

The research presented in this paper was funded by the California Department of Transportation under contract No. 59A0591. The advice, comments, and support of the Caltrans project manager, Dr. Li-Hong Sheng is much appreciated. The authors would like to acknowledge the AVAR-SAS Company and Sika Corporation for donating the unbonded thread rod and post-tensioning equipment and the epoxy to this project. The authors would also like to thank P. Lucas and C. Lyttle for their help in constructing and testing column model. Special thanks go to P. Laplace for his help during every phase of the project.

#### REFERENCES

Aiken, I., J. Kelly, and F. Tajirian,, "Mechanics of low shape factor elastomeric seismic isolation bearings," *Report* No. UCB.EERC-89/13, November 1989

Hewes, J., (2007), "Seismic tests on precast segmental concrete columns with unbonded tendons, *Bridge Structures*," Vol. 3, No. 3 – 4, September – December 2007, 215 – 227

Hewes, J., and M.J.N Priestley, "Seismic design and performance of precast concrete segmental bridge columns," Report No. SSPR- 2001/25

Kawashima, K. and G. Watanabe, "Seismic Performance of Unbonded Columns and Isolator Built-in Columns based on Cyclic Loading Tests, Proceedings, IABMAS 2006, Porto, Portugal, July 2006.

Mazzoni, S., F. McKenna, M. Scott, and G. Fenves, (2006), OpenSees command language manual, 2006.

Motaref, S., M. Saiidi, and D. Sanders, "Precast bridge concrete columns with energy dissipating joint," *Report. CCEER*, in progress, (2010).

## IT Roles in Seismic ABC

S. Chen,<sup>1</sup> H. Hu,<sup>2</sup> I.-S. Ahn,<sup>3</sup> Q. Gao<sup>4</sup>

#### ABSTRACT

BrIM has burst onto the radar screen of bridge enterprise stakeholders not only in design and construction but also in operations and management. These stakeholders are increasingly realizing that a well thought out leveraging of bridge data for multiple purposes through the entire bridge lifecycle is increasingly important. Principal questions, issues, and challenges that have been raised by various stakeholder audiences hearing about BrIM will be summarized to help clarify the way forward to increased industry acceptance and deployment of BrIM-enabled workflows. In particular, aspects of using it in Accelerated Bridge Construction Scheme with particular focus on seismic considerations are discussed herein. A streamlined design approach which reduces manual data re-entry and accelerates integrated project delivery has been investigated and assessed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Associate Professor, Department of Civil, Structural and Environmental Engineering, University at Buffalo, Buffalo, NY 14260; phone: 716-645-4360; email: <u>ciechen@buffalo.edu</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Graduate Student, Department of Civil, Structural and Environmental Engineering, University at Buffalo, Buffalo, NY 14260; Department of Civil, Structural and Environmental Engineering, University at Buffalo, Buffalo, NY 14260; <u>hanjinhu@buffalo.edu</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Research Scientist, Department of Civil, Structural and Environmental Engineering, University at Buffalo, Buffalo, NY 14260; <u>iahn@buffalo.edu</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Graduate Student, Department of Computer Science and Engineering, University at Buffalo, Buffalo, NY 14260; e-mail: <u>qianggao@buffalo.edu</u>

#### **1 BACKGROUND AND INTRODUCTION**

For centuries engineering and construction activities have relied on paper-drawings as the primary representation of construction documentation. Other closely related industries have documented and/or projected reduced costs, faster delivery, and improved quality as a result of implementing 3-D CAD based integrated design and manufacturing processes along with accompanying interoperability standards. The bridge enterprise is nearing the end of an era and we in the bridge enterprise are overdue to do the same. Failure to do so has been documented as a major cost center in the closely related capital facilities industry (Gallaher et al. 2004). Advances in automation and communication technologies in recent years have been significant (Chen and Shirole' 2006), but they have not yet been fully adapted and integrated with each other and then deployed to accommodate the unique requirements of the bridge construction engineering and management enterprise. At the same time, the recent explosion of interest in integrated project delivery, e.g., (Post 2008) and (Tulacz 2008), BIM (Building Information Modeling), e.g., (Rubin 2008) and (Jordani 2008) and its closely related cousin BrIM (Bridge Information Modeling) (Chen and Shirole' 2007), (Puckett et al 2008) are raising awareness in the industry that there are significant potential efficiencies and competitive advantage to be gained by developing these integrative approaches to greater maturity. Various aspects of BrIM are increasingly being used in bridge infrastructure delivery, albeit in piecemeal fashion. Aspects of BrIM methodology are currently being used in the design and construction of large and complex bridges, such as for visualization and detailing as well as in bridge operations and management through the use of AASHTOWare. Other prior work includes that described in (Chen, 2002) and (Chen et al., 2003).

BIM is changing the product delivery model in the building industry and is certainly leading the bridge community in the area of architecture, structural and mechanical engineering integration. Fabrication and construction processes are being effectively linked as well. BIM technology is paving the way for different delivery models specifically more toward design/build where the design and construction professionals team for the entire project duration. Furthermore, all design professionals are coming on board earlier in the project lifecycle, at a time when critical decisions are made (Hall 2007). Also of note, GSA now requires BIM for their major projects (GSA 2009, Hardy 2006).

The intent is to demonstrate the viability of integrated bridge project delivery and life cycle management via a prototype integrated system that illustrates representative data exchanges and applications throughout the bridge life cycle, with focus in this paper on project delivery with particular interest in seismic aspects. This effort is motivated by the recognition that the current U.S. practice of information transfer during the bridge planning/ design/ fabrication/ construction processes involves repeated manual transcription of data that is error-prone, time – consuming approvals (e.g. of shop drawings), and a lack of standardized formats that hinder electronic information transfer. It is also being recognized that without such standards, electronic information exchange is cumbersome at best, and often not possible.

Authors are developing BrIM for a recently built 3-span bridge (Quincy Avenue Bridge over I-25 in Denver, Colorado) and modeling it for its lifecycle. The processes outlined and associated figures were derived from demonstrating BrIM for two alternative bridge designs: steel and prestressed concrete.

#### **2 THE BRIDGE ENTERPRISE**

Although at the present time there are no non-proprietary standards for electronic exchange of lifecycle bridge data, it is the vision of this project to facilitate the development of an integrated system for the entire bridge life cycle (i.e., "from cradle to grave"). In the future, a complete modeling of bridge information in standardized format can be anticipated to facilitate integration of computer-aided design (CAD), computer-aided engineering (CAE), computer-integrated manufacturing (CIM), construction engineering and management (CEM) and bridge management (BM) that will enable not only rapid and better quality project delivery but also subsequent cost-effective life-cycle management. All three fundamental objectives of bridge delivery, namely higher quality, faster delivery, and more economical cost over the bridge lifecycle, would then be attained.

Historically, in the development of various computational tools for supporting these various aspects (e.g., planning, design, detailing, estimating, fabrication, construction project management, bridge operations, and bridge management), individual aspects were typically addressed in standalone fashion without sufficient regard for complications arising from multiple data sources. Some of these complications involve the need for tedious, manual, error-prone re-entry of duplicate data into several software "stove piped" applications. If a coordinated shepherding of data supporting these individual applications were developed, bridge data integrity would be more easily maintained, and "handoff" processes from one application to another would be streamlined if not made altogether seamless.

Just such an attempted coordinated shepherding of bridge data is shown in Figure 1, which shows a conceptual view of the organization of representative aspects of the "cradle-to-grave" bridge design and construction enterprise and how they each depend on bridge data represented in the center of the diagram. A coordinated handling and leveraging of that data could prevent the proliferation of problems resulting from multiple (potentially inconsistent) sources of bridge data.

How information flows among particular applications is shown in Fig. 2 for a steel bridge superstructure and in Fig. 3 for a concrete bridge superstructure, respectively. It should be noted that the particular commercial software applications appearing in these figures are just examples based on particular applications investigated by the project team. Advantages of combining BrIM with seismic ABC include the following. First, BrIM can accelerate project delivery from bridge seismic design to bridge construction. For example, after designing the rebar size and number from SAP2000, the data can be passed to detailing software like Tekla to form the rebar lists automatically. Second, the virtual assembly and visualization function can help contractors avoid conflicts before construction, which minimize the traffic interruption due to rework. There are significant potential benefits to be obtained by investigating this approach.



Figure 1. Data Model Centric View of the Bridge Enterprise



Figure 2. Workflow and Software Interoperabilities: Steel Alternate



Figure 3. Workflow and Software Interoperabilities: Concrete Alternate

### **3 CASE STUDY BRIDGE**

Figure 4 shows the case study bridge configuration used in this study. The Quincy Avenue Bridge over I-25 in Denver, Colorado is a 3-span continuous bridge with a cast-in-place reinforced concrete deck. The bridge is 76 ft wide, and its span configuration is 45.5 ft - 122 ft -109.5 ft as shown in Figure 1. The bridge has two skew angles,  $21.25^{\circ}$  and  $26.19^{\circ}$ . Seven BT72 prestressed concrete girders are spaced at 11ft-3in center-to-center. The deck consists of an 8 in structural thickness with a 2 in integral wearing surface (IWS). Each pier bent has five 3 ft-diameter columns. The bent cap beam is 3 ft-6 in wide and 4 ft deep.



**Figure 4. Superstructure Configuration** 

#### **4 DESIGN STAGE**

Figure 5 shows a portion of the quantitative data input/verification for the concrete girder alternative of the bridge case study considered in this investigation. As indicated in Fig. 3, this data was electronically passed into BridgeWare (Opis) and further "downstream," e.g., using XML in order to avoid redundant data entry.

Specification checks are performed on the trial section and can be inspected either for the concrete alternate or for the steel alternate. Figure 6 shows a portion of the specification checks performed by Opis on the steel alternate of the Quincy Avenue case study bridge. The software linkage that takes data from MathCad (see Fig. 2) into Opis for this check is illustrated in Fig. 7, which shows quantitative data in the MathCad worksheet that is passed using XML into Opis, for which the Opis Explorer is shown in Fig. 7.

In turn, the bridge model is transferred from BridgeWare (Opis) to SAP2000. In SAP2000/Bridge, users can construct the design response spectrum by defining the site classes and the bridge location using the latitude and longitude or the postal zone. From the response spectrum form, the values for  $S_{DS}$  and  $S_{D1}$  are determined by SAP2000. Based on the resulting case study bridge's Seismic Design Category (SDC), SAP2000 calculates the displacement demand based on the response spectrum defined by users and calculates the displacement capacity using the equations provided by AASHTO Seismic Guide Specification.

After the displacement capacity analyses have been completed, SAP2000/Bridge reports the displacement demands, displacement capacities, and the ratio of the Demand/Capacity displacements.

#### **5 DESIGN INTO CONSTRUCTION**

Figure 8 shows a 3D view of a portion of the bridge computer model that would have been used to generate design and construction information, including contract plans and shop drawings. That model has its geometry generated such that its geometry is entirely consistent with the roadway stationing, plan, and profile on which the bridge lies. Drawings in turn are (merely) extracted sections from such a model, an example of which is shown in Figure 9.



Figure 5. Concrete Girder Data Input/Verification

Opis - [Specification Checks for Steel Pl	late Alternative - 7550 of 40851]					- 8 🗙
🕰 File Edit View Bridge Window Help						_ 8 ×
] C # E 6   b b   % b 6   8 4	•					
🖪 🛍 🗞						
1927   🗚 🕄 ALL NAT   🖻 🕕	¥					
🗗 💷   🖩 📲 🖀 💩 🖝 🐂 🕮   🔨 🌶						
2						
🖃 🧰 STAGES	Specification Reference	Limit State	Flex. Sense	Pass/Fail		~
😑 🔄 Stage 1	Non-composite Elastic Section Properties	STRENGTH-I	Positive Flexure	General C		
Span 1 - 22.77 ft.	D6.1 Plastic Moment	STRENGTH-I	Positive Flexure	General C		
🚞 Span 1 - 0.00 ft.	✓ 6.10.2.1.1-1 Web Proportions: Web Without Longitudinal Stiffeners	STRENGTH-I	N/A	Passed		
Span 1 - 4.55 ft.	✓ 6.10.2.2 Flange Proportions	STRENGTH-I	N/A	Passed		
🧰 Span 1 - 9.10 ft.	6.10.2.2 Flange Proportions	STRENGTH-I	N/A	Passed		
🚞 Span 1 - 13.65 ft.	Non-composite Elastic Section Properties	STRENGTH-I	Negative Flexure	General C		
🚞 Span 1 - 18.20 ft.	D6.1 Plastic Moment	STRENGTH-I	Negative Flexure	General C		
🚞 Span 1 - 22.75 ft.	D6.2.1 Yield Moment: Noncomposite Sections	SERVICE-II	Negative Flexure	General C		
🚞 Span 1 - 27.30 ft.	6.10.1.10.1-1 Hybrid Factor	SERVICE-II	Negative Elexure	General C		
🚞 Span 1 - 31.85 ft. Spec Cher	rk Detail for Design Ratio Computations				1000	
- 📄 Span 1 - 36.40 ft.	an betatt fer beolgit fatte benipatations					
- 📄 Span 1 - 40.95 ft.						
- 📄 Span 1 - 45.50 ft.	PEDENDWING DESIGN DATIO COMPUTATIONS: Stress (Flevure)	Stress in Bot	ton Flance)			
Span 2 - 0.00 ft.	Point of Interest : 105.00	. DOLEDD IN DOC	(com ridinge)			
- 🔄 Span 2 - 12.20 ft.	Construction Stage: 1	Resistance	-	-56.000		
- 📄 Span 2 - 24.40 ft.	LL Combination No.: 1	Dead Load	-	-2.137		
- 📄 Span 2 - 36.60 ft.	Limit State : SERVICE II	Live Load	-	0.000		
Span 2 - 48.80 ft.	Units : ksi	Design Ratio	= 26.208			
🚞 Span 2 - 61.00 ft.						
🧰 Span 2 - 73.20 ft.						
- 📄 Span 2 - 85.40 ft.						
					~	
- 📄 Span 2 - 109.80 ft.					2	
- 📄 Span 2 - 122.00 ft.						
📄 Span 3 - 0.00 ft.					OK	
- 📄 Span 3 - 10.95 ft.						
- 🔄 Span 3 - 21.90 ft.	In the composite clastic sector reported	STREAMINT	модаато похаго	Gondrarenn		
- 🚞 Span 3 - 32.85 ft.	Non-composite Elastic Section Properties	STRENGTH-I	Positive Flexure	General C		
- 🚞 Span 3 - 43.80 ft.	Non-composite Elastic Section Properties	STRENGTH-I	Negative Flexure	General C		
- 📄 Span 3 - 54.75 ft.	Non-composite Elastic Section Properties	STRENGTH-I	Positive Flexure	General C		
- 🚍 Span 3 - 65.70 ft.	Non-composite Elastic Section Properties	STRENGTH-I	Negative Flexure	General C		
🛁 Span 3 - 76.65 ft.	D6.2.1 Yield Moment: Noncomposite Sections	STRENGTH-I	Negative Flexure	General C		
- 🚞 Span 3 - 87.60 ft.	6.10.1.10.1-1 Hybrid Factor	STRENGTH-I	Negative Flexure	General C		
	6.10.1.10.2 Web Load-Shedding Factor	STRENGTH-I	Negative Flexure	General C		
	6.10.6.2.3 Composite Sections in Negative Flexure and Noncomposite	STRENGTH-I	Negative Flexure	Passed		~
En liste avera Ci	- I de la casa de la c					NU INA

Figure 6. Specification Checking in Opis (Steel Alternate)



Figure 7. Linking from MathCad to Opis via XML



Figure 8. 2D View of a Portion of the Bridge Computer Model

Detailing for fabrication follows on the heels of the final design. That final design culminated in a set of construction documents for which bids could be prepared, but those documents typically do not contain all information needed for fabrication and construction. Hence the usual detailing phase, in which all relevant design data traditionally is manually re-entered by the contractor/fabricator in order to generate shop drawings containing all information needed for fabrication.

In an integrated workflow proposed and envisioned herein, the bridge model data used for final design documentation itself becomes the electronic starting point for the addition of detailing information consistent with both the contractors' means and methods and the design intent (the latter presumably verified as part of the shop drawing review process). Thus, timeconsuming error-prone manual re-entry of data is avoided. Having the same model shared with "downstream" CEM operations is a significant advantage. Multiple versions of bridge data do not proliferate and require disambiguation. Updates to the data have clearly defined access mechanisms to prevent this proliferation.



Figure 9. 2D Bridge Cross Section Drawing Extracted Directly from 3D Model

For electronic data exchange purposes, even in lieu of industry-wide standards there are several approaches that may be taken. Among these, we have test-driven application-specific API's (Application Programming Interfaces), XML (eXtensible Markup Language), and direct export of CNC (Computer Numerical Control) files when such export is supported by the detailing software. These are used for transferring design model data into the detailing software in order to avoid duplicate data entry and for export to CNC-driven shop equipment. Such equipment exists for such tasks as hole-drilling, automated welding, and rebar bending, for example. Thus, with a suitably equipped fabrication shop and raw material lined up, it is technically possible to start fabricating as soon as the detailing is approved – and the shop itself has no need for "shop drawings"!

In detailing software application, Figure10 shows a portion of a bridge superstructure model, the girders (data) for which were imported using the API or XML.



Figure 10. Portion of Steel Superstructure Model in Steel Detailing Application

This detailing model has associated with the bolted connections shown all data needed for material procurement (e.g., bolt diameters, grades, lengths, washers, etc). Similarly, for welded connections this detailing model has electrode information, total lengths of welds of various sizes, in short all quantity information that would be needed by a fabricator to conduct a detailed estimate of fabrication costs. Figure 11 shows the export of CNC files directly from the detailing software as described above, for direct use by suitable shop equipment.



Figure 11. CNC File Export

As shown in Figures 2 and 3, quantity information from the model can be exported to an estimating application. Just as 2D drawings are merely reports generated from the model, bill of material lists are similarly reports generated from the model. These reports, furthermore, are guaranteed to be consistent with the information contained in the model. These quantity reports can be used for cost estimating or for actual material procurement. Interfacing such a list (e.g., in a spreadsheet software application) to a unit price database then provides the means to carry out cost estimating based on the extracted model quantities. Figure 12 shows a sample screen from the estimating application being used in the present study.

	item Number	Bid Qty/ Takeoff Qty	Calc. Unit/ Unit Cost	Bid Unit	Total Bid Total Cos	/ Maikup %	Item Spread \$34,156	Print Subtotal	Labor Unit	Labor Ant \$72,791	Equi		
	201.06 LS	1.000	2315.115	23 <b>0</b> 0 000	2300.0	22.6	424.38	_	911.37	911.37	5		
"	CLEARING AND GRUBBING	1.000	1875.615		1875.6	2							
	203.02 CY	290.000	37.724	38.000	11020.0	24.3	21 56.92	_	15.71	4556.03			
	UNCLASSIFIED EXCAVATION AND D	290.000	30.562		B863.0	в							
	203.21 CY	180.000	65.057	65.000	11700.0	23.3	2212.75	-	24.95	4490.65			
	SELECT STRUCTURE FILL	180.000	52.707		9487.2	5							
	206.01 CY	290.000	20.570	20.000	5900.0	20.0	20.0 967.13	-	. 11.31	3280.91			
	STRUCTURE EXCAVATION	290.000	16.665		4032.0	7							
	206.02 CY	70.000	18.938	19.000	1330.0	J 23.8	256.03	-	-	10.42	729.09		
	TRENCH AND CULVERT EXCAVATIO	70.000	15.342		1073.9	7							
	207.10 SY	270.000	7.107	7.000	1890.0	21.6	335.46	-	4.01	1081.54			
	GEOTEXTILE BEDDING	270.000	5.758		1554.5	4							
	207.16 SY	50.000	12.672	12.000	600.0	16.9	B6.69	_	4.33	216.31			
	PREFABRICATED COMPOSITE INTE	50.000	10.266		513.3	1							
	3D4.15 CY	15.000	73.359	75.000	1125.0	26.2	233.51	233.51	_	36.45	546.82		
	SUBBASE COURSE, OPTIONAL TYP	15.000	59.433		891.4	9							
	403.199902 TON	15.000	302,458	300.000	4500.0	22.4	024.40	22.4 024.40	_ 121.44	121.44	1921.53		
	HOT MIX ASPHALT. TYPE 7 TOP CO	15.000	245.040		3675.6	3675.60							
	555.0104 CY	27.000	507.476	500.000	13500.0	21.6	2399.29	2399.29	2399.29	_	248.30	6704.15	
	FOOTING CONCRETE, CLASS A	27.000	411.137		11100.7	1							
F	555.0105 CY	22.000	1917.929	1800.000	39600.0	15.8	5415.72	5415.7	_	1055.67	23246.64	З	
	CONCRETE FOR STRUCTURES, CL	22.000	1553.031		34184.2	Ð							
F	556.0201 PDUND	4200.000	1.251	1.250	5250.0	23.3	992.66	992.66	_	D.16	683.72		
	UNCOATED BAR REINFORCEMENT	4200.000	1.014		4257.3	4							
	15558.50 SQ. FT.	852.000	4.118	4.000	3408.0	19.9	565.55	-	2.34	1994.13			
	MEMBRANE WATER PROOFING SYS	852.000	3.335		2842.4	5							

Figure 12. Bridge Project Cost Estimating Screen

The model detailing software also has capabilities for incorporating "4D" (i.e., time or sequence based) information into the model for use in construction planning. This kind of capability is increasingly being provided in 3D CAD software applications (de Vries and Harink 2007). "User attribute" data fields associated with the various bridge component objects in the CAD model can be used for such things as erection phasing and material management (both for shipping bills of lading and for on-site material management) as well as for interfacing with Scheduling software applications such as MS Project. Figure 13 shows a glimpse of 4D modeling of a case study bridge for erection sequence planning purposes.



Figure 13. 4 Modeling for Erection Sequence Planning

Companion structural analysis software in some cases has the capability to selectively turn "on" or "off" not-yet-erected bridge components in order to evaluate structural safety of partially braced partially constructed conditions, or of differing deck concrete pouring sequence scenarios (e.g., in order to evaluate bearing uplift potential).

#### **6 SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS**

This paper has described an overview of current ongoing work to conceptualize and demonstrate key aspects of bridge information modeling (BrIM) for the lifecycle with particular incorporation of seismic concerns. This approach involves a comprehensive shepherding of bridge design, and construction data that can in turn be "handed off" to subsequent operation and maintenance data management to span the entire lifecycle. Highlights of this approach and accompanying software demonstration include the following:

- Use of a comprehensive "cradle to grave" view of the data needed to support bridge lifecycle activities, and
- Tools and technologies (e.g., XML, API's) are proliferating which make possible reliable electronic exchange of bridge data in support of lifecycle applications, although resulting solutions are then necessarily ad-hoc, and demonstrations of implemented software linkages is in the context of two 3-span straight grade separation bridges.

Advances in automation and communication technologies in recent years have been significant, but they have not yet been fully adapted and integrated with each other and then deployed to accommodate the unique requirements of the bridge construction engineering and management enterprise. Other industries have experienced significant time and cost savings when an integrated approach was utilized for project delivery (Post 2009a). Examples of other industries that have experienced significant time and cost savings are; building (GM plant, Denver Museum), ship-building (Queen Mary II completely built and on the ocean in two years). The ENR citations in the paper are intended to provide a brief pointer to other industries that have benefited from deployment of related technologies. However, the AE industry is learning and continuing to report successes, shortfalls, suggestions for implementation (Post 2009b) including discussions of adjustments to recently developed model contract language to address liability concerns (Post 2009c).

The lack of industry-wide standards for interoperability and compatibility continue to contribute to the bridge industry's lag behind the building industry in BIM/BrIM related areas. The bridge industry can expect to have experience similar to the building industry. The integrated project delivery approach (BrIM) encourages a more holistic life-cycle cost perspective when considering issues of cost. There currently exists no data upon which to make an informed statement as to the effect of BrIM on design costs. Under BrIM the actual design tasks will be no different than currently required of a bridge designer and as such should not affect the design costs. However, BrIM will enable the designer to explore and evaluate more alternative designs at much less additional cost than currently possible. Additional tasks in the application of BrIM methodology will be model creation and management through the bridge life cycle, not just the design phase, cost of which, based upon experiences in other industries, will be more than compensated through the time and cost savings during construction phase alone

#### **7 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

Funding support Federal Highway Administration and assistance from its Contracting Officer's Technical Representative, Mr. Krishna Verma, is gratefully acknowledged, as is earlier support from the National Cooperative Highway Research Program and technical advice from their oversight panels. The opinions and conclusions expressed or implied in the report are those of the authors. They are not necessarily those of the Transportation Research Board, the National Research Council, the Federal Highway Administration, the American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials, or the individual states participating in the National Cooperative Highway Research Program. The contributions of collaborators A. Shirole', T. Riordan, J. Puckett, and current and former graduate students J. Li, R. Srikonda, V. Tangirala, R. Patil, N. Kannan, and K. Potturi are gratefully acknowledged.

#### REFERENCES

- American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials. (2008), AASHTOWare 2008 Catelog, Pontis and Virtis, http://aashtoware.org/sites/aashtoware/docs/FY2009\_AASHTOWare\_Catalogfinal.pdf.
- Bentley Systems, Inc., "Bentley SuperLoad<sup>TM</sup>: Automated Oversize/Overweight Vehicle Permits," http://www.bentley.com/en-US/Products/SUPERLOAD/Product-Overview.htm (accessed June 2008).
- Chen, S. S., ed., "Computer Integrated Steel Bridge Design and Construction: Expanding Automation," Workshop Report to the Federal Highway Administration and National Steel Bridge Alliance, http://www.fhwa.dot.gov/bridge/automate.htm (April 2002).
- Chen, S. S., N. Kannan, R. B. Patil, and K. Potturi, "Evaluation of 3D Computer Modeling and Electronic Information Transfer for Efficient Design and Construction of Steel Bridges," Revised Draft Final Report on Project 20-7, Task 149, National Cooperative Highway Research Program (NCHRP), November 2003.
- Chen, S. S., and Shirole', A. M. (2006). "Integration of Information and Automation Technologies in Bridge Engineering and Management: Extending State of the Art," *Journal of the Transportation Research Board*, No. 1976, 3-12.
- Chen, S. S., and Shirole', A. M. (2007). "Parametric 3D-Centric Design and Construction of Steel Bridges," *Proceedings of the 2007 World Steel Bridge Symposium*, National Steel Bridge Alliance, New Orleans, LA, December 2007.
- Gallaher, M. P., O'Connor, A. C., Dettbarn, J. L., and L. T. Gilday, "Cost Analysis of Inadequate Inoperability in the Capital Facilities Industry," National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) Technical Report No. NIST GCR-04-867, August 2004, 210 pp., http://www.bfrl.nist.gov/oae/publications/gcrs/04867.pdf (Apr. 2009).
- GSA (2009). General Services Administration, "3D-4-D Building Information Modeling,", http://www.gsa.gov/Portal/gsa/ep/contentView.do?contentType=GSA\_OVERVIEW&contentId=2091 7, April
- Hall, D.B. (2007). "AIA BIM Awards," AIA Technology in Architectural Practice.
- Hardy, M. (2006). "GSA Mandates Guilding Information Modeling," Federal Computer Week, Nov. 20.
- Jordani, D. (2008). "BIM: A Healthy Disruption to a Fragmented and Broken Process," *Journal of Building Information Modeling*, Spring, 24 – 26.
- Post, N. M. (2008). "Model Contracts: Job Collaboration Raises Many Issues," *Engineering News-Record*, June 2, 10 – 11.
- Post, N.M. (2009a). "Digging into 3D Modeling Unearths Many Worms," Engineering News-Record, May 4.
- Post, N.M. (2009b). "3D Modeling Spurs Architect To Reorganize Divisions of Labor," Engineering News-Record, May 4.
- Post, N. M. (2009c) "Model Contract for Integrated Project Delivery is on Hot Seat," ENR, May 2009
- Puckett, J., Chen, S., Shirole', A., Srikonda, R., and Gao, Q. (2008). "Parametric 3D-Centric Design and Construction of Concrete Bridges," *Proceedings of the 2008 National Concrete Bridge Conference*, National Concrete Bridge Council, St. Louis, MO.
- Rubin, D. K. (2008). "BIManiacs: Innovation Obsession Makes Mortenson The Heartland Heavyweight," Engineering News-Record, June 9, 28 – 31.
- Sawyer, T. (2009). "Not for the Faint of Heart, Expecting a Win with BIM," Engineering News-Record, May 4, 2009.
- Shirole', A. M., "Bridge Management to the Year 2000 and Beyond," 7<sup>th</sup> TRB Conference on Bridge Management, September 1993.
- Tulacz, G. J. (2008). "The Top 100 Design-Builders Construction Managers Program Managers: Is There a Revolution on the Doorstep?," *Engineering News-Record*, June 9, 34-36.

## Section 3

## **Summary and Future Research Needs**

The workshop participants discussed the specific deliverables of the MCEER research project and the importance of focusing the outcomes of this workshop to ensure that discoveries from both are included in the project deliverables. A technical monograph is planned as one of these deliverables. The monograph will include practical analysis and design guidelines that encompass rocking and CIP-emulative connection philosophies and approaches for the design of segmental columns of typical bridges with precast configurations, and their interconnections for accelerated bridge construction in seismic regions. These guidelines will be supplemented by the results from shake table experiments of the bridge system being conducted by MCEER and illustrated in the form of complementary worked step-by-step design examples.

The workshop assembled a diverse international group of researchers, who presented work-inprogress research and joined together in discussions that addressed various issues at the intersection of modular precast concrete accelerated bridge construction and seismic analysis and design. Several of the research advances presented have been deployed in actual bridge construction projects on at least a trial basis. Recommendations for further research are provided below based on the group discussions.

Key challenges and issues that must be addressed in order to eventually achieve widespread deployment of the types of technologies presented at this workshop include the following:

- The prevalence of existing code provisions that make "CIP-emulative" approaches easier to implement than alternative (e.g., "rocking-column" "ED-bars") approaches.
- Reliable characterization and performance of cyclic behavior of gap-opening-and-closing behavior.
- Combining the multiple approaches at the designer's disposal into a comprehensive and integrated framework for future revisions of the *AASHTO Guide Specifications* for *LRFD Seismic Bridge Design* and the *AASHTO Guide Specifications for Seismic Isolation Design* to incorporate rocking-column approaches with and without supplemental damping (e.g., as provided by ED-bars).
- Keep the "door open" in any newly proposed guidelines for engineering practice to incorporate multiple hazards considerations in the future.

Recommendations for future research and development include the following:

• Solicit greater input from the design and contracting communities in the assessment of design and detailing concepts (e.g., for constructability and economic assessment), to build upon their involvement in the monograph's companion design examples document.

- Include local connection-oriented studies to sufficiently populate the database(s) of lowcycle fatigue behavior of each key component of capacity-designed elements in the seismic load path of each type of seismic force resisting system for typical bridges (there are currently three types).
- Incorporate studies oriented toward global/system performance, understanding system behavior and simplified methods that are suitable for design offices to allow designers to efficiently explore the principal options available for using seismically-resilient ABC for a given crossing.

## Appendix A Workshop Participants

#### Workshop Co-Chairs

W. Philip Yen Federal Highway Administration Office of Infrastructure R & D Seismic Hazard Mitigation (HRDI-07) 6300 Georgetown Pike McLean, VA 22101-2200 Phone: 202-493-3056 Email: *wen-huei.yen@fhwa.dot.gov* 

George C. Lee Department of Civil, Structural and Environmental Engineering 429 Bell Hall University at Buffalo, State University at New York Buffalo, NY 14260 Phone: 716- 645-3397 Email: gclee@buffalo.edu

#### **Workshop Recorders**

Stuart Chen Department of Civil, Structural and Environmental Engineering 226 Ketter Hall University at Buffalo, State University at New York Buffalo, NY 14260 Phone: 716-645-4360 Email: *ciechen@eng.buffalo.edu* 

Il-Sang Ahn Department of Civil, Structural and Environmental Engineering 212 Ketter Hall University at Buffalo, State University at New York Buffalo, NY 14260 Phone: 716-645-5152 Email: *iahn@buffalo.edu* 

#### **Other Participants**

Amjad Aref Department of Civil, Structural and Environmental Engineering 235 Ketter Hall University at Buffalo, State University at New York Buffalo, NY 14260 Phone: 716-645-4369 Email: *aaref@eng.buffalo.edu* 

Kuo-Chun Chang Department of Civil Engineering 449 Engineering Building No.1, Sec. 4, Roosevelt Road National Taiwan University Taipei, 106 Taiwan Phone: 886-2-23638608; 886-2-23630231 ext 3204-20 Email: *ciekuo@ntu.edu.tw* 

Marc Eberhard Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering 233A More Hall, Box 352700 University of Washington Seattle, WA 98195-2700 Phone: 206-543-4815 Email: *eberhard@u.washington.edu* 

Jun-ichi Hoshikuma Center of Advanced Engineering Structural Assessment and Research Public Works Research Institute 1-6 Minamihara Tsukuba, Ibaraki, 305-8516 Japan Phone: 81-29-879-6773 Email: *hosikuma@pwri.go.jp*  Jugesh Kapur Bridge and Structures Office Washington State Department of Transportation P.O. Box 47340 Olympia, WA 98504-7340 Phone: 360-705-7200 Email: *kapurju@WSDOT.wa.gov* 

Bijan Khaleghi Bridge and Structures Office Washington State Department of Transportation P.O. Box 47340 Olympia, WA 98504-7340 Phone: 360-705-7181 Email: *khalegb@WSDOT. wa.gov* 

Yu-Chen Ou Department of Construction Engineering #43, Sec.4, Keelung Rd. National Taiwan University of Science and Technology Taipei, 106 Taiwan Phone: 886-2-2730-1055 Email: *yuchenou@mail.ntust.edu.tw* 

M. Saiid Saiidi Department of Civil Engineering Mail Stop 258 University of Nevada, Reno Reno, NV 89557 Phone: 775-784-4839 Email: *saiidi@unr.edu* 

Junichi Sakai Center of Advanced Engineering Structural Assessment and Research Public Works Research Institute 1-6 Minamihara Tsukuba, Ibaraki, 305-8516 Japan Phone: 81-29-879-6773 Email: *sakai55@pwri.go.jp*  John Stanton Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering 214D More Hall, Box 352700 University of Washington Seattle, WA 98195-2700 Phone: 206-543-6057 Email: *stanton@u.washington.edu* 

Yoshihiko Taira Prestressed Concrete Works Design Department Sumitomo Mitsui Construction Co. Ltd. 1-38-1, Chuo, Nakano-Ku Tokyo, 164-0011 Japan Phone: 81-3-5337-2134 Email: *ytaira@smcon.co.jp* 

## INTERNATIONAL SPECIALTY WORKSHOP ON SEISMIC CONNECTION DETAILS FOR SEGMENTAL BRIDGE CONSTRUCTION SEATTLE, WASHINGTON, JULY 22 – 24, 2009

Workshop co-chairs: W. Philip Yen and George C. Lee Workshop recorders: Stuart Chen and Il-Sang Ahn

### **Workshop Objectives**

- Share views and knowledge among experts on state-of-research and state-of-practice on seismic connection details of segmental bridges.
- Seek advice from experts on the focus and contents of the proposed MCEER monograph on seismic ABC.
- Develop a workshop report to consist of short papers (4-8 pages each) on analysis, design, construction, case studies, examples, references on connection details of segmental bridges in seismic regions.

## **Tentative Agenda**

### Tuesday, July 21 - Arrival

## Wednesday, July 22 (meeting room TBD)

7:00 – 8:00 am	Continental breakfast and registration* * <i>All presenters provide presentation material to be loaded in the presentation laptop.</i>			
8:00 – 9:30 am	Session I:			
8:00 - 8:15	Introduction, Welcome and Agenda	Yen/Lee		
8:15 - 8:30	Opening Remarks	Myint Lwin		
8:30 - 9:00	Overview of MCEER ABC Project and Objectives of Workshop	Yen/Lee		
9:00 - 9:30	MCEER Monograph on Seismic ABC	Aref		
9:30 - 10:00	General Discussion, revision of agenda	Yen/Lee		
10:00 - 10:20 am	Break			

10:20 – 12:00 pm	Session II:			
10:20 - 10:35 10:35 - 10:45	Design of Precast Concrete Bridge Structure $\Omega \& A$	Jun-ichi Hoshikuma		
10:45 - 11:00	Precast Segmental Concrete Bridge Columns with High Performance Steel Rebar as ED Bars	Yu-Chen Ou		
11:00 - 11:10	Q & A			
11:10 - 11:25	A Study on Restorable Precast Prestressed Hybrid Piers	Yoshihiko Taira		
11:25 - 11:35	Q & A			
11:35 - 11:50	Development of Design Method of Precast Segmental Concrete Bridge Column	Junichi Sakai		
11:50 - 12:00	Q & A			
12:00 – 1:20 pm	Lunch Break (Group Photo)			
1:20 – 3:00 pm	Session III:			
1:20 – 1:35	Analytical and Experimental Investigation of Precast Segmental Bridge System	Amjad Aref		
1:35 – 1:45	Q & A			
1:45 - 2:00	Research and Application of Precast Segmental Concrete Bridge Columns in Taiwan	Kuo-Chun Chang		
2:00 - 2:10	Q & A			
2:10-2:25	Univ. of Wash. Research Activities on Seismic ABC	John Stanton/Marc Eberhard		
2:25 - 2:35	Q & A			
2:35 - 2:50	Presentation by Washington DOT	Jugesh Kapur/ Bijan Khaleghi		
2:50 - 3:00	Q & A			
3:00 – 3:20 pm	Break			
3:20 – 5:00 pm	Session IV:			
3:20 - 3:35	Segmental Bridge Columns with Damage-Free Plastic Hinges	Saiid Saiidi		
3:35 - 3:45	Q & A			
3:45-4:00	Design of Integral Abutment in Japan	Masahiro Shirato		
4:00 - 4:10	Q & A			
4:10 - 4:40	IT Roles in Seismic ABC	Stuart Chen		
4:40 - 4:50	Q & A			
4:50 – 5:30 pm	Summary of Day One and Agenda of Day Two	Aref and Chen		
6:30 pm	Dinner (hosted by MCEER)			
INTERNATIONAL SPECIALTY WORKSHOP ON SEISMIC CONNECTION DETAILS FOR SEGMENTAL BRIDGE CONSTRUCTION

# Thursday, July 23

8:00 – 8:30 am	Continental breakfast	
8:30 – 10:00 am	Discussion Session I	Aref and Chen
10:00 – 10:30 am	Break	
10:30 – 12:00 pm	Discussion Session II	Aref and Chen
12:00 – 1:30 pm	Lunch	
1:30 – 3:00 pm	Wrap-up, Summary and Conclusion	Lee and Yen
3:00 pm	Adjournment	

# Friday, July 24

Optional Post-Workshop Technical Tour – WADOT (Details will be available.)

# Appendix C Presentations

Welcome/Overview George Lee

Development of Monograph on Seismic Accelerated Bridge Construction *Amjad Aref* 

Recent Research Activities for Seismic Design of Segmental Concrete Bridge Columns *Jun-ichi Hoshikuma* 

Precast Segmental Concrete Bridge Columns with High Performance Steel Rebar as ED Bars *Yu-Chen Ou* 

A Study on Restorable Precast Prestressed Hybrid Piers *Yoshihiko Taira* 

Development of Design Method of Precast Segmental Concrete Bridge Columns Junichi Sakai

Analytical and Experimental Investigation of Precast Segmental Bridge System *Amjad Aref* 

Research and Application of Precast segmental Concrete Bridge Columns in Taiwan *Kuo-Chun Chang* 

Accelerating Bridge Construction in Regions of High Seismicity John Stanton and Marc Eberhard

Seismic Connection of Precast Concrete Bridges in Washington State Jugesh Kapur and Bijan Khaleghi

Segmental Bridge Columns with Damage-Free Plastic Hinges *S. Motaref, M. Saiidi and D. Sanders* 

IT Roles in Seismic ABC *Stuart Chen* 

International Specialty Workshop on Seismic Connection Details for Segmental Bridge Construction Seattle, Washington, July 22 – 24, 2009			
Workshop Agenda			
Tuesday, July 21 - Arrival			
<u>Wednesday, July 22</u> 7:00 – 8:00 am	Continental breakfast and registration* * All presenters provide presentation material to be loaded in the presentation computer.		
8:00 - 9:30 am Session I:			
8:00 - 8:15	Introduction, Welcome and Agenda	Yen/Lee	
8:15 - 8:30	Opening Remarks	Myint Lwin	
8:30 - 9:00	Overview of MCEER ABC Project and Objectives of Workshop	Yen/Lee	
9:00 - 9:30	MCEER Monograph on Seismic ABC	Aref	
9:30 - 10:00	General Discussion, revision of agenda	Yen/Lee	
10:00 - 10:20 am	Break		
WINCEER EARTHQUAKE ENGINEERING TO EXTREME EVENTS			



Int	International Specialty Workshop on Seismic Connection Details for Segmental Bridge Construction			
		Workshop Agenda (Cont'd)		
Wednes	sday, July 22 (o	cont'd)		
1:20-	3:00 pm	Session III:		
	1:20 - 1:35	Analytical and Experimental Investigation of Precast Segmental Bridge System	Amjad Aref	
	1:35 - 1:45	Q & A		
	1:45 - 2:00	Research and Application of Precast Segmental Concrete Bridge Columns in Taiwan	Kuo-Chun Chang	
	2:00 - 2:10	Q & A		
	2:10-2:25	Univ.WA Research Activities on Seismic ABC	John Stanton/	
	2:25 - 2:35	Q & A	Marc Eberhard	
	2:35 - 2:50	Presentation by Washington DOT	Jugesh Kapur/Bijan Khaleghi	
	2:50 - 3:00	Q & A		
3:00 -	3:20 pm	Break		
3:20 -	5:00 pm	Session IV:		
	3:20 - 3:35	Segmental Bridge Columns with Damage-Free Plastic Hinges	Saiid Saiidi	
	3:35 - 3:45	Q & A		
	3:45 - 4:00	Design of Integral Abutment in Japan	Masahiro Shirato	
	4:00 - 4:10	Q & A		
	4:10-4:25	IT Roles in Seismic ABC	Stuart Chen	
	4:25 - 4:35	Q & A		
4:35 -	5:15 pm	Summary of Day One and Plans for Day Two	Aref and Chen	
		6:30 pm Dinner (hosted by MCEER)		
		MCEER EARTHQUAKE ENGINEERING TO EXTREME EVE	NTS	



Workshop Agenda (Cont'd)

#### Thursday, July 23

8:00 - 8:30 am	Continental breakfast		
8:30 - 10:00 am	Discussion Session I	Aref and Chen	
10:00 - 10:30 am	Break		
10:30 – 12:00 pm	Discussion Session II	Aref and Chen	
12:00 – 1:30 pm	Lunch		
1:30 – 3:00 pm	Wrap-up, Summary and Conclusion	Yen and Lee	
3:00 pm	Adjournment		
<u>riday, July 24</u> ptional Post-Workshop Technical Tour – WADOT Details will be available.)			
MINGEER EARTHQUAKE ENGINEERING TO EXTREME EVENTS			







HAT MCEER EARTHQUAKE ENGINEERING TO EXTREME EVENTS

#### International Specialty Workshop

#### MCEER Research Tasks Described in this Workshop

- Presentations by MCEER Researchers
  - Substructures (A US-Taiwan Cooperative Research Project) (Lee – US side PI)
  - Tentative Outline of Monograph (Aref)
  - Superstructures and Systems Performance (Aref)
  - IT System for ABC (Chen)
- Presentation on substructures by NCREE Researchers
  - Use of Seismic Isolation Bearings (Chang-Taiwan side PI)
  - · Connection Details for Segmental Piers (Ou-Taiwan side Co-PI)

MCEER EARTHQUAKE ENGINEERING TO EXTREME EVENTS

#### International Specialty Workshop

#### Targeted Publication Schedule of Monograph

<ul> <li>October 2009:</li> </ul>	Firm Up Detailed Table of Contents and introductory chapters.
<ul> <li>April 2010:</li> </ul>	Complete 1 <sup>st</sup> (80%) Draft.
<ul> <li>August-Sept 2010:</li> </ul>	Complete second (95%) draft and distribute it to the Professional Community (or through an international workshop) for comments.
• June 2011:	Submit Final (100%) Manuscript and draft design guidelines to FHWA.
<b>MCEER</b>	EARTHQUAKE ENGINEERING TO EXTREME EVENTS

International Specialty Workshop

#### Workshop Objectives

- Share views and knowledge among experts on state-of-research and state-of-practice on seismic connection details of segmental bridges.
- Seek advice from experts on the focus and contents of the proposed MCEER monograph on seismic ABC (to be described in the next presentation).
- Develop a workshop proceedings (MCEER Technical Report) to include ppts and 4-8 page papers of workshop participants.

AND A CONTRACT OF A CONTRACT O

#### International Specialty Workshop

#### The Workshop Proceedings

- The short papers will have a title, authors/affiliation and a brief description of issues/problems/solutions/case studies and relevant references. Each participant may prepare more than one abstract.
- Additional short papers by other knowledge/ experienced individuals recommended by the participants may also be recruited.
- All short papers are due by September 15 for publication of the workshop proceedings in October 2009.

CEER EARTHQUAKE ENGINEERING TO EXTREME EVENTS

# Workshop Format (strawman) Day One Session I

- Overview of MCEER ABC Project and deliverables
- Discussion of Workshop objectives and format
- Sessions II, III, IV

International Specialty Workshop

- Contributions from participants
- Summary of important information presented

<u>Day Two</u>

- Discussion Session I: Brain Storming
  - Discuss/prioritize important performance/design parameters.
  - Establish what we know and what we need to know.
- Discussion Session II: Organization and Contents of workshop proceedings • Additional (invited) short papers?

# Summary and Conclusions

MINCEER EARTHQUAKE ENGINEERING TO EXTREME EVENTS

International Specialty We	orkshop
US-Taiwan Coop Segmental Concrete (MCEER T	erative Research on Pre-Cast Bridge Piers in Seismic Regions ask On Substructures)
• Funding:	US-FHWA/ MCEER/ NYS Taiwan-NSC/ NCREE/ Industry
Lead Institution:	Theory – Both Sides
	Experiments – Small Scale – MCEER Large Scale – NCREE Two Shaking Tables – MCEER Field Monitoring – NCREE
• Publication:	Joint Authorship
Design Guidelines:	
	NCREE ───→ Taiwan
	ARTHOUAKE ENGINEERING TO EXTREME EVENTS



International Specialty Workshop US-Taiwan Cooperative Research on Pre-Cast Segmental Concrete Bridge Piers in Seismic Regions **Four Phases** • Phase I 2005 – 2008 • Phase II 2008 – present • Phase III 2008 – present • Phase IV 2009 -



#### International Specialty Workshop

US-Taiwan Cooperative Research on Pre-Cast Segmental Concrete Bridge Piers in Seismic Regions (contd)

#### **Current Status**

- Phase I Completed
- Phase II Started with NCREE taking the lead (Professor Chang presentation).
   Phase III Currently active both at MCEER
- and at NCREE (Professor Ou presentation).

  Phase IV Work started at MCEER, NCREE and U. Houston
- (Professor Y. L. Mo).

CONTRACTOR CONTRACTOR

#### International Specialty Workshop

**Next Presentation** 

# MCEER Monograph on Seismic ABC: Abstract and Content

by Dr. Amjad Aref University at Buffalo

MINCEER EARTHQUAKE ENGINEERING TO EXTREME EVENTS





#### Overview of Monograph Task Objectives and Scope

- The monograph is the deliverable associated with the SAFETEA LU Project funded by FHWA (2006 – 2011)
  - Objectives: To study the behavior, design and Construction of concrete segmental bridges in seismic regions
  - Scope: Repetitive and accelerated bridge construction (ABC) projects with emphasis on segmental precast bridge components and systems

MUMCEER EARTHQUAKE ENGINEERING TO EXTREME EVENTS

# **Topical Outline of the Monograph**

- Introduction, Scope and Objectives
- Precast Concrete Components and Systems in ABC
- Bridge Information Systems for Accelerated Bridge Construction
- Superstructure
- Substructure
- Connections
- Seismic Design Principles
- Seismic Analysis and Design Procedures
- Summary and Future Research
- Appendices

MCEER EARTHQUAKE ENGINEERING TO EXTREME EVENTS



### Bridge Information Systems for Accelerated Bridge Construction

- Envisioned integrated design and construction process and benefits
- Bridge information modeling for accelerated project delivery
- Discussion and evaluation of the methodology
- Implications of the envisioned methodology on practice

CEER EARTHQUAKE ENGINEERING TO EXTREME EVENTS



# **Substructure**

- Precast Segmental Columns
  - With Rebar across joints
  - Without Rebar across joints
- Precast bent caps
- Integral caps
- Non-integral caps
- Other types of precast substructures
- Connection details

MCEER EARTHQUAKE ENGINEERING TO EXTREME EVENTS





# Summary and Future Research

MCEER EARTHQUAKE ENGINEERING TO EXTREME EVENTS





#### rnational Workshop on Seismic Connection Details for Segmental Bridges Construction

# RECENT RESEARCH ACTIVITIES FOR SEISMIC DESIGN OF SEGMENTAL CONCRETE BRIDGE COLUMNS

Jun-ichi HOSHIKUMA

Chief Researcher

Center of Advanced Engineering Structural Assessment and Research, Public Works Research Institute



# SEGMENTAL CONCRETE COLUMNS (Precast Concrete Columns)

#### Background

- Performance-based Design Concept
- Increase of Applications of New Materials, New Designs, and New Structures with Necessary Performance Verifications
- Precast Columns with Combination of High Strength Materials
- •Better-Quality Precast Members produced at Factory
- •Improvement of Constructionability at Sites and Shortening of Construction Period







# <section-header>





# 2-Years Joint Research on Precast Segmental Columns

- Objectives
- Though there are many existing segmental PC/RC shaft for bridge substructures, inelastic seismic performance of those structures is controversial due to lack of test data and technical information.
   Needs of Study on Failure Mechanism, Strength and Ductility Performance
- 2-Years Joint Research on Seismic Design Methods for Precast Segmental Columns
   PWRI, Kajima Co., Mitsui-Sumitomo Co., PS Mitsubishi Co.
  - Proposed Precast Segmental Columns Details

# Research Topics for Precast Segmental PC/RC Columns

- Research Issues
- Failure Mechanism, Strength and Ductility Performance, Dynamic Behavior
- Design Methods:
- 1) Limit States to Achieve Necessary Seismic Performance
- 2) Design Methods including Segments, Joints, PC Bars, Bending–Shear Resistance Evaluation
- 3) Design Details
- 4) Construction Methods
- → Material Tests, Cyclic Loading Tests, Shaking
  - Table Tests, Joint Shear Test, Analytical Study











# PERFORMANCE VERIFICATIONS -SHAKE TABLE TESTS-

# Objectives

- Earthquake Response Characteristics and Failure Mechanism
- Performance Evaluation subjected to the Design Level Earthquake and the Exceeding Level
  - → Repairablity (Replace of Members and Performance of Segments and PC Bars/Cables)
- Verification of Design Model







# SHAKE TABLE TESTS

# Tests Results

- Expected Behavior and Performance
- Even Against Ground Motion Exceeded Design Earthquake Level,
- the Columns behaved very well.
- → Deformation was developed at joints and segments.
- •Design Model was compared through the Simulation Analyses of Shake Table Tests Data.

# DEVELOPMENT OF SESIMIC DESIGN GUIDELINES (1)

- Outcome of Joint Research
- Seismic Design Guidelines is now being developed.
- Expected to be published in this year

# Table of Contents

- I. Design Fundamentals
  - S1. General
  - S2. Structural Concepts of Segmental Columns
  - S3. Fundamentals of Seismic Design
  - S4. Seismic Performance Verification Methods

# DEVELOPMENT OF SESIMIC DESIGN GUIDELINES (2) Table of Contents II, III. Design for Segmental PC Column S1. Structural Application and Details S3. Seismic Limit States

- S4. Verification of Seismic Performance Level 1 to Level 1 Earthquake
- S5. Verification of Seismic Performance Levels 2 and 3 to Level 2 Earthquake
- S6. Design Details

- S7. Constructions
- IV Designs for Segmental RC Column

# RECENT RESEARCH ACTIVITIES FOR SEISMIC DESIGN OF SEGMENTAL CONCRETE BRIDGE COLUMNS

Thank you for kind attention.

# Precast Segmental Concrete Bridge Columns with High Performance Steel Rebar as ED Bars

Yu-Chen Ou Assistant Professor Department of Construction Engineering National Taiwan University of Science and Technology

International Specialty Workshop on Seismic Connection Details for Segmental Bridge Construction Seattle, Washington, July 22 – 24, 2009

## US-Taiwan Cooperative Research on Pre-Cast Segmental Concrete Bridge Piers in Seismic Regions

- Phase I : Developed hollow rectangular column segments with conventional rebars across joints (MCEER – NCREE).
- Phase II: Study the performance of segmental columns without rebars across the joints by using isolation bearings (MCEER – NCREE).
- Phase III: Use high performance (high strength stainless steel, etc.) rebars across the joints (MCEER NCREE).
- Phase IV: Use high performance concrete (high strength concrete, steel fiber concrete, etc.) to dissipate impact energy and increase shear strength, with and without rebars across the joints (MCEER – NCREE – Houston).





- Opening of precast joints under lateral loads can cause premature fracture of mild steel rebar crossing those joints. (for supplemental energy dissipation, ED bars)
   > unbonding or HP rebar
  - Potential corrosion problems for ED bars after joints open. => HP rebar











<section-header>

Test setup and loading protocol













#### **Summary**

- For the column with fully bonded A706 ED bars, five out of the six critical ED bars fractured at 3% drift. No fracture of the ED bars was observed up to 5% drift for the column with unbonded A706 steel ED bars.
- The column with HP steel ED bars (C5C-E32) was capable of sustaining cyclic loading up to 5% drift without fracture of the bars. The predicted fracture strain of HP ED bars was 14% as compared to 7% of A706 ED bars.

# A STUDY ON RESTORABLE PRECAST PRESTRESSED HYBRID PIERS















Lim	it State of I	P&PH Pie	r
Structural members	Service limit	Level-1 E.Q.	Level-2 E.Q.
Pier Base	Elastic behavior		
Pre-cast Segment	Elastic behavior		
Segment Joints, Joint bars	No opening	Less than yield	-Exceed yield -Replace the Joint bars after E.Q.
External Cables	Elastic behavior		



# **Objectives of Cyclic Loading Test**

### **1. Performance up to Ultimate Loading**

•Confirmation of damage position, order and fracture mode

- Damage is restricted to the segment joints under L2 level  $\rightarrow$  Damage of joint bars and gap mortal
  - No damage in concrete and steel box

# 2. Confirmation of restorability

1st step : L2 level cyclic lading 2nd step : Replacement of joint bars which reached yield 3rd step : Re-loading of L2 level and confirmation of the same performance















































# Test Results at the bottom joints in the 2<sup>nd</sup> series

-Damage was limited at the bottom joint
Local spalling started at the bottom joint
Crack at the bottom of pier did not develop much
Almost no residual displacement



























































# Analytical and Experimental Investigation of Precast Segmental Bridge System

Amjad J. Aref, Ph.D.

Associate Professor Department of Civil, Structural, and Environmental Engineering University at Buffalo – The State University of New York

> International Specialty Workshop on Seismic Connection Details for Segmental Bridge Construction Seattle, Washington, July 22 – 24, 2009

# **TEAM MEMBERS**

- Petros Sideris
   Ph.D. Candidate
- Myrto Anagnostopoulou Senior Structural Engineer, SEESL
- Amjad J. Aref Associate Professor
- Andre Filiatrault Professor

ersity at Buffalo The State University of New York

# **OVERVIEW**

- Introduction
- Analytical Study
  - Theory
  - Application
- Experimental Study
- Accelerated Bridge Construction

ty at Buffalo The State University of New York

- Prototype Bridge
- Shake table testing of bridge model

# **INTRODUCTION**

#### Analytical study

- Development of a simplified flexibility-based macroelement capable of capturing:
  - Gap opening between segments in segmental systems
  - Rocking of rocking systems, i.e. rocking columns
- Obtain similar analysis results with FE models with less computational effort and time

#### Experimental study

- Design of a single span bridge specimen for testing in the SEESL at UB
- Investigate the response of a complete precast segmental bridge system designed using Accelerated Bridge Construction (ABC) concepts under seismic excitations

University at Buffalo The State University of New York

#### ANALYTICAL STUDY Theory Derivation of Section vs. Deformation relationships in an incremental form: $\Delta N(x)$ $\left[\Delta \varepsilon_{xx,0}(x)\right]$ $\Delta M_{z}(x)$ $\Delta \phi_{z}(x) + \{r_{s}(x)\} \Leftrightarrow \{\Delta D(x)\} = [K_{s}(x)] \{\Delta d(x)\} + \{r_{s}(x)\}$ $= \left[ K_{x}(x) \right]$ $\Delta V(x)$ $\Delta \gamma_{xy}(x)$ Derivation of Nodal Element Forces vs. Nodal Displacements in an incremental form: $\{\Delta q_b\}_i = [F_{el}]_i \{\Delta Q_b\}_i + \{q_{b,res}\}_i$ □ Nodal Forces vs. Section Forces: $\{D(x)\} = [b(x)] \{Q_b\}$ Section deformations vs. Nodal Deformations: $\{q_b\} = \int \left[b(x)\right]^T \left\{d(x)\right\} dx$ ity at Buffalo The State Unive

# ANALYTICAL STUDY Inequivery of the second state of the secon













- The piers are square hollow sections of ~30 feet height
- The 'Span-by-Span' construction method is assumed

University at Buffalo The State University of New York





# EXPERIMENTAL STUDY

#### Test Specimen

sity at Buffalo The State Univ

- Superstructure and substructure are divided into segments in order to
  - Comply with the ABC techniques
  - Examine the segment-to-segment joint behavior under seismic loading
- The superstructure is divided into 8 segments
- The substructure into 5 segments
- The segments are post-tensioned together using unbonded tendons
- The test specimen is designed using:
  - AASHTO LRFD Bridge Design Specifications (2007), and
     Precast / Prestressed Concrete Bridge Design Manual (2003)









# Research and Application of Precast Segmental Concrete Bridge Columns in Taiwan

#### Kuo-Chun Chang

Department of Civil Engineering, National Taiwan University National Center for Research on Earthquake Engineering, Taiwan

International Specialty Workshop on Seismic Connection Details for Segmental Bridge Construction Seattle, Washington, July 22 – 24, 2009

#### **Presentation outline**

#### Research:

- 1999-2000: NCKU (Y.-L. Mo)
- ♦ Cast-in-place (CIP) hinge region
- 1999~2003: NCREE and TANEEB ♦ Fully-precast tall columns
- 2005~present: NCREE/TANEEB/CECI and MCEER Self-centering
  - Seismic isolation
  - High performance rebar (presented by Ou)

#### Application

- National Freeway Taichung Metro-area No. 4 (CECI) ♦ CIP hinge region
- Seismic isolation
- Neihu MRT: precast cap beams and girders





Major highway systems Completed ····· Under planning or construction

# **Decrease Traffic disruption**

#### Neihu MRT, Taipei City

- Precast cap beams: 8.5 m~9 m (width), 222 pieces
- Precast U girders: 9 m~25 m (span), 546 pieces
- Precast girder segments: 2.5 m (length), 407 pieces




































Larg	ie-sca	le co	lumn	testina

### Major design parameters

Specimen	ED bars (%Ag)	Axial force (fc'Ag)	<b>λ</b> ED (%)	Lau (mm)	
COC, COP	0	0.17	0	N.A.	
C5C, C5P	0.5	0.17	28	400	
C8C, C8P	1	0.17	50	100	
C5C-1	0.5	0.12	35	400	
Asp: ED har contribution to column strength					

 $\lambda_{ED} = \frac{V_{exp} - V_{exp0}}{V_{exp}} \quad \frac{V_{exp}}{V_{exp0}} : \text{ Lateral strength of column}$ 

Lau: Additional unbonded length

Assembling process

1st segment

2nd segment

3rd segment

4th segment

Cap beam

Post-tensioning

Grouting





### Conclusions

- Current application of precast segmental columns in Taiwan use the concept where limit state of the column is "not" controlled by nonlinear behavior of precast joints ( CIP hinge region and seismic isolation ).
- Experimental results have shown that precast segmental columns allowing nonlinear behavior of precast joints (with or without ED bars) can be designed for ductile and self-centering behavior under earthquake loading. Research is underway to develop simplified design methods for engineers to use this type of columns.

# Accelerating Bridge Construction in in Regions of High Seismicity

John Stanton Marc Eberhard

### University of Washington

International Specialty Workshop on Seismic Connection Details for Segmental Bridge Construction.

### **Acknowledgments**

- FHWA
- WSDOT
- PEER / State of California
- TransNOW

Precast Concrete Connections using Bars Grouted into Sleeves.

# "Many Ducts" Connection



Emulates typical c.i.p. connection. Tight tolerances.

### "Large-Bar" Connection

### Concept

- Larger bars (e.g., #18)
- Fewer bars (e.g., 6-8)
- Much larger ducts (e.g., 8-in. dia.)

### Constructability

- $\rightarrow$  More generous tolerances
- → Easier fabrication
- → Faster alignment

# "Large-Bar" Connection

- Suitable for beam-column connection.
- Can be used with single-piece or segmental columns.
- Column configuration depends on circumstances:
  - Column weight (crane size).
  - Column height (stability during erection).
  - etc.

















# Anchorage Test Results.

- #8, #10, #14, #18 bars.
- Behavior determined by  $I_e/d_b$ .
- Low  $L_e/d_b$ : bond failure.
- High  $L_e/d_b$ : bar yield and fracture.

# **Full-Scale Anchorage Tests**











# Anchorage Test Results.

- For  $f_y$ , need  $L_e/d_b \ge 6$
- Bond failure at the bar surface: "confined bond failure".
- Bond stress =  $0.25f_s/(L_e/d_b)$  = 2500 psi =  $27\sqrt{f'_g}$  =  $0.31f'_g$ .
- Consistent with previous research on smaller bars. (e.g. Raynor, Moustaafa).





	Test Matrix				
	Longitudinal Reinforcement	Reinforcement Ratio	Grouted Ducts	Debonding ?	
REF.	16 - #5	1.58%	No	None	
LB-FB	6 - #8	1.51%	Yes	None	
LB-D1	6 - #8	1.51%	Yes	Method 1	
LB-D2	6 - #8	1.51%	Yes	Method 2	









### Highways for Life Program: Team Membership.

- FHWA
- BERGER-ABAM
- University of Washington
- WSDOT
- Tri-State Construction
- Concrete Technology Corporation

### Highways for Life Program: Tasks.

- Develop suitable connections (Column to cap-beam and footing)
- Lab tests for seismic performance.
- Build the bridge, monitor constructability:
   Fabricate columns.
  - Erect bents (note skew).
- Develop specification language.
- Prepare design examples.



# **Connections to be used**

- Top: 8#18 in 48" square column.
- Bot: Still under development. Watch this space!
- Possible footing connections:





# Conclusions

- Large-Bar precast systems can be constructed rapidly.
- Many possible variants for footing connection.
- Seismic performance similar to c.i.p.























































Recommended Duct size and embedment length for Grouted Sleeves					
_			PCI Fig	jure 6.4.3.1	
Precast UDOT	Substructure	Elements n 03131S	Figure 6.4.3.1 Anchora	ge in grouted conduit [25] Grade 60 Reinforcing Bar Fieldbie Metallis Conduit	
Bar Size	Outside Diameter (inches)	Length of Sleeve (inches)		24	
4	2.625	14.125			
5	3.000	14.125	潮		
6	3.000	14.125	1 Mar	입니	
7	3.000	18,75			
8	3.500	18.75		Bar embedment	
9	3.500	18.75	Bar Size	length, $\ell_e$ in."	
10	3,500	23.5	3	12	
11	4.000	23.5	5	12	
14	4.000	28.375	6	15	
18	4,500	39.625	8	21	
* For grout strengths higher than 5000 psi, multiply table values by _50007f;.					

WSDOT BDM Recommended Duct Size And Embedment Length For Grouted Sleeves					
	Bar	Nominal	Embedment	Embedment	
	Size	Duct Size,	Length,	/	
	Size	in.	in.	Bar Diameter	
	#3	2	12	29	
	#4	2	15	27	
	#5	3	15	21	
	#6	3	15	18	
	#7	3	20	21	
	#8	4	20	18	
	#9	4	20	16	
	#10	4	25	18	
	#11	4	25	16	
	#14	4	30	16	
	#18	5	40	16	





























# Segmental Bridge Columns w/ Damage-Free Plastic Hinges



# Main Shortcomings of Post-Tensioned Precast Columns under Seismic Loads Small energy dissipation Damage at end segments

Lateral Displacement (mm

### Measures to Improve Seismic Response of Precast Columns

- Reduce damage by placing jackets (steel or FRP) in critical zones
- Increase hysteretic energy dissipation by extending longitudinal reinforcement of the base segment into the footing
- Use advanced materials/details in plastic hinge region to dissipated energy, and minimize damage in plastic hinges
- Develop connections w/ dampers

### **Innovative Materials in Plastic Hinges**

- SMA (Shape Memory Alloys)
- ECC (Engineered Cementitious Composites)
- FRP or steel jackets
- Built-in Elastomeric Pads
- Pipe Pin Connection Dampers



































# Alternatives at Base

- Built-in elstomer
- Conventional steel RC
- Conventional steel RC wrapped w/ FRP
- ECC
- · ECC w/ SMA bars

# Summary

- The plastic hinge was free from damage
- The shims were effective in preventing bar buckling and achieving large drifts
- Residual displacement was negligible until very large motions.
- Energy dissipation was comparable to that of conventional concrete segmental column
- Pipe pin connections promising for ABC









# Outline

- Vision
- · Selected Background History
- Some Progress
- Towards Changing an Entire Industry
- Some Recent and Current Developments





# **Dimension Checks** (Pre-Assembly, a.k.a. Laydowns)



### Slow Ties up space

- Is it necessary?
- Owner: Eliminates field construction delays and user costs
- Fabricator/Erector: Not required for many jobs



# Bridge geometry adjusting each piece Fabricator and erector the same

# Why Not Virtual Assembly?



- Survey geometry and compare with 3-Dimensional drawing data
- Corrections? - Connection plate geometry
  - Milling of sections

# Automated Three Dimensional Fabricated Assembly Geometry Check

- Accurate-Laser +/- 0.5 mm.
- · Measurements Checked with Structures Geometry File
- Fast- Automated Scanning and Data Recording
- · Targets Can Be Used for Erection Geometry Check
  - Actual As Built Geometry Recorded
  - Use for Future Structural Health Monitoring



# "Theme Areas" Progress 2001-Present

- 3D Modeling & Electronic Info. Transfer: NCHRP 20-07 Task 149 & IDEA N-912 Projects (Nov. 2003 & Aug. 2006)
- 2) Standardized Specs and Approval Processes: NSBA/AASHTO Collab'n
- Standardized Design Details: NSBA/ AASHTO Collab'n
- Showcase of Benefits of Automation → current FHWA work

2D v	s. 3D
2D CAD provides an Electronic "drawing board"	3D CAD enables a parametric model
2D Drawings contain the information	3D model contains the information; drawings are only reports
2D Drawings intended to be human-readable; separate manual data entry is required for analysis	3D model is computer-readable, such that direct analyses are possible
Coordination is difficult; information is scattered among different drawings and specifications clauses	Coordination is automatic: 3D model is the single source for all product information
Manual checking	Automated checking
No support for production	Potentially full support for production (via CNC codes etc.)



### **Fundamental Principles** The 3D – centric approach conceptually boils down to two distinct principles that must be enforced consistently and according to appropriate standards: – *Nobody drafts anything* (model it in parametrically in 3D instead).

- Enter each given data entry item only once.
- Thus:
  - Drawings, if needed, can be generated from the 3D model whenever possible, and
  - Electronic data exchange is required between current "islands of automation" (a.k.a. "stovepipes").

Benefits (e.g.)					
Description	Better	Faster	Econo- mical		
Avoid error-prone manual data re-entry	Х	Х			
Avoid errors due to inconsistent information	Х		Х		
Leverage design data into construction and beyond	Х	Х	Х		
Can avoid physical pre-assembly		Х	Х		
Accelerated construction via prefabrication		Х			

# What is Needed to Make It Happen

- Parametric 3D Product Modeling (BIM/BrIM: Bridge Information Modeling)
- Electronic Data Transfer/Translation among the various "islands of automation" (stovepipes)
  - "If there is an *industry wide* standard for electronic data exchange of (life-cycle) bridge data that is *nonproprietary*, we will gladly write translators for it" – a software solution provider
- Current FHWA project work is addressing these, emphasizing the 2<sup>nd</sup> (in lieu of a data standard).



# Linking These Enables (e.g.)

- Exchange of model data with various project stakeholders
- Modeling of structure design and detailing in 3D (→ 4D → 5D) and managing changes
- Data transfer with planning and (e.g., CNC) automation systems for fabrication
- Delivery of quality output (construction documents) for an error-free project
- Planning and managing of erection in 3D (→ 4D)
- Bridge Operations & Maintenance: e.g., routing & permits, update from inspections for rating



### Preliminary Design: Commercial Software Considered

- LEAP Bridge, RM Bridge
- Geopak Bridge
- Opis (AASHTOWare)
- MathCad for alignment-compatible geometry
- QConBridge/WSFL
- SAP2000/BridgeModule

Preliminary Design: Linkage Software Developed				
Using:	<ul> <li><u>For:</u></li> <li>Substructure</li></ul>			
• VBA	geometry <li>Mathcad</li>			
• XML	interoperability <li>Hwy alignment</li>			
• landXML	compatible			
• XML	superstructure <li>AASHTOWare</li>			

### Preliminary Design: Product(s) of the Linkage Software

- Preliminary 3D parametric model
- 2D drawings that can be extracted/generated from it (e.g. design alternates)
- · Textual reports





### Final Design: Commercial Software Considered

- LEAP Bridge, RM Bridge
- Geopak Bridge/Rebar
- Opis (AASHTOWare)
- Excel/MathCad
- QConBridge/WSFL •
- SAP2000/BridgeModule •
- Tekla Structures
- StructureWorks/SolidWorks



- XML
- · Bridge geometry into detailing software
- · Text file generation
- Direct export

### · POL - based input · 2D dwg production

# Final Design: Product(s) of the Linkage Software

- Detailed 3D parametric model (e.g., bolts, welds, rebar details, etc.) augmentable for "downstream" operations
- · 2D drawings that can be extracted from it
- Textual reports





### Construction (Estimating/Scheduling): Commercial Software Considered

- Bentley TriForma
- Timberline estimating
- Estimating link



### Construction (Estimating/Scheduling): Product(s) of the Linkage Software

- Model quantity takeoffs suitable for estimating and/or material procurement and materials management
- Cost estimates easily modifiable
- "4D" erection schedule support
- Cash flow management via model-generated piece marking and associated shipping and installation status tracking





### Construction (Fabrication/Erection): Commercial Software Considered

- Bentley/ Geopak Rebar
- Tekla Structures
- Fabtrol
- Solidworks/Structureworks
- RM Bridge

### Construction (Fabrication/Erection): Linkage Software Developed

### <u>Using:</u>

- Tekla API
- XML
- CNC export

# • Model info into detailing

- Model info into detailing
- Driving CNC simulations of factory equipment

### Construction (Fabrication/Erection): Product(s) of the Linkage Software

- · Fully detailed model
- 2D dwgs (e.g., for shop drawing review), extractable from model, containing all information needed for fabrication
- · CNC export (to drive suitable fabrication equipment)

### Manufacturing Too (via CNC)

- Automatic Pop-marking
- Stiffener plates etc.,
- Avoid manual layout process

### MULTI-USER MODE

- Different people working together using a single model
- Within an organization and discipline
- Between organizations and disciplines







# Resolution by AASHTO SCOBS (June 2005)

**Be it Resolved:** That the AASHTO Highway Subcommittee on Bridges and Structures acknowledges the importance of "Comprehensive Integrated Bridge Project Delivery through Automation" in achieving its goals. Further Subcommittee affirms its leadership role by charging one of its existing Technical Committees or a separate Task Force to coordinate further development, refinement and transfer of this technology in partnership with the FHWA.

### **Extending Linkages**

- CAD (Computer-Aided Design)
- CIM (Computer-Integrated Manufacturing)
- Construction Modeling (e.g., Erection)
- Construction Management
- Operations, Maintenance, Lifecycle Management



































### Summary and Status

- Developed a Prototype Integrated System, Illustrating Data Exchanges and Applications, that Addresses Entire Bridge Life Cycle
- Utilized 3D Bridge Information Modeling (BrIM) as a Technology to Accelerate Bridge Project Delivery and Enhance Life Cycle Management
- Will be Demonstrating the Viability, Efficiencies, and Benefits of the Integrated Bridge Project Delivery and Life Cycle Management Concept Through One-Half-Day and Two-Day Presentations of the Prototype Integrated System to Stakeholders Around the Country

# Some (Hard?) Questions

- (Civil/Bridge) Engineering Education: Whither BIM/BrIM (CAD for that matter)?
- State DOT drivenness: hindrance or opportunity?
  - Planning/Env'l/Design/Const'n/Maint: "You cannot have those silos anymore"; "Connectivity of systems gives you power"; Transparency has advantages
  - You can drive positive change (e.g., NYSDOT 3D substructure requirement)
  - 2004: "...and you want me to go through that again?"
  - 2008: "You like these world hunger problems, don't you?
- Software Development Companies: Acquisition = Integration?; Organizational Stovepipes?

### Summary and Conclusions

Envisioning future accelerated bridge delivery based on the following:

- Comprehensive information-centric (BrIM) approach to the planning, design, construction, operation and maintenance of bridges through a single coordinated shepherding of that information as it evolves
- Coordinated leveraging of design information into "downstream" operations, including ongoing operation & maintenance

# Acknowledgements

- NCHRP, Mr. D. Beal, P.E., and Dr. I. Jawed, Program Officers; FHWA, Dr. P. Yen and Mr. K. Verma, P.E., COTR's
- · Bentley Systems, Inc.
- Various Academic Software Discounts and Tech Support

### **MCEER Technical Reports**

MCEER publishes technical reports on a variety of subjects written by authors funded through MCEER. These reports are available from both MCEER Publications and the National Technical Information Service (NTIS). Requests for reports should be directed to MCEER Publications, MCEER, University at Buffalo, State University of New York, 133A Ketter Hall, Buffalo, New York 14260. Reports can also be requested through NTIS, P.O. Box 1425, Springfield, Virginia 22151. NTIS accession numbers are shown in parenthesis, if available.

- NCEER-87-0001 "First-Year Program in Research, Education and Technology Transfer," 3/5/87, (PB88-134275, A04, MF-A01).
- NCEER-87-0002 "Experimental Evaluation of Instantaneous Optimal Algorithms for Structural Control," by R.C. Lin, T.T. Soong and A.M. Reinhorn, 4/20/87, (PB88-134341, A04, MF-A01).
- NCEER-87-0003 "Experimentation Using the Earthquake Simulation Facilities at University at Buffalo," by A.M. Reinhorn and R.L. Ketter, to be published.
- NCEER-87-0004 "The System Characteristics and Performance of a Shaking Table," by J.S. Hwang, K.C. Chang and G.C. Lee, 6/1/87, (PB88-134259, A03, MF-A01). This report is available only through NTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER-87-0005 "A Finite Element Formulation for Nonlinear Viscoplastic Material Using a Q Model," by O. Gyebi and G. Dasgupta, 11/2/87, (PB88-213764, A08, MF-A01).
- NCEER-87-0006 "Symbolic Manipulation Program (SMP) Algebraic Codes for Two and Three Dimensional Finite Element Formulations," by X. Lee and G. Dasgupta, 11/9/87, (PB88-218522, A05, MF-A01).
- NCEER-87-0007 "Instantaneous Optimal Control Laws for Tall Buildings Under Seismic Excitations," by J.N. Yang, A. Akbarpour and P. Ghaemmaghami, 6/10/87, (PB88-134333, A06, MF-A01). This report is only available through NTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER-87-0008 "IDARC: Inelastic Damage Analysis of Reinforced Concrete Frame Shear-Wall Structures," by Y.J. Park, A.M. Reinhorn and S.K. Kunnath, 7/20/87, (PB88-134325, A09, MF-A01). This report is only available through NTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER-87-0009 "Liquefaction Potential for New York State: A Preliminary Report on Sites in Manhattan and Buffalo," by M. Budhu, V. Vijayakumar, R.F. Giese and L. Baumgras, 8/31/87, (PB88-163704, A03, MF-A01). This report is available only through NTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER-87-0010 "Vertical and Torsional Vibration of Foundations in Inhomogeneous Media," by A.S. Veletsos and K.W. Dotson, 6/1/87, (PB88-134291, A03, MF-A01). This report is only available through NTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER-87-0011 "Seismic Probabilistic Risk Assessment and Seismic Margins Studies for Nuclear Power Plants," by Howard H.M. Hwang, 6/15/87, (PB88-134267, A03, MF-A01). This report is only available through NTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER-87-0012 "Parametric Studies of Frequency Response of Secondary Systems Under Ground-Acceleration Excitations," by Y. Yong and Y.K. Lin, 6/10/87, (PB88-134309, A03, MF-A01). This report is only available through NTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER-87-0013 "Frequency Response of Secondary Systems Under Seismic Excitation," by J.A. HoLung, J. Cai and Y.K. Lin, 7/31/87, (PB88-134317, A05, MF-A01). This report is only available through NTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER-87-0014 "Modelling Earthquake Ground Motions in Seismically Active Regions Using Parametric Time Series Methods," by G.W. Ellis and A.S. Cakmak, 8/25/87, (PB88-134283, A08, MF-A01). This report is only available through NTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER-87-0015 "Detection and Assessment of Seismic Structural Damage," by E. DiPasquale and A.S. Cakmak, 8/25/87, (PB88-163712, A05, MF-A01). This report is only available through NTIS (see address given above).

- NCEER-87-0016 "Pipeline Experiment at Parkfield, California," by J. Isenberg and E. Richardson, 9/15/87, (PB88-163720, A03, MF-A01). This report is available only through NTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER-87-0017 "Digital Simulation of Seismic Ground Motion," by M. Shinozuka, G. Deodatis and T. Harada, 8/31/87, (PB88-155197, A04, MF-A01). This report is available only through NTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER-87-0018 "Practical Considerations for Structural Control: System Uncertainty, System Time Delay and Truncation of Small Control Forces," J.N. Yang and A. Akbarpour, 8/10/87, (PB88-163738, A08, MF-A01). This report is only available through NTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER-87-0019 "Modal Analysis of Nonclassically Damped Structural Systems Using Canonical Transformation," by J.N. Yang, S. Sarkani and F.X. Long, 9/27/87, (PB88-187851, A04, MF-A01).
- NCEER-87-0020 "A Nonstationary Solution in Random Vibration Theory," by J.R. Red-Horse and P.D. Spanos, 11/3/87, (PB88-163746, A03, MF-A01).
- NCEER-87-0021 "Horizontal Impedances for Radially Inhomogeneous Viscoelastic Soil Layers," by A.S. Veletsos and K.W. Dotson, 10/15/87, (PB88-150859, A04, MF-A01).
- NCEER-87-0022 "Seismic Damage Assessment of Reinforced Concrete Members," by Y.S. Chung, C. Meyer and M. Shinozuka, 10/9/87, (PB88-150867, A05, MF-A01). This report is available only through NTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER-87-0023 "Active Structural Control in Civil Engineering," by T.T. Soong, 11/11/87, (PB88-187778, A03, MF-A01).
- NCEER-87-0024 "Vertical and Torsional Impedances for Radially Inhomogeneous Viscoelastic Soil Layers," by K.W. Dotson and A.S. Veletsos, 12/87, (PB88-187786, A03, MF-A01).
- NCEER-87-0025 "Proceedings from the Symposium on Seismic Hazards, Ground Motions, Soil-Liquefaction and Engineering Practice in Eastern North America," October 20-22, 1987, edited by K.H. Jacob, 12/87, (PB88-188115, A23, MF-A01). This report is available only through NTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER-87-0026 "Report on the Whittier-Narrows, California, Earthquake of October 1, 1987," by J. Pantelic and A. Reinhorn, 11/87, (PB88-187752, A03, MF-A01). This report is available only through NTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER-87-0027 "Design of a Modular Program for Transient Nonlinear Analysis of Large 3-D Building Structures," by S. Srivastav and J.F. Abel, 12/30/87, (PB88-187950, A05, MF-A01). This report is only available through NTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER-87-0028 "Second-Year Program in Research, Education and Technology Transfer," 3/8/88, (PB88-219480, A04, MF-A01).
- NCEER-88-0001 "Workshop on Seismic Computer Analysis and Design of Buildings With Interactive Graphics," by W. McGuire, J.F. Abel and C.H. Conley, 1/18/88, (PB88-187760, A03, MF-A01). This report is only available through NTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER-88-0002 "Optimal Control of Nonlinear Flexible Structures," by J.N. Yang, F.X. Long and D. Wong, 1/22/88, (PB88-213772, A06, MF-A01).
- NCEER-88-0003 "Substructuring Techniques in the Time Domain for Primary-Secondary Structural Systems," by G.D. Manolis and G. Juhn, 2/10/88, (PB88-213780, A04, MF-A01).
- NCEER-88-0004 "Iterative Seismic Analysis of Primary-Secondary Systems," by A. Singhal, L.D. Lutes and P.D. Spanos, 2/23/88, (PB88-213798, A04, MF-A01).
- NCEER-88-0005 "Stochastic Finite Element Expansion for Random Media," by P.D. Spanos and R. Ghanem, 3/14/88, (PB88-213806, A03, MF-A01).
- NCEER-88-0006 "Combining Structural Optimization and Structural Control," by F.Y. Cheng and C.P. Pantelides, 1/10/88, (PB88-213814, A05, MF-A01).
- NCEER-88-0007 "Seismic Performance Assessment of Code-Designed Structures," by H.H-M. Hwang, J-W. Jaw and H-J. Shau, 3/20/88, (PB88-219423, A04, MF-A01). This report is only available through NTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER-88-0008 "Reliability Analysis of Code-Designed Structures Under Natural Hazards," by H.H-M. Hwang, H. Ushiba and M. Shinozuka, 2/29/88, (PB88-229471, A07, MF-A01). This report is only available through NTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER-88-0009 "Seismic Fragility Analysis of Shear Wall Structures," by J-W Jaw and H.H-M. Hwang, 4/30/88, (PB89-102867, A04, MF-A01).
- NCEER-88-0010 "Base Isolation of a Multi-Story Building Under a Harmonic Ground Motion A Comparison of Performances of Various Systems," by F-G Fan, G. Ahmadi and I.G. Tadjbakhsh, 5/18/88, (PB89-122238, A06, MF-A01). This report is only available through NTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER-88-0011 "Seismic Floor Response Spectra for a Combined System by Green's Functions," by F.M. Lavelle, L.A. Bergman and P.D. Spanos, 5/1/88, (PB89-102875, A03, MF-A01).
- NCEER-88-0012 "A New Solution Technique for Randomly Excited Hysteretic Structures," by G.Q. Cai and Y.K. Lin, 5/16/88, (PB89-102883, A03, MF-A01).
- NCEER-88-0013 "A Study of Radiation Damping and Soil-Structure Interaction Effects in the Centrifuge," by K. Weissman, supervised by J.H. Prevost, 5/24/88, (PB89-144703, A06, MF-A01).
- NCEER-88-0014 "Parameter Identification and Implementation of a Kinematic Plasticity Model for Frictional Soils," by J.H. Prevost and D.V. Griffiths, to be published.
- NCEER-88-0015 "Two- and Three- Dimensional Dynamic Finite Element Analyses of the Long Valley Dam," by D.V. Griffiths and J.H. Prevost, 6/17/88, (PB89-144711, A04, MF-A01).
- NCEER-88-0016 "Damage Assessment of Reinforced Concrete Structures in Eastern United States," by A.M. Reinhorn, M.J. Seidel, S.K. Kunnath and Y.J. Park, 6/15/88, (PB89-122220, A04, MF-A01). This report is only available through NTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER-88-0017 "Dynamic Compliance of Vertically Loaded Strip Foundations in Multilayered Viscoelastic Soils," by S. Ahmad and A.S.M. Israil, 6/17/88, (PB89-102891, A04, MF-A01).
- NCEER-88-0018 "An Experimental Study of Seismic Structural Response With Added Viscoelastic Dampers," by R.C. Lin, Z. Liang, T.T. Soong and R.H. Zhang, 6/30/88, (PB89-122212, A05, MF-A01). This report is available only through NTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER-88-0019 "Experimental Investigation of Primary Secondary System Interaction," by G.D. Manolis, G. Juhn and A.M. Reinhorn, 5/27/88, (PB89-122204, A04, MF-A01).
- NCEER-88-0020 "A Response Spectrum Approach For Analysis of Nonclassically Damped Structures," by J.N. Yang, S. Sarkani and F.X. Long, 4/22/88, (PB89-102909, A04, MF-A01).
- NCEER-88-0021 "Seismic Interaction of Structures and Soils: Stochastic Approach," by A.S. Veletsos and A.M. Prasad, 7/21/88, (PB89-122196, A04, MF-A01). This report is only available through NTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER-88-0022 "Identification of the Serviceability Limit State and Detection of Seismic Structural Damage," by E. DiPasquale and A.S. Cakmak, 6/15/88, (PB89-122188, A05, MF-A01). This report is available only through NTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER-88-0023 "Multi-Hazard Risk Analysis: Case of a Simple Offshore Structure," by B.K. Bhartia and E.H. Vanmarcke, 7/21/88, (PB89-145213, A05, MF-A01).

- NCEER-88-0024 "Automated Seismic Design of Reinforced Concrete Buildings," by Y.S. Chung, C. Meyer and M. Shinozuka, 7/5/88, (PB89-122170, A06, MF-A01). This report is available only through NTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER-88-0025 "Experimental Study of Active Control of MDOF Structures Under Seismic Excitations," by L.L. Chung, R.C. Lin, T.T. Soong and A.M. Reinhorn, 7/10/88, (PB89-122600, A04, MF-A01).
- NCEER-88-0026 "Earthquake Simulation Tests of a Low-Rise Metal Structure," by J.S. Hwang, K.C. Chang, G.C. Lee and R.L. Ketter, 8/1/88, (PB89-102917, A04, MF-A01).
- NCEER-88-0027 "Systems Study of Urban Response and Reconstruction Due to Catastrophic Earthquakes," by F. Kozin and H.K. Zhou, 9/22/88, (PB90-162348, A04, MF-A01).
- NCEER-88-0028 "Seismic Fragility Analysis of Plane Frame Structures," by H.H-M. Hwang and Y.K. Low, 7/31/88, (PB89-131445, A06, MF-A01).
- NCEER-88-0029 "Response Analysis of Stochastic Structures," by A. Kardara, C. Bucher and M. Shinozuka, 9/22/88, (PB89-174429, A04, MF-A01).
- NCEER-88-0030 "Nonnormal Accelerations Due to Yielding in a Primary Structure," by D.C.K. Chen and L.D. Lutes, 9/19/88, (PB89-131437, A04, MF-A01).
- NCEER-88-0031 "Design Approaches for Soil-Structure Interaction," by A.S. Veletsos, A.M. Prasad and Y. Tang, 12/30/88, (PB89-174437, A03, MF-A01). This report is available only through NTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER-88-0032 "A Re-evaluation of Design Spectra for Seismic Damage Control," by C.J. Turkstra and A.G. Tallin, 11/7/88, (PB89-145221, A05, MF-A01).
- NCEER-88-0033 "The Behavior and Design of Noncontact Lap Splices Subjected to Repeated Inelastic Tensile Loading," by V.E. Sagan, P. Gergely and R.N. White, 12/8/88, (PB89-163737, A08, MF-A01).
- NCEER-88-0034 "Seismic Response of Pile Foundations," by S.M. Mamoon, P.K. Banerjee and S. Ahmad, 11/1/88, (PB89-145239, A04, MF-A01).
- NCEER-88-0035 "Modeling of R/C Building Structures With Flexible Floor Diaphragms (IDARC2)," by A.M. Reinhorn, S.K. Kunnath and N. Panahshahi, 9/7/88, (PB89-207153, A07, MF-A01).
- NCEER-88-0036 "Solution of the Dam-Reservoir Interaction Problem Using a Combination of FEM, BEM with Particular Integrals, Modal Analysis, and Substructuring," by C-S. Tsai, G.C. Lee and R.L. Ketter, 12/31/88, (PB89-207146, A04, MF-A01).
- NCEER-88-0037 "Optimal Placement of Actuators for Structural Control," by F.Y. Cheng and C.P. Pantelides, 8/15/88, (PB89-162846, A05, MF-A01).
- NCEER-88-0038 "Teflon Bearings in Aseismic Base Isolation: Experimental Studies and Mathematical Modeling," by A. Mokha, M.C. Constantinou and A.M. Reinhorn, 12/5/88, (PB89-218457, A10, MF-A01). This report is available only through NTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER-88-0039 "Seismic Behavior of Flat Slab High-Rise Buildings in the New York City Area," by P. Weidlinger and M. Ettouney, 10/15/88, (PB90-145681, A04, MF-A01).
- NCEER-88-0040 "Evaluation of the Earthquake Resistance of Existing Buildings in New York City," by P. Weidlinger and M. Ettouney, 10/15/88, to be published.
- NCEER-88-0041 "Small-Scale Modeling Techniques for Reinforced Concrete Structures Subjected to Seismic Loads," by W. Kim, A. El-Attar and R.N. White, 11/22/88, (PB89-189625, A05, MF-A01).
- NCEER-88-0042 "Modeling Strong Ground Motion from Multiple Event Earthquakes," by G.W. Ellis and A.S. Cakmak, 10/15/88, (PB89-174445, A03, MF-A01).

- NCEER-88-0043 "Nonstationary Models of Seismic Ground Acceleration," by M. Grigoriu, S.E. Ruiz and E. Rosenblueth, 7/15/88, (PB89-189617, A04, MF-A01).
- NCEER-88-0044 "SARCF User's Guide: Seismic Analysis of Reinforced Concrete Frames," by Y.S. Chung, C. Meyer and M. Shinozuka, 11/9/88, (PB89-174452, A08, MF-A01).
- NCEER-88-0045 "First Expert Panel Meeting on Disaster Research and Planning," edited by J. Pantelic and J. Stoyle, 9/15/88, (PB89-174460, A05, MF-A01).
- NCEER-88-0046 "Preliminary Studies of the Effect of Degrading Infill Walls on the Nonlinear Seismic Response of Steel Frames," by C.Z. Chrysostomou, P. Gergely and J.F. Abel, 12/19/88, (PB89-208383, A05, MF-A01).
- NCEER-88-0047 "Reinforced Concrete Frame Component Testing Facility Design, Construction, Instrumentation and Operation," by S.P. Pessiki, C. Conley, T. Bond, P. Gergely and R.N. White, 12/16/88, (PB89-174478, A04, MF-A01).
- NCEER-89-0001 "Effects of Protective Cushion and Soil Compliancy on the Response of Equipment Within a Seismically Excited Building," by J.A. HoLung, 2/16/89, (PB89-207179, A04, MF-A01).
- NCEER-89-0002 "Statistical Evaluation of Response Modification Factors for Reinforced Concrete Structures," by H.H-M. Hwang and J-W. Jaw, 2/17/89, (PB89-207187, A05, MF-A01).
- NCEER-89-0003 "Hysteretic Columns Under Random Excitation," by G-Q. Cai and Y.K. Lin, 1/9/89, (PB89-196513, A03, MF-A01).
- NCEER-89-0004 "Experimental Study of `Elephant Foot Bulge' Instability of Thin-Walled Metal Tanks," by Z-H. Jia and R.L. Ketter, 2/22/89, (PB89-207195, A03, MF-A01).
- NCEER-89-0005 "Experiment on Performance of Buried Pipelines Across San Andreas Fault," by J. Isenberg, E. Richardson and T.D. O'Rourke, 3/10/89, (PB89-218440, A04, MF-A01). This report is available only through NTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER-89-0006 "A Knowledge-Based Approach to Structural Design of Earthquake-Resistant Buildings," by M. Subramani, P. Gergely, C.H. Conley, J.F. Abel and A.H. Zaghw, 1/15/89, (PB89-218465, A06, MF-A01).
- NCEER-89-0007 "Liquefaction Hazards and Their Effects on Buried Pipelines," by T.D. O'Rourke and P.A. Lane, 2/1/89, (PB89-218481, A09, MF-A01).
- NCEER-89-0008 "Fundamentals of System Identification in Structural Dynamics," by H. Imai, C-B. Yun, O. Maruyama and M. Shinozuka, 1/26/89, (PB89-207211, A04, MF-A01).
- NCEER-89-0009 "Effects of the 1985 Michoacan Earthquake on Water Systems and Other Buried Lifelines in Mexico," by A.G. Ayala and M.J. O'Rourke, 3/8/89, (PB89-207229, A06, MF-A01).
- NCEER-89-R010 "NCEER Bibliography of Earthquake Education Materials," by K.E.K. Ross, Second Revision, 9/1/89, (PB90-125352, A05, MF-A01). This report is replaced by NCEER-92-0018.
- NCEER-89-0011 "Inelastic Three-Dimensional Response Analysis of Reinforced Concrete Building Structures (IDARC-3D), Part I - Modeling," by S.K. Kunnath and A.M. Reinhorn, 4/17/89, (PB90-114612, A07, MF-A01). This report is available only through NTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER-89-0012 "Recommended Modifications to ATC-14," by C.D. Poland and J.O. Malley, 4/12/89, (PB90-108648, A15, MF-A01).
- NCEER-89-0013 "Repair and Strengthening of Beam-to-Column Connections Subjected to Earthquake Loading," by M. Corazao and A.J. Durrani, 2/28/89, (PB90-109885, A06, MF-A01).
- NCEER-89-0014 "Program EXKAL2 for Identification of Structural Dynamic Systems," by O. Maruyama, C-B. Yun, M. Hoshiya and M. Shinozuka, 5/19/89, (PB90-109877, A09, MF-A01).

- NCEER-89-0015 "Response of Frames With Bolted Semi-Rigid Connections, Part I Experimental Study and Analytical Predictions," by P.J. DiCorso, A.M. Reinhorn, J.R. Dickerson, J.B. Radziminski and W.L. Harper, 6/1/89, to be published.
- NCEER-89-0016 "ARMA Monte Carlo Simulation in Probabilistic Structural Analysis," by P.D. Spanos and M.P. Mignolet, 7/10/89, (PB90-109893, A03, MF-A01).
- NCEER-89-P017 "Preliminary Proceedings from the Conference on Disaster Preparedness The Place of Earthquake Education in Our Schools," Edited by K.E.K. Ross, 6/23/89, (PB90-108606, A03, MF-A01).
- NCEER-89-0017 "Proceedings from the Conference on Disaster Preparedness The Place of Earthquake Education in Our Schools," Edited by K.E.K. Ross, 12/31/89, (PB90-207895, A012, MF-A02). This report is available only through NTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER-89-0018 "Multidimensional Models of Hysteretic Material Behavior for Vibration Analysis of Shape Memory Energy Absorbing Devices, by E.J. Graesser and F.A. Cozzarelli, 6/7/89, (PB90-164146, A04, MF-A01).
- NCEER-89-0019 "Nonlinear Dynamic Analysis of Three-Dimensional Base Isolated Structures (3D-BASIS)," by S. Nagarajaiah, A.M. Reinhorn and M.C. Constantinou, 8/3/89, (PB90-161936, A06, MF-A01). This report has been replaced by NCEER-93-0011.
- NCEER-89-0020 "Structural Control Considering Time-Rate of Control Forces and Control Rate Constraints," by F.Y. Cheng and C.P. Pantelides, 8/3/89, (PB90-120445, A04, MF-A01).
- NCEER-89-0021 "Subsurface Conditions of Memphis and Shelby County," by K.W. Ng, T-S. Chang and H-H.M. Hwang, 7/26/89, (PB90-120437, A03, MF-A01).
- NCEER-89-0022 "Seismic Wave Propagation Effects on Straight Jointed Buried Pipelines," by K. Elhmadi and M.J. O'Rourke, 8/24/89, (PB90-162322, A10, MF-A02).
- NCEER-89-0023 "Workshop on Serviceability Analysis of Water Delivery Systems," edited by M. Grigoriu, 3/6/89, (PB90-127424, A03, MF-A01).
- NCEER-89-0024 "Shaking Table Study of a 1/5 Scale Steel Frame Composed of Tapered Members," by K.C. Chang, J.S. Hwang and G.C. Lee, 9/18/89, (PB90-160169, A04, MF-A01).
- NCEER-89-0025 "DYNA1D: A Computer Program for Nonlinear Seismic Site Response Analysis Technical Documentation," by Jean H. Prevost, 9/14/89, (PB90-161944, A07, MF-A01). This report is available only through NTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER-89-0026 "1:4 Scale Model Studies of Active Tendon Systems and Active Mass Dampers for Aseismic Protection," by A.M. Reinhorn, T.T. Soong, R.C. Lin, Y.P. Yang, Y. Fukao, H. Abe and M. Nakai, 9/15/89, (PB90-173246, A10, MF-A02). This report is available only through NTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER-89-0027 "Scattering of Waves by Inclusions in a Nonhomogeneous Elastic Half Space Solved by Boundary Element Methods," by P.K. Hadley, A. Askar and A.S. Cakmak, 6/15/89, (PB90-145699, A07, MF-A01).
- NCEER-89-0028 "Statistical Evaluation of Deflection Amplification Factors for Reinforced Concrete Structures," by H.H.M. Hwang, J-W. Jaw and A.L. Ch'ng, 8/31/89, (PB90-164633, A05, MF-A01).
- NCEER-89-0029 "Bedrock Accelerations in Memphis Area Due to Large New Madrid Earthquakes," by H.H.M. Hwang, C.H.S. Chen and G. Yu, 11/7/89, (PB90-162330, A04, MF-A01).
- NCEER-89-0030 "Seismic Behavior and Response Sensitivity of Secondary Structural Systems," by Y.Q. Chen and T.T. Soong, 10/23/89, (PB90-164658, A08, MF-A01).
- NCEER-89-0031 "Random Vibration and Reliability Analysis of Primary-Secondary Structural Systems," by Y. Ibrahim, M. Grigoriu and T.T. Soong, 11/10/89, (PB90-161951, A04, MF-A01).

- NCEER-89-0032 "Proceedings from the Second U.S. Japan Workshop on Liquefaction, Large Ground Deformation and Their Effects on Lifelines, September 26-29, 1989," Edited by T.D. O'Rourke and M. Hamada, 12/1/89, (PB90-209388, A22, MF-A03).
- NCEER-89-0033 "Deterministic Model for Seismic Damage Evaluation of Reinforced Concrete Structures," by J.M. Bracci, A.M. Reinhorn, J.B. Mander and S.K. Kunnath, 9/27/89, (PB91-108803, A06, MF-A01).
- NCEER-89-0034 "On the Relation Between Local and Global Damage Indices," by E. DiPasquale and A.S. Cakmak, 8/15/89, (PB90-173865, A05, MF-A01).
- NCEER-89-0035 "Cyclic Undrained Behavior of Nonplastic and Low Plasticity Silts," by A.J. Walker and H.E. Stewart, 7/26/89, (PB90-183518, A10, MF-A01).
- NCEER-89-0036 "Liquefaction Potential of Surficial Deposits in the City of Buffalo, New York," by M. Budhu, R. Giese and L. Baumgrass, 1/17/89, (PB90-208455, A04, MF-A01).
- NCEER-89-0037 "A Deterministic Assessment of Effects of Ground Motion Incoherence," by A.S. Veletsos and Y. Tang, 7/15/89, (PB90-164294, A03, MF-A01).
- NCEER-89-0038 "Workshop on Ground Motion Parameters for Seismic Hazard Mapping," July 17-18, 1989, edited by R.V. Whitman, 12/1/89, (PB90-173923, A04, MF-A01).
- NCEER-89-0039 "Seismic Effects on Elevated Transit Lines of the New York City Transit Authority," by C.J. Costantino, C.A. Miller and E. Heymsfield, 12/26/89, (PB90-207887, A06, MF-A01).
- NCEER-89-0040 "Centrifugal Modeling of Dynamic Soil-Structure Interaction," by K. Weissman, Supervised by J.H. Prevost, 5/10/89, (PB90-207879, A07, MF-A01).
- NCEER-89-0041 "Linearized Identification of Buildings With Cores for Seismic Vulnerability Assessment," by I-K. Ho and A.E. Aktan, 11/1/89, (PB90-251943, A07, MF-A01).
- NCEER-90-0001 "Geotechnical and Lifeline Aspects of the October 17, 1989 Loma Prieta Earthquake in San Francisco," by T.D. O'Rourke, H.E. Stewart, F.T. Blackburn and T.S. Dickerman, 1/90, (PB90-208596, A05, MF-A01).
- NCEER-90-0002 "Nonnormal Secondary Response Due to Yielding in a Primary Structure," by D.C.K. Chen and L.D. Lutes, 2/28/90, (PB90-251976, A07, MF-A01).
- NCEER-90-0003 "Earthquake Education Materials for Grades K-12," by K.E.K. Ross, 4/16/90, (PB91-251984, A05, MF-A05). This report has been replaced by NCEER-92-0018.
- NCEER-90-0004 "Catalog of Strong Motion Stations in Eastern North America," by R.W. Busby, 4/3/90, (PB90-251984, A05, MF-A01).
- NCEER-90-0005 "NCEER Strong-Motion Data Base: A User Manual for the GeoBase Release (Version 1.0 for the Sun3)," by P. Friberg and K. Jacob, 3/31/90 (PB90-258062, A04, MF-A01).
- NCEER-90-0006 "Seismic Hazard Along a Crude Oil Pipeline in the Event of an 1811-1812 Type New Madrid Earthquake," by H.H.M. Hwang and C-H.S. Chen, 4/16/90, (PB90-258054, A04, MF-A01).
- NCEER-90-0007 "Site-Specific Response Spectra for Memphis Sheahan Pumping Station," by H.H.M. Hwang and C.S. Lee, 5/15/90, (PB91-108811, A05, MF-A01).
- NCEER-90-0008 "Pilot Study on Seismic Vulnerability of Crude Oil Transmission Systems," by T. Ariman, R. Dobry, M. Grigoriu, F. Kozin, M. O'Rourke, T. O'Rourke and M. Shinozuka, 5/25/90, (PB91-108837, A06, MF-A01).
- NCEER-90-0009 "A Program to Generate Site Dependent Time Histories: EQGEN," by G.W. Ellis, M. Srinivasan and A.S. Cakmak, 1/30/90, (PB91-108829, A04, MF-A01).
- NCEER-90-0010 "Active Isolation for Seismic Protection of Operating Rooms," by M.E. Talbott, Supervised by M. Shinozuka, 6/8/9, (PB91-110205, A05, MF-A01).

- NCEER-90-0011 "Program LINEARID for Identification of Linear Structural Dynamic Systems," by C-B. Yun and M. Shinozuka, 6/25/90, (PB91-110312, A08, MF-A01).
- NCEER-90-0012 "Two-Dimensional Two-Phase Elasto-Plastic Seismic Response of Earth Dams," by A.N. Yiagos, Supervised by J.H. Prevost, 6/20/90, (PB91-110197, A13, MF-A02).
- NCEER-90-0013 "Secondary Systems in Base-Isolated Structures: Experimental Investigation, Stochastic Response and Stochastic Sensitivity," by G.D. Manolis, G. Juhn, M.C. Constantinou and A.M. Reinhorn, 7/1/90, (PB91-110320, A08, MF-A01).
- NCEER-90-0014 "Seismic Behavior of Lightly-Reinforced Concrete Column and Beam-Column Joint Details," by S.P. Pessiki, C.H. Conley, P. Gergely and R.N. White, 8/22/90, (PB91-108795, A11, MF-A02).
- NCEER-90-0015 "Two Hybrid Control Systems for Building Structures Under Strong Earthquakes," by J.N. Yang and A. Danielians, 6/29/90, (PB91-125393, A04, MF-A01).
- NCEER-90-0016 "Instantaneous Optimal Control with Acceleration and Velocity Feedback," by J.N. Yang and Z. Li, 6/29/90, (PB91-125401, A03, MF-A01).
- NCEER-90-0017 "Reconnaissance Report on the Northern Iran Earthquake of June 21, 1990," by M. Mehrain, 10/4/90, (PB91-125377, A03, MF-A01).
- NCEER-90-0018 "Evaluation of Liquefaction Potential in Memphis and Shelby County," by T.S. Chang, P.S. Tang, C.S. Lee and H. Hwang, 8/10/90, (PB91-125427, A09, MF-A01).
- NCEER-90-0019 "Experimental and Analytical Study of a Combined Sliding Disc Bearing and Helical Steel Spring Isolation System," by M.C. Constantinou, A.S. Mokha and A.M. Reinhorn, 10/4/90, (PB91-125385, A06, MF-A01). This report is available only through NTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER-90-0020 "Experimental Study and Analytical Prediction of Earthquake Response of a Sliding Isolation System with a Spherical Surface," by A.S. Mokha, M.C. Constantinou and A.M. Reinhorn, 10/11/90, (PB91-125419, A05, MF-A01).
- NCEER-90-0021 "Dynamic Interaction Factors for Floating Pile Groups," by G. Gazetas, K. Fan, A. Kaynia and E. Kausel, 9/10/90, (PB91-170381, A05, MF-A01).
- NCEER-90-0022 "Evaluation of Seismic Damage Indices for Reinforced Concrete Structures," by S. Rodriguez-Gomez and A.S. Cakmak, 9/30/90, PB91-171322, A06, MF-A01).
- NCEER-90-0023 "Study of Site Response at a Selected Memphis Site," by H. Desai, S. Ahmad, E.S. Gazetas and M.R. Oh, 10/11/90, (PB91-196857, A03, MF-A01).
- NCEER-90-0024 "A User's Guide to Strongmo: Version 1.0 of NCEER's Strong-Motion Data Access Tool for PCs and Terminals," by P.A. Friberg and C.A.T. Susch, 11/15/90, (PB91-171272, A03, MF-A01).
- NCEER-90-0025 "A Three-Dimensional Analytical Study of Spatial Variability of Seismic Ground Motions," by L-L. Hong and A.H.-S. Ang, 10/30/90, (PB91-170399, A09, MF-A01).
- NCEER-90-0026 "MUMOID User's Guide A Program for the Identification of Modal Parameters," by S. Rodriguez-Gomez and E. DiPasquale, 9/30/90, (PB91-171298, A04, MF-A01).
- NCEER-90-0027 "SARCF-II User's Guide Seismic Analysis of Reinforced Concrete Frames," by S. Rodriguez-Gomez, Y.S. Chung and C. Meyer, 9/30/90, (PB91-171280, A05, MF-A01).
- NCEER-90-0028 "Viscous Dampers: Testing, Modeling and Application in Vibration and Seismic Isolation," by N. Makris and M.C. Constantinou, 12/20/90 (PB91-190561, A06, MF-A01).
- NCEER-90-0029 "Soil Effects on Earthquake Ground Motions in the Memphis Area," by H. Hwang, C.S. Lee, K.W. Ng and T.S. Chang, 8/2/90, (PB91-190751, A05, MF-A01).

- NCEER-91-0001 "Proceedings from the Third Japan-U.S. Workshop on Earthquake Resistant Design of Lifeline Facilities and Countermeasures for Soil Liquefaction, December 17-19, 1990," edited by T.D. O'Rourke and M. Hamada, 2/1/91, (PB91-179259, A99, MF-A04).
- NCEER-91-0002 "Physical Space Solutions of Non-Proportionally Damped Systems," by M. Tong, Z. Liang and G.C. Lee, 1/15/91, (PB91-179242, A04, MF-A01).
- NCEER-91-0003 "Seismic Response of Single Piles and Pile Groups," by K. Fan and G. Gazetas, 1/10/91, (PB92-174994, A04, MF-A01).
- NCEER-91-0004 "Damping of Structures: Part 1 Theory of Complex Damping," by Z. Liang and G. Lee, 10/10/91, (PB92-197235, A12, MF-A03).
- NCEER-91-0005 "3D-BASIS Nonlinear Dynamic Analysis of Three Dimensional Base Isolated Structures: Part II," by S. Nagarajaiah, A.M. Reinhorn and M.C. Constantinou, 2/28/91, (PB91-190553, A07, MF-A01). This report has been replaced by NCEER-93-0011.
- NCEER-91-0006 "A Multidimensional Hysteretic Model for Plasticity Deforming Metals in Energy Absorbing Devices," by E.J. Graesser and F.A. Cozzarelli, 4/9/91, (PB92-108364, A04, MF-A01).
- NCEER-91-0007 "A Framework for Customizable Knowledge-Based Expert Systems with an Application to a KBES for Evaluating the Seismic Resistance of Existing Buildings," by E.G. Ibarra-Anaya and S.J. Fenves, 4/9/91, (PB91-210930, A08, MF-A01).
- NCEER-91-0008 "Nonlinear Analysis of Steel Frames with Semi-Rigid Connections Using the Capacity Spectrum Method," by G.G. Deierlein, S-H. Hsieh, Y-J. Shen and J.F. Abel, 7/2/91, (PB92-113828, A05, MF-A01).
- NCEER-91-0009 "Earthquake Education Materials for Grades K-12," by K.E.K. Ross, 4/30/91, (PB91-212142, A06, MF-A01). This report has been replaced by NCEER-92-0018.
- NCEER-91-0010 "Phase Wave Velocities and Displacement Phase Differences in a Harmonically Oscillating Pile," by N. Makris and G. Gazetas, 7/8/91, (PB92-108356, A04, MF-A01).
- NCEER-91-0011 "Dynamic Characteristics of a Full-Size Five-Story Steel Structure and a 2/5 Scale Model," by K.C. Chang, G.C. Yao, G.C. Lee, D.S. Hao and Y.C. Yeh," 7/2/91, (PB93-116648, A06, MF-A02).
- NCEER-91-0012 "Seismic Response of a 2/5 Scale Steel Structure with Added Viscoelastic Dampers," by K.C. Chang, T.T. Soong, S-T. Oh and M.L. Lai, 5/17/91, (PB92-110816, A05, MF-A01).
- NCEER-91-0013 "Earthquake Response of Retaining Walls; Full-Scale Testing and Computational Modeling," by S. Alampalli and A-W.M. Elgamal, 6/20/91, to be published.
- NCEER-91-0014 "3D-BASIS-M: Nonlinear Dynamic Analysis of Multiple Building Base Isolated Structures," by P.C. Tsopelas, S. Nagarajaiah, M.C. Constantinou and A.M. Reinhorn, 5/28/91, (PB92-113885, A09, MF-A02).
- NCEER-91-0015 "Evaluation of SEAOC Design Requirements for Sliding Isolated Structures," by D. Theodossiou and M.C. Constantinou, 6/10/91, (PB92-114602, A11, MF-A03).
- NCEER-91-0016 "Closed-Loop Modal Testing of a 27-Story Reinforced Concrete Flat Plate-Core Building," by H.R. Somaprasad, T. Toksoy, H. Yoshiyuki and A.E. Aktan, 7/15/91, (PB92-129980, A07, MF-A02).
- NCEER-91-0017 "Shake Table Test of a 1/6 Scale Two-Story Lightly Reinforced Concrete Building," by A.G. El-Attar, R.N. White and P. Gergely, 2/28/91, (PB92-222447, A06, MF-A02).
- NCEER-91-0018 "Shake Table Test of a 1/8 Scale Three-Story Lightly Reinforced Concrete Building," by A.G. El-Attar, R.N. White and P. Gergely, 2/28/91, (PB93-116630, A08, MF-A02).
- NCEER-91-0019 "Transfer Functions for Rigid Rectangular Foundations," by A.S. Veletsos, A.M. Prasad and W.H. Wu, 7/31/91, to be published.

- NCEER-91-0020 "Hybrid Control of Seismic-Excited Nonlinear and Inelastic Structural Systems," by J.N. Yang, Z. Li and A. Danielians, 8/1/91, (PB92-143171, A06, MF-A02).
- NCEER-91-0021 "The NCEER-91 Earthquake Catalog: Improved Intensity-Based Magnitudes and Recurrence Relations for U.S. Earthquakes East of New Madrid," by L. Seeber and J.G. Armbruster, 8/28/91, (PB92-176742, A06, MF-A02).
- NCEER-91-0022 "Proceedings from the Implementation of Earthquake Planning and Education in Schools: The Need for Change The Roles of the Changemakers," by K.E.K. Ross and F. Winslow, 7/23/91, (PB92-129998, A12, MF-A03).
- NCEER-91-0023 "A Study of Reliability-Based Criteria for Seismic Design of Reinforced Concrete Frame Buildings," by H.H.M. Hwang and H-M. Hsu, 8/10/91, (PB92-140235, A09, MF-A02).
- NCEER-91-0024 "Experimental Verification of a Number of Structural System Identification Algorithms," by R.G. Ghanem, H. Gavin and M. Shinozuka, 9/18/91, (PB92-176577, A18, MF-A04).
- NCEER-91-0025 "Probabilistic Evaluation of Liquefaction Potential," by H.H.M. Hwang and C.S. Lee," 11/25/91, (PB92-143429, A05, MF-A01).
- NCEER-91-0026 "Instantaneous Optimal Control for Linear, Nonlinear and Hysteretic Structures Stable Controllers," by J.N. Yang and Z. Li, 11/15/91, (PB92-163807, A04, MF-A01).
- NCEER-91-0027 "Experimental and Theoretical Study of a Sliding Isolation System for Bridges," by M.C. Constantinou, A. Kartoum, A.M. Reinhorn and P. Bradford, 11/15/91, (PB92-176973, A10, MF-A03).
- NCEER-92-0001 "Case Studies of Liquefaction and Lifeline Performance During Past Earthquakes, Volume 1: Japanese Case Studies," Edited by M. Hamada and T. O'Rourke, 2/17/92, (PB92-197243, A18, MF-A04).
- NCEER-92-0002 "Case Studies of Liquefaction and Lifeline Performance During Past Earthquakes, Volume 2: United States Case Studies," Edited by T. O'Rourke and M. Hamada, 2/17/92, (PB92-197250, A20, MF-A04).
- NCEER-92-0003 "Issues in Earthquake Education," Edited by K. Ross, 2/3/92, (PB92-222389, A07, MF-A02).
- NCEER-92-0004 "Proceedings from the First U.S. Japan Workshop on Earthquake Protective Systems for Bridges," Edited by I.G. Buckle, 2/4/92, (PB94-142239, A99, MF-A06).
- NCEER-92-0005 "Seismic Ground Motion from a Haskell-Type Source in a Multiple-Layered Half-Space," A.P. Theoharis, G. Deodatis and M. Shinozuka, 1/2/92, to be published.
- NCEER-92-0006 "Proceedings from the Site Effects Workshop," Edited by R. Whitman, 2/29/92, (PB92-197201, A04, MF-A01).
- NCEER-92-0007 "Engineering Evaluation of Permanent Ground Deformations Due to Seismically-Induced Liquefaction," by M.H. Baziar, R. Dobry and A-W.M. Elgamal, 3/24/92, (PB92-222421, A13, MF-A03).
- NCEER-92-0008 "A Procedure for the Seismic Evaluation of Buildings in the Central and Eastern United States," by C.D. Poland and J.O. Malley, 4/2/92, (PB92-222439, A20, MF-A04).
- NCEER-92-0009 "Experimental and Analytical Study of a Hybrid Isolation System Using Friction Controllable Sliding Bearings," by M.Q. Feng, S. Fujii and M. Shinozuka, 5/15/92, (PB93-150282, A06, MF-A02).
- NCEER-92-0010 "Seismic Resistance of Slab-Column Connections in Existing Non-Ductile Flat-Plate Buildings," by A.J. Durrani and Y. Du, 5/18/92, (PB93-116812, A06, MF-A02).
- NCEER-92-0011 "The Hysteretic and Dynamic Behavior of Brick Masonry Walls Upgraded by Ferrocement Coatings Under Cyclic Loading and Strong Simulated Ground Motion," by H. Lee and S.P. Prawel, 5/11/92, to be published.
- NCEER-92-0012 "Study of Wire Rope Systems for Seismic Protection of Equipment in Buildings," by G.F. Demetriades, M.C. Constantinou and A.M. Reinhorn, 5/20/92, (PB93-116655, A08, MF-A02).

- NCEER-92-0013 "Shape Memory Structural Dampers: Material Properties, Design and Seismic Testing," by P.R. Witting and F.A. Cozzarelli, 5/26/92, (PB93-116663, A05, MF-A01).
- NCEER-92-0014 "Longitudinal Permanent Ground Deformation Effects on Buried Continuous Pipelines," by M.J. O'Rourke, and C. Nordberg, 6/15/92, (PB93-116671, A08, MF-A02).
- NCEER-92-0015 "A Simulation Method for Stationary Gaussian Random Functions Based on the Sampling Theorem," by M. Grigoriu and S. Balopoulou, 6/11/92, (PB93-127496, A05, MF-A01).
- NCEER-92-0016 "Gravity-Load-Designed Reinforced Concrete Buildings: Seismic Evaluation of Existing Construction and Detailing Strategies for Improved Seismic Resistance," by G.W. Hoffmann, S.K. Kunnath, A.M. Reinhorn and J.B. Mander, 7/15/92, (PB94-142007, A08, MF-A02).
- NCEER-92-0017 "Observations on Water System and Pipeline Performance in the Limón Area of Costa Rica Due to the April 22, 1991 Earthquake," by M. O'Rourke and D. Ballantyne, 6/30/92, (PB93-126811, A06, MF-A02).
- NCEER-92-0018 "Fourth Edition of Earthquake Education Materials for Grades K-12," Edited by K.E.K. Ross, 8/10/92, (PB93-114023, A07, MF-A02).
- NCEER-92-0019 "Proceedings from the Fourth Japan-U.S. Workshop on Earthquake Resistant Design of Lifeline Facilities and Countermeasures for Soil Liquefaction," Edited by M. Hamada and T.D. O'Rourke, 8/12/92, (PB93-163939, A99, MF-E11).
- NCEER-92-0020 "Active Bracing System: A Full Scale Implementation of Active Control," by A.M. Reinhorn, T.T. Soong, R.C. Lin, M.A. Riley, Y.P. Wang, S. Aizawa and M. Higashino, 8/14/92, (PB93-127512, A06, MF-A02).
- NCEER-92-0021 "Empirical Analysis of Horizontal Ground Displacement Generated by Liquefaction-Induced Lateral Spreads," by S.F. Bartlett and T.L. Youd, 8/17/92, (PB93-188241, A06, MF-A02).
- NCEER-92-0022 "IDARC Version 3.0: Inelastic Damage Analysis of Reinforced Concrete Structures," by S.K. Kunnath, A.M. Reinhorn and R.F. Lobo, 8/31/92, (PB93-227502, A07, MF-A02).
- NCEER-92-0023 "A Semi-Empirical Analysis of Strong-Motion Peaks in Terms of Seismic Source, Propagation Path and Local Site Conditions, by M. Kamiyama, M.J. O'Rourke and R. Flores-Berrones, 9/9/92, (PB93-150266, A08, MF-A02).
- NCEER-92-0024 "Seismic Behavior of Reinforced Concrete Frame Structures with Nonductile Details, Part I: Summary of Experimental Findings of Full Scale Beam-Column Joint Tests," by A. Beres, R.N. White and P. Gergely, 9/30/92, (PB93-227783, A05, MF-A01).
- NCEER-92-0025 "Experimental Results of Repaired and Retrofitted Beam-Column Joint Tests in Lightly Reinforced Concrete Frame Buildings," by A. Beres, S. El-Borgi, R.N. White and P. Gergely, 10/29/92, (PB93-227791, A05, MF-A01).
- NCEER-92-0026 "A Generalization of Optimal Control Theory: Linear and Nonlinear Structures," by J.N. Yang, Z. Li and S. Vongchavalitkul, 11/2/92, (PB93-188621, A05, MF-A01).
- NCEER-92-0027 "Seismic Resistance of Reinforced Concrete Frame Structures Designed Only for Gravity Loads: Part I -Design and Properties of a One-Third Scale Model Structure," by J.M. Bracci, A.M. Reinhorn and J.B. Mander, 12/1/92, (PB94-104502, A08, MF-A02).
- NCEER-92-0028 "Seismic Resistance of Reinforced Concrete Frame Structures Designed Only for Gravity Loads: Part II -Experimental Performance of Subassemblages," by L.E. Aycardi, J.B. Mander and A.M. Reinhorn, 12/1/92, (PB94-104510, A08, MF-A02).
- NCEER-92-0029 "Seismic Resistance of Reinforced Concrete Frame Structures Designed Only for Gravity Loads: Part III -Experimental Performance and Analytical Study of a Structural Model," by J.M. Bracci, A.M. Reinhorn and J.B. Mander, 12/1/92, (PB93-227528, A09, MF-A01).

- NCEER-92-0030 "Evaluation of Seismic Retrofit of Reinforced Concrete Frame Structures: Part I Experimental Performance of Retrofitted Subassemblages," by D. Choudhuri, J.B. Mander and A.M. Reinhorn, 12/8/92, (PB93-198307, A07, MF-A02).
- NCEER-92-0031 "Evaluation of Seismic Retrofit of Reinforced Concrete Frame Structures: Part II Experimental Performance and Analytical Study of a Retrofitted Structural Model," by J.M. Bracci, A.M. Reinhorn and J.B. Mander, 12/8/92, (PB93-198315, A09, MF-A03).
- NCEER-92-0032 "Experimental and Analytical Investigation of Seismic Response of Structures with Supplemental Fluid Viscous Dampers," by M.C. Constantinou and M.D. Symans, 12/21/92, (PB93-191435, A10, MF-A03). This report is available only through NTIS (see address given above).
- NCEER-92-0033 "Reconnaissance Report on the Cairo, Egypt Earthquake of October 12, 1992," by M. Khater, 12/23/92, (PB93-188621, A03, MF-A01).
- NCEER-92-0034 "Low-Level Dynamic Characteristics of Four Tall Flat-Plate Buildings in New York City," by H. Gavin, S. Yuan, J. Grossman, E. Pekelis and K. Jacob, 12/28/92, (PB93-188217, A07, MF-A02).
- NCEER-93-0001 "An Experimental Study on the Seismic Performance of Brick-Infilled Steel Frames With and Without Retrofit," by J.B. Mander, B. Nair, K. Wojtkowski and J. Ma, 1/29/93, (PB93-227510, A07, MF-A02).
- NCEER-93-0002 "Social Accounting for Disaster Preparedness and Recovery Planning," by S. Cole, E. Pantoja and V. Razak, 2/22/93, (PB94-142114, A12, MF-A03).
- NCEER-93-0003 "Assessment of 1991 NEHRP Provisions for Nonstructural Components and Recommended Revisions," by T.T. Soong, G. Chen, Z. Wu, R-H. Zhang and M. Grigoriu, 3/1/93, (PB93-188639, A06, MF-A02).
- NCEER-93-0004 "Evaluation of Static and Response Spectrum Analysis Procedures of SEAOC/UBC for Seismic Isolated Structures," by C.W. Winters and M.C. Constantinou, 3/23/93, (PB93-198299, A10, MF-A03).
- NCEER-93-0005 "Earthquakes in the Northeast Are We Ignoring the Hazard? A Workshop on Earthquake Science and Safety for Educators," edited by K.E.K. Ross, 4/2/93, (PB94-103066, A09, MF-A02).
- NCEER-93-0006 "Inelastic Response of Reinforced Concrete Structures with Viscoelastic Braces," by R.F. Lobo, J.M. Bracci, K.L. Shen, A.M. Reinhorn and T.T. Soong, 4/5/93, (PB93-227486, A05, MF-A02).
- NCEER-93-0007 "Seismic Testing of Installation Methods for Computers and Data Processing Equipment," by K. Kosar, T.T. Soong, K.L. Shen, J.A. HoLung and Y.K. Lin, 4/12/93, (PB93-198299, A07, MF-A02).
- NCEER-93-0008 "Retrofit of Reinforced Concrete Frames Using Added Dampers," by A. Reinhorn, M. Constantinou and C. Li, to be published.
- NCEER-93-0009 "Seismic Behavior and Design Guidelines for Steel Frame Structures with Added Viscoelastic Dampers," by K.C. Chang, M.L. Lai, T.T. Soong, D.S. Hao and Y.C. Yeh, 5/1/93, (PB94-141959, A07, MF-A02).
- NCEER-93-0010 "Seismic Performance of Shear-Critical Reinforced Concrete Bridge Piers," by J.B. Mander, S.M. Waheed, M.T.A. Chaudhary and S.S. Chen, 5/12/93, (PB93-227494, A08, MF-A02).
- NCEER-93-0011 "3D-BASIS-TABS: Computer Program for Nonlinear Dynamic Analysis of Three Dimensional Base Isolated Structures," by S. Nagarajaiah, C. Li, A.M. Reinhorn and M.C. Constantinou, 8/2/93, (PB94-141819, A09, MF-A02).
- NCEER-93-0012 "Effects of Hydrocarbon Spills from an Oil Pipeline Break on Ground Water," by O.J. Helweg and H.H.M. Hwang, 8/3/93, (PB94-141942, A06, MF-A02).
- NCEER-93-0013 "Simplified Procedures for Seismic Design of Nonstructural Components and Assessment of Current Code Provisions," by M.P. Singh, L.E. Suarez, E.E. Matheu and G.O. Maldonado, 8/4/93, (PB94-141827, A09, MF-A02).
- NCEER-93-0014 "An Energy Approach to Seismic Analysis and Design of Secondary Systems," by G. Chen and T.T. Soong, 8/6/93, (PB94-142767, A11, MF-A03).

- NCEER-93-0015 "Proceedings from School Sites: Becoming Prepared for Earthquakes Commemorating the Third Anniversary of the Loma Prieta Earthquake," Edited by F.E. Winslow and K.E.K. Ross, 8/16/93, (PB94-154275, A16, MF-A02).
- NCEER-93-0016 "Reconnaissance Report of Damage to Historic Monuments in Cairo, Egypt Following the October 12, 1992 Dahshur Earthquake," by D. Sykora, D. Look, G. Croci, E. Karaesmen and E. Karaesmen, 8/19/93, (PB94-142221, A08, MF-A02).
- NCEER-93-0017 "The Island of Guam Earthquake of August 8, 1993," by S.W. Swan and S.K. Harris, 9/30/93, (PB94-141843, A04, MF-A01).
- NCEER-93-0018 "Engineering Aspects of the October 12, 1992 Egyptian Earthquake," by A.W. Elgamal, M. Amer, K. Adalier and A. Abul-Fadl, 10/7/93, (PB94-141983, A05, MF-A01).
- NCEER-93-0019 "Development of an Earthquake Motion Simulator and its Application in Dynamic Centrifuge Testing," by I. Krstelj, Supervised by J.H. Prevost, 10/23/93, (PB94-181773, A-10, MF-A03).
- NCEER-93-0020 "NCEER-Taisei Corporation Research Program on Sliding Seismic Isolation Systems for Bridges: Experimental and Analytical Study of a Friction Pendulum System (FPS)," by M.C. Constantinou, P. Tsopelas, Y-S. Kim and S. Okamoto, 11/1/93, (PB94-142775, A08, MF-A02).
- NCEER-93-0021 "Finite Element Modeling of Elastomeric Seismic Isolation Bearings," by L.J. Billings, Supervised by R. Shepherd, 11/8/93, to be published.
- NCEER-93-0022 "Seismic Vulnerability of Equipment in Critical Facilities: Life-Safety and Operational Consequences," by K. Porter, G.S. Johnson, M.M. Zadeh, C. Scawthorn and S. Eder, 11/24/93, (PB94-181765, A16, MF-A03).
- NCEER-93-0023 "Hokkaido Nansei-oki, Japan Earthquake of July 12, 1993, by P.I. Yanev and C.R. Scawthorn, 12/23/93, (PB94-181500, A07, MF-A01).
- NCEER-94-0001 "An Evaluation of Seismic Serviceability of Water Supply Networks with Application to the San Francisco Auxiliary Water Supply System," by I. Markov, Supervised by M. Grigoriu and T. O'Rourke, 1/21/94, (PB94-204013, A07, MF-A02).
- NCEER-94-0002 "NCEER-Taisei Corporation Research Program on Sliding Seismic Isolation Systems for Bridges: Experimental and Analytical Study of Systems Consisting of Sliding Bearings, Rubber Restoring Force Devices and Fluid Dampers," Volumes I and II, by P. Tsopelas, S. Okamoto, M.C. Constantinou, D. Ozaki and S. Fujii, 2/4/94, (PB94-181740, A09, MF-A02 and PB94-181757, A12, MF-A03).
- NCEER-94-0003 "A Markov Model for Local and Global Damage Indices in Seismic Analysis," by S. Rahman and M. Grigoriu, 2/18/94, (PB94-206000, A12, MF-A03).
- NCEER-94-0004 "Proceedings from the NCEER Workshop on Seismic Response of Masonry Infills," edited by D.P. Abrams, 3/1/94, (PB94-180783, A07, MF-A02).
- NCEER-94-0005 "The Northridge, California Earthquake of January 17, 1994: General Reconnaissance Report," edited by J.D. Goltz, 3/11/94, (PB94-193943, A10, MF-A03).
- NCEER-94-0006 "Seismic Energy Based Fatigue Damage Analysis of Bridge Columns: Part I Evaluation of Seismic Capacity," by G.A. Chang and J.B. Mander, 3/14/94, (PB94-219185, A11, MF-A03).
- NCEER-94-0007 "Seismic Isolation of Multi-Story Frame Structures Using Spherical Sliding Isolation Systems," by T.M. Al-Hussaini, V.A. Zayas and M.C. Constantinou, 3/17/94, (PB94-193745, A09, MF-A02).
- NCEER-94-0008 "The Northridge, California Earthquake of January 17, 1994: Performance of Highway Bridges," edited by I.G. Buckle, 3/24/94, (PB94-193851, A06, MF-A02).
- NCEER-94-0009 "Proceedings of the Third U.S.-Japan Workshop on Earthquake Protective Systems for Bridges," edited by I.G. Buckle and I. Friedland, 3/31/94, (PB94-195815, A99, MF-A06).

- NCEER-94-0010 "3D-BASIS-ME: Computer Program for Nonlinear Dynamic Analysis of Seismically Isolated Single and Multiple Structures and Liquid Storage Tanks," by P.C. Tsopelas, M.C. Constantinou and A.M. Reinhorn, 4/12/94, (PB94-204922, A09, MF-A02).
- NCEER-94-0011 "The Northridge, California Earthquake of January 17, 1994: Performance of Gas Transmission Pipelines," by T.D. O'Rourke and M.C. Palmer, 5/16/94, (PB94-204989, A05, MF-A01).
- NCEER-94-0012 "Feasibility Study of Replacement Procedures and Earthquake Performance Related to Gas Transmission Pipelines," by T.D. O'Rourke and M.C. Palmer, 5/25/94, (PB94-206638, A09, MF-A02).
- NCEER-94-0013 "Seismic Energy Based Fatigue Damage Analysis of Bridge Columns: Part II Evaluation of Seismic Demand," by G.A. Chang and J.B. Mander, 6/1/94, (PB95-18106, A08, MF-A02).
- NCEER-94-0014 "NCEER-Taisei Corporation Research Program on Sliding Seismic Isolation Systems for Bridges: Experimental and Analytical Study of a System Consisting of Sliding Bearings and Fluid Restoring Force/Damping Devices," by P. Tsopelas and M.C. Constantinou, 6/13/94, (PB94-219144, A10, MF-A03).
- NCEER-94-0015 "Generation of Hazard-Consistent Fragility Curves for Seismic Loss Estimation Studies," by H. Hwang and J-R. Huo, 6/14/94, (PB95-181996, A09, MF-A02).
- NCEER-94-0016 "Seismic Study of Building Frames with Added Energy-Absorbing Devices," by W.S. Pong, C.S. Tsai and G.C. Lee, 6/20/94, (PB94-219136, A10, A03).
- NCEER-94-0017 "Sliding Mode Control for Seismic-Excited Linear and Nonlinear Civil Engineering Structures," by J. Yang, J. Wu, A. Agrawal and Z. Li, 6/21/94, (PB95-138483, A06, MF-A02).
- NCEER-94-0018 "3D-BASIS-TABS Version 2.0: Computer Program for Nonlinear Dynamic Analysis of Three Dimensional Base Isolated Structures," by A.M. Reinhorn, S. Nagarajaiah, M.C. Constantinou, P. Tsopelas and R. Li, 6/22/94, (PB95-182176, A08, MF-A02).
- NCEER-94-0019 "Proceedings of the International Workshop on Civil Infrastructure Systems: Application of Intelligent Systems and Advanced Materials on Bridge Systems," Edited by G.C. Lee and K.C. Chang, 7/18/94, (PB95-252474, A20, MF-A04).
- NCEER-94-0020 "Study of Seismic Isolation Systems for Computer Floors," by V. Lambrou and M.C. Constantinou, 7/19/94, (PB95-138533, A10, MF-A03).
- NCEER-94-0021 "Proceedings of the U.S.-Italian Workshop on Guidelines for Seismic Evaluation and Rehabilitation of Unreinforced Masonry Buildings," Edited by D.P. Abrams and G.M. Calvi, 7/20/94, (PB95-138749, A13, MF-A03).
- NCEER-94-0022 "NCEER-Taisei Corporation Research Program on Sliding Seismic Isolation Systems for Bridges: Experimental and Analytical Study of a System Consisting of Lubricated PTFE Sliding Bearings and Mild Steel Dampers," by P. Tsopelas and M.C. Constantinou, 7/22/94, (PB95-182184, A08, MF-A02).
- NCEER-94-0023 "Development of Reliability-Based Design Criteria for Buildings Under Seismic Load," by Y.K. Wen, H. Hwang and M. Shinozuka, 8/1/94, (PB95-211934, A08, MF-A02).
- NCEER-94-0024 "Experimental Verification of Acceleration Feedback Control Strategies for an Active Tendon System," by S.J. Dyke, B.F. Spencer, Jr., P. Quast, M.K. Sain, D.C. Kaspari, Jr. and T.T. Soong, 8/29/94, (PB95-212320, A05, MF-A01).
- NCEER-94-0025 "Seismic Retrofitting Manual for Highway Bridges," Edited by I.G. Buckle and I.F. Friedland, published by the Federal Highway Administration (PB95-212676, A15, MF-A03).
- NCEER-94-0026 "Proceedings from the Fifth U.S.-Japan Workshop on Earthquake Resistant Design of Lifeline Facilities and Countermeasures Against Soil Liquefaction," Edited by T.D. O'Rourke and M. Hamada, 11/7/94, (PB95-220802, A99, MF-E08).

- NCEER-95-0001 "Experimental and Analytical Investigation of Seismic Retrofit of Structures with Supplemental Damping: Part 1 - Fluid Viscous Damping Devices," by A.M. Reinhorn, C. Li and M.C. Constantinou, 1/3/95, (PB95-266599, A09, MF-A02).
- NCEER-95-0002 "Experimental and Analytical Study of Low-Cycle Fatigue Behavior of Semi-Rigid Top-And-Seat Angle Connections," by G. Pekcan, J.B. Mander and S.S. Chen, 1/5/95, (PB95-220042, A07, MF-A02).
- NCEER-95-0003 "NCEER-ATC Joint Study on Fragility of Buildings," by T. Anagnos, C. Rojahn and A.S. Kiremidjian, 1/20/95, (PB95-220026, A06, MF-A02).
- NCEER-95-0004 "Nonlinear Control Algorithms for Peak Response Reduction," by Z. Wu, T.T. Soong, V. Gattulli and R.C. Lin, 2/16/95, (PB95-220349, A05, MF-A01).
- NCEER-95-0005 "Pipeline Replacement Feasibility Study: A Methodology for Minimizing Seismic and Corrosion Risks to Underground Natural Gas Pipelines," by R.T. Eguchi, H.A. Seligson and D.G. Honegger, 3/2/95, (PB95-252326, A06, MF-A02).
- NCEER-95-0006 "Evaluation of Seismic Performance of an 11-Story Frame Building During the 1994 Northridge Earthquake," by F. Naeim, R. DiSulio, K. Benuska, A. Reinhorn and C. Li, to be published.
- NCEER-95-0007 "Prioritization of Bridges for Seismic Retrofitting," by N. Basöz and A.S. Kiremidjian, 4/24/95, (PB95-252300, A08, MF-A02).
- NCEER-95-0008 "Method for Developing Motion Damage Relationships for Reinforced Concrete Frames," by A. Singhal and A.S. Kiremidjian, 5/11/95, (PB95-266607, A06, MF-A02).
- NCEER-95-0009 "Experimental and Analytical Investigation of Seismic Retrofit of Structures with Supplemental Damping: Part II - Friction Devices," by C. Li and A.M. Reinhorn, 7/6/95, (PB96-128087, A11, MF-A03).
- NCEER-95-0010 "Experimental Performance and Analytical Study of a Non-Ductile Reinforced Concrete Frame Structure Retrofitted with Elastomeric Spring Dampers," by G. Pekcan, J.B. Mander and S.S. Chen, 7/14/95, (PB96-137161, A08, MF-A02).
- NCEER-95-0011 "Development and Experimental Study of Semi-Active Fluid Damping Devices for Seismic Protection of Structures," by M.D. Symans and M.C. Constantinou, 8/3/95, (PB96-136940, A23, MF-A04).
- NCEER-95-0012 "Real-Time Structural Parameter Modification (RSPM): Development of Innervated Structures," by Z. Liang, M. Tong and G.C. Lee, 4/11/95, (PB96-137153, A06, MF-A01).
- NCEER-95-0013 "Experimental and Analytical Investigation of Seismic Retrofit of Structures with Supplemental Damping: Part III - Viscous Damping Walls," by A.M. Reinhorn and C. Li, 10/1/95, (PB96-176409, A11, MF-A03).
- NCEER-95-0014 "Seismic Fragility Analysis of Equipment and Structures in a Memphis Electric Substation," by J-R. Huo and H.H.M. Hwang, 8/10/95, (PB96-128087, A09, MF-A02).
- NCEER-95-0015 "The Hanshin-Awaji Earthquake of January 17, 1995: Performance of Lifelines," Edited by M. Shinozuka, 11/3/95, (PB96-176383, A15, MF-A03).
- NCEER-95-0016 "Highway Culvert Performance During Earthquakes," by T.L. Youd and C.J. Beckman, available as NCEER-96-0015.
- NCEER-95-0017 "The Hanshin-Awaji Earthquake of January 17, 1995: Performance of Highway Bridges," Edited by I.G. Buckle, 12/1/95, to be published.
- NCEER-95-0018 "Modeling of Masonry Infill Panels for Structural Analysis," by A.M. Reinhorn, A. Madan, R.E. Valles, Y. Reichmann and J.B. Mander, 12/8/95, (PB97-110886, MF-A01, A06).
- NCEER-95-0019 "Optimal Polynomial Control for Linear and Nonlinear Structures," by A.K. Agrawal and J.N. Yang, 12/11/95, (PB96-168737, A07, MF-A02).

- NCEER-95-0020 "Retrofit of Non-Ductile Reinforced Concrete Frames Using Friction Dampers," by R.S. Rao, P. Gergely and R.N. White, 12/22/95, (PB97-133508, A10, MF-A02).
- NCEER-95-0021 "Parametric Results for Seismic Response of Pile-Supported Bridge Bents," by G. Mylonakis, A. Nikolaou and G. Gazetas, 12/22/95, (PB97-100242, A12, MF-A03).
- NCEER-95-0022 "Kinematic Bending Moments in Seismically Stressed Piles," by A. Nikolaou, G. Mylonakis and G. Gazetas, 12/23/95, (PB97-113914, MF-A03, A13).
- NCEER-96-0001 "Dynamic Response of Unreinforced Masonry Buildings with Flexible Diaphragms," by A.C. Costley and D.P. Abrams," 10/10/96, (PB97-133573, MF-A03, A15).
- NCEER-96-0002 "State of the Art Review: Foundations and Retaining Structures," by I. Po Lam, to be published.
- NCEER-96-0003 "Ductility of Rectangular Reinforced Concrete Bridge Columns with Moderate Confinement," by N. Wehbe, M. Saiidi, D. Sanders and B. Douglas, 11/7/96, (PB97-133557, A06, MF-A02).
- NCEER-96-0004 "Proceedings of the Long-Span Bridge Seismic Research Workshop," edited by I.G. Buckle and I.M. Friedland, to be published.
- NCEER-96-0005 "Establish Representative Pier Types for Comprehensive Study: Eastern United States," by J. Kulicki and Z. Prucz, 5/28/96, (PB98-119217, A07, MF-A02).
- NCEER-96-0006 "Establish Representative Pier Types for Comprehensive Study: Western United States," by R. Imbsen, R.A. Schamber and T.A. Osterkamp, 5/28/96, (PB98-118607, A07, MF-A02).
- NCEER-96-0007 "Nonlinear Control Techniques for Dynamical Systems with Uncertain Parameters," by R.G. Ghanem and M.I. Bujakov, 5/27/96, (PB97-100259, A17, MF-A03).
- NCEER-96-0008 "Seismic Evaluation of a 30-Year Old Non-Ductile Highway Bridge Pier and Its Retrofit," by J.B. Mander, B. Mahmoodzadegan, S. Bhadra and S.S. Chen, 5/31/96, (PB97-110902, MF-A03, A10).
- NCEER-96-0009 "Seismic Performance of a Model Reinforced Concrete Bridge Pier Before and After Retrofit," by J.B. Mander, J.H. Kim and C.A. Ligozio, 5/31/96, (PB97-110910, MF-A02, A10).
- NCEER-96-0010 "IDARC2D Version 4.0: A Computer Program for the Inelastic Damage Analysis of Buildings," by R.E. Valles, A.M. Reinhorn, S.K. Kunnath, C. Li and A. Madan, 6/3/96, (PB97-100234, A17, MF-A03).
- NCEER-96-0011 "Estimation of the Economic Impact of Multiple Lifeline Disruption: Memphis Light, Gas and Water Division Case Study," by S.E. Chang, H.A. Seligson and R.T. Eguchi, 8/16/96, (PB97-133490, A11, MF-A03).
- NCEER-96-0012 "Proceedings from the Sixth Japan-U.S. Workshop on Earthquake Resistant Design of Lifeline Facilities and Countermeasures Against Soil Liquefaction, Edited by M. Hamada and T. O'Rourke, 9/11/96, (PB97-133581, A99, MF-A06).
- NCEER-96-0013 "Chemical Hazards, Mitigation and Preparedness in Areas of High Seismic Risk: A Methodology for Estimating the Risk of Post-Earthquake Hazardous Materials Release," by H.A. Seligson, R.T. Eguchi, K.J. Tierney and K. Richmond, 11/7/96, (PB97-133565, MF-A02, A08).
- NCEER-96-0014 "Response of Steel Bridge Bearings to Reversed Cyclic Loading," by J.B. Mander, D-K. Kim, S.S. Chen and G.J. Premus, 11/13/96, (PB97-140735, A12, MF-A03).
- NCEER-96-0015 "Highway Culvert Performance During Past Earthquakes," by T.L. Youd and C.J. Beckman, 11/25/96, (PB97-133532, A06, MF-A01).
- NCEER-97-0001 "Evaluation, Prevention and Mitigation of Pounding Effects in Building Structures," by R.E. Valles and A.M. Reinhorn, 2/20/97, (PB97-159552, A14, MF-A03).
- NCEER-97-0002 "Seismic Design Criteria for Bridges and Other Highway Structures," by C. Rojahn, R. Mayes, D.G. Anderson, J. Clark, J.H. Hom, R.V. Nutt and M.J. O'Rourke, 4/30/97, (PB97-194658, A06, MF-A03).

- NCEER-97-0003 "Proceedings of the U.S.-Italian Workshop on Seismic Evaluation and Retrofit," Edited by D.P. Abrams and G.M. Calvi, 3/19/97, (PB97-194666, A13, MF-A03).
- NCEER-97-0004 "Investigation of Seismic Response of Buildings with Linear and Nonlinear Fluid Viscous Dampers," by A.A. Seleemah and M.C. Constantinou, 5/21/97, (PB98-109002, A15, MF-A03).
- NCEER-97-0005 "Proceedings of the Workshop on Earthquake Engineering Frontiers in Transportation Facilities," edited by G.C. Lee and I.M. Friedland, 8/29/97, (PB98-128911, A25, MR-A04).
- NCEER-97-0006 "Cumulative Seismic Damage of Reinforced Concrete Bridge Piers," by S.K. Kunnath, A. El-Bahy, A. Taylor and W. Stone, 9/2/97, (PB98-108814, A11, MF-A03).
- NCEER-97-0007 "Structural Details to Accommodate Seismic Movements of Highway Bridges and Retaining Walls," by R.A. Imbsen, R.A. Schamber, E. Thorkildsen, A. Kartoum, B.T. Martin, T.N. Rosser and J.M. Kulicki, 9/3/97, (PB98-108996, A09, MF-A02).
- NCEER-97-0008 "A Method for Earthquake Motion-Damage Relationships with Application to Reinforced Concrete Frames," by A. Singhal and A.S. Kiremidjian, 9/10/97, (PB98-108988, A13, MF-A03).
- NCEER-97-0009 "Seismic Analysis and Design of Bridge Abutments Considering Sliding and Rotation," by K. Fishman and R. Richards, Jr., 9/15/97, (PB98-108897, A06, MF-A02).
- NCEER-97-0010 "Proceedings of the FHWA/NCEER Workshop on the National Representation of Seismic Ground Motion for New and Existing Highway Facilities," edited by I.M. Friedland, M.S. Power and R.L. Mayes, 9/22/97, (PB98-128903, A21, MF-A04).
- NCEER-97-0011 "Seismic Analysis for Design or Retrofit of Gravity Bridge Abutments," by K.L. Fishman, R. Richards, Jr. and R.C. Divito, 10/2/97, (PB98-128937, A08, MF-A02).
- NCEER-97-0012 "Evaluation of Simplified Methods of Analysis for Yielding Structures," by P. Tsopelas, M.C. Constantinou, C.A. Kircher and A.S. Whittaker, 10/31/97, (PB98-128929, A10, MF-A03).
- NCEER-97-0013 "Seismic Design of Bridge Columns Based on Control and Repairability of Damage," by C-T. Cheng and J.B. Mander, 12/8/97, (PB98-144249, A11, MF-A03).
- NCEER-97-0014 "Seismic Resistance of Bridge Piers Based on Damage Avoidance Design," by J.B. Mander and C-T. Cheng, 12/10/97, (PB98-144223, A09, MF-A02).
- NCEER-97-0015 "Seismic Response of Nominally Symmetric Systems with Strength Uncertainty," by S. Balopoulou and M. Grigoriu, 12/23/97, (PB98-153422, A11, MF-A03).
- NCEER-97-0016 "Evaluation of Seismic Retrofit Methods for Reinforced Concrete Bridge Columns," by T.J. Wipf, F.W. Klaiber and F.M. Russo, 12/28/97, (PB98-144215, A12, MF-A03).
- NCEER-97-0017 "Seismic Fragility of Existing Conventional Reinforced Concrete Highway Bridges," by C.L. Mullen and A.S. Cakmak, 12/30/97, (PB98-153406, A08, MF-A02).
- NCEER-97-0018 "Loss Assessment of Memphis Buildings," edited by D.P. Abrams and M. Shinozuka, 12/31/97, (PB98-144231, A13, MF-A03).
- NCEER-97-0019 "Seismic Evaluation of Frames with Infill Walls Using Quasi-static Experiments," by K.M. Mosalam, R.N. White and P. Gergely, 12/31/97, (PB98-153455, A07, MF-A02).
- NCEER-97-0020 "Seismic Evaluation of Frames with Infill Walls Using Pseudo-dynamic Experiments," by K.M. Mosalam, R.N. White and P. Gergely, 12/31/97, (PB98-153430, A07, MF-A02).
- NCEER-97-0021 "Computational Strategies for Frames with Infill Walls: Discrete and Smeared Crack Analyses and Seismic Fragility," by K.M. Mosalam, R.N. White and P. Gergely, 12/31/97, (PB98-153414, A10, MF-A02).

- NCEER-97-0022 "Proceedings of the NCEER Workshop on Evaluation of Liquefaction Resistance of Soils," edited by T.L. Youd and I.M. Idriss, 12/31/97, (PB98-155617, A15, MF-A03).
- MCEER-98-0001 "Extraction of Nonlinear Hysteretic Properties of Seismically Isolated Bridges from Quick-Release Field Tests," by Q. Chen, B.M. Douglas, E.M. Maragakis and I.G. Buckle, 5/26/98, (PB99-118838, A06, MF-A01).
- MCEER-98-0002 "Methodologies for Evaluating the Importance of Highway Bridges," by A. Thomas, S. Eshenaur and J. Kulicki, 5/29/98, (PB99-118846, A10, MF-A02).
- MCEER-98-0003 "Capacity Design of Bridge Piers and the Analysis of Overstrength," by J.B. Mander, A. Dutta and P. Goel, 6/1/98, (PB99-118853, A09, MF-A02).
- MCEER-98-0004 "Evaluation of Bridge Damage Data from the Loma Prieta and Northridge, California Earthquakes," by N. Basoz and A. Kiremidjian, 6/2/98, (PB99-118861, A15, MF-A03).
- MCEER-98-0005 "Screening Guide for Rapid Assessment of Liquefaction Hazard at Highway Bridge Sites," by T. L. Youd, 6/16/98, (PB99-118879, A06, not available on microfiche).
- MCEER-98-0006 "Structural Steel and Steel/Concrete Interface Details for Bridges," by P. Ritchie, N. Kauhl and J. Kulicki, 7/13/98, (PB99-118945, A06, MF-A01).
- MCEER-98-0007 "Capacity Design and Fatigue Analysis of Confined Concrete Columns," by A. Dutta and J.B. Mander, 7/14/98, (PB99-118960, A14, MF-A03).
- MCEER-98-0008 "Proceedings of the Workshop on Performance Criteria for Telecommunication Services Under Earthquake Conditions," edited by A.J. Schiff, 7/15/98, (PB99-118952, A08, MF-A02).
- MCEER-98-0009 "Fatigue Analysis of Unconfined Concrete Columns," by J.B. Mander, A. Dutta and J.H. Kim, 9/12/98, (PB99-123655, A10, MF-A02).
- MCEER-98-0010 "Centrifuge Modeling of Cyclic Lateral Response of Pile-Cap Systems and Seat-Type Abutments in Dry Sands," by A.D. Gadre and R. Dobry, 10/2/98, (PB99-123606, A13, MF-A03).
- MCEER-98-0011 "IDARC-BRIDGE: A Computational Platform for Seismic Damage Assessment of Bridge Structures," by A.M. Reinhorn, V. Simeonov, G. Mylonakis and Y. Reichman, 10/2/98, (PB99-162919, A15, MF-A03).
- MCEER-98-0012 "Experimental Investigation of the Dynamic Response of Two Bridges Before and After Retrofitting with Elastomeric Bearings," by D.A. Wendichansky, S.S. Chen and J.B. Mander, 10/2/98, (PB99-162927, A15, MF-A03).
- MCEER-98-0013 "Design Procedures for Hinge Restrainers and Hinge Sear Width for Multiple-Frame Bridges," by R. Des Roches and G.L. Fenves, 11/3/98, (PB99-140477, A13, MF-A03).
- MCEER-98-0014 "Response Modification Factors for Seismically Isolated Bridges," by M.C. Constantinou and J.K. Quarshie, 11/3/98, (PB99-140485, A14, MF-A03).
- MCEER-98-0015 "Proceedings of the U.S.-Italy Workshop on Seismic Protective Systems for Bridges," edited by I.M. Friedland and M.C. Constantinou, 11/3/98, (PB2000-101711, A22, MF-A04).
- MCEER-98-0016 "Appropriate Seismic Reliability for Critical Equipment Systems: Recommendations Based on Regional Analysis of Financial and Life Loss," by K. Porter, C. Scawthorn, C. Taylor and N. Blais, 11/10/98, (PB99-157265, A08, MF-A02).
- MCEER-98-0017 "Proceedings of the U.S. Japan Joint Seminar on Civil Infrastructure Systems Research," edited by M. Shinozuka and A. Rose, 11/12/98, (PB99-156713, A16, MF-A03).
- MCEER-98-0018 "Modeling of Pile Footings and Drilled Shafts for Seismic Design," by I. PoLam, M. Kapuskar and D. Chaudhuri, 12/21/98, (PB99-157257, A09, MF-A02).

- MCEER-99-0001 "Seismic Evaluation of a Masonry Infilled Reinforced Concrete Frame by Pseudodynamic Testing," by S.G. Buonopane and R.N. White, 2/16/99, (PB99-162851, A09, MF-A02).
- MCEER-99-0002 "Response History Analysis of Structures with Seismic Isolation and Energy Dissipation Systems: Verification Examples for Program SAP2000," by J. Scheller and M.C. Constantinou, 2/22/99, (PB99-162869, A08, MF-A02).
- MCEER-99-0003 "Experimental Study on the Seismic Design and Retrofit of Bridge Columns Including Axial Load Effects," by A. Dutta, T. Kokorina and J.B. Mander, 2/22/99, (PB99-162877, A09, MF-A02).
- MCEER-99-0004 "Experimental Study of Bridge Elastomeric and Other Isolation and Energy Dissipation Systems with Emphasis on Uplift Prevention and High Velocity Near-source Seismic Excitation," by A. Kasalanati and M. C. Constantinou, 2/26/99, (PB99-162885, A12, MF-A03).
- MCEER-99-0005 "Truss Modeling of Reinforced Concrete Shear-flexure Behavior," by J.H. Kim and J.B. Mander, 3/8/99, (PB99-163693, A12, MF-A03).
- MCEER-99-0006 "Experimental Investigation and Computational Modeling of Seismic Response of a 1:4 Scale Model Steel Structure with a Load Balancing Supplemental Damping System," by G. Pekcan, J.B. Mander and S.S. Chen, 4/2/99, (PB99-162893, A11, MF-A03).
- MCEER-99-007 "Effect of Vertical Ground Motions on the Structural Response of Highway Bridges," by M.R. Button, C.J. Cronin and R.L. Mayes, 4/10/99, (PB2000-101411, A10, MF-A03).
- MCEER-99-0008 "Seismic Reliability Assessment of Critical Facilities: A Handbook, Supporting Documentation, and Model Code Provisions," by G.S. Johnson, R.E. Sheppard, M.D. Quilici, S.J. Eder and C.R. Scawthorn, 4/12/99, (PB2000-101701, A18, MF-A04).
- MCEER-99-0009 "Impact Assessment of Selected MCEER Highway Project Research on the Seismic Design of Highway Structures," by C. Rojahn, R. Mayes, D.G. Anderson, J.H. Clark, D'Appolonia Engineering, S. Gloyd and R.V. Nutt, 4/14/99, (PB99-162901, A10, MF-A02).
- MCEER-99-0010 "Site Factors and Site Categories in Seismic Codes," by R. Dobry, R. Ramos and M.S. Power, 7/19/99, (PB2000-101705, A08, MF-A02).
- MCEER-99-0011 "Restrainer Design Procedures for Multi-Span Simply-Supported Bridges," by M.J. Randall, M. Saiidi, E. Maragakis and T. Isakovic, 7/20/99, (PB2000-101702, A10, MF-A02).
- MCEER-99-0012 "Property Modification Factors for Seismic Isolation Bearings," by M.C. Constantinou, P. Tsopelas, A. Kasalanati and E. Wolff, 7/20/99, (PB2000-103387, A11, MF-A03).
- MCEER-99-0013 "Critical Seismic Issues for Existing Steel Bridges," by P. Ritchie, N. Kauhl and J. Kulicki, 7/20/99, (PB2000-101697, A09, MF-A02).
- MCEER-99-0014 "Nonstructural Damage Database," by A. Kao, T.T. Soong and A. Vender, 7/24/99, (PB2000-101407, A06, MF-A01).
- MCEER-99-0015 "Guide to Remedial Measures for Liquefaction Mitigation at Existing Highway Bridge Sites," by H.G. Cooke and J. K. Mitchell, 7/26/99, (PB2000-101703, A11, MF-A03).
- MCEER-99-0016 "Proceedings of the MCEER Workshop on Ground Motion Methodologies for the Eastern United States," edited by N. Abrahamson and A. Becker, 8/11/99, (PB2000-103385, A07, MF-A02).
- MCEER-99-0017 "Quindío, Colombia Earthquake of January 25, 1999: Reconnaissance Report," by A.P. Asfura and P.J. Flores, 10/4/99, (PB2000-106893, A06, MF-A01).
- MCEER-99-0018 "Hysteretic Models for Cyclic Behavior of Deteriorating Inelastic Structures," by M.V. Sivaselvan and A.M. Reinhorn, 11/5/99, (PB2000-103386, A08, MF-A02).

- MCEER-99-0019 "Proceedings of the 7<sup>th</sup> U.S.- Japan Workshop on Earthquake Resistant Design of Lifeline Facilities and Countermeasures Against Soil Liquefaction," edited by T.D. O'Rourke, J.P. Bardet and M. Hamada, 11/19/99, (PB2000-103354, A99, MF-A06).
- MCEER-99-0020 "Development of Measurement Capability for Micro-Vibration Evaluations with Application to Chip Fabrication Facilities," by G.C. Lee, Z. Liang, J.W. Song, J.D. Shen and W.C. Liu, 12/1/99, (PB2000-105993, A08, MF-A02).
- MCEER-99-0021 "Design and Retrofit Methodology for Building Structures with Supplemental Energy Dissipating Systems," by G. Pekcan, J.B. Mander and S.S. Chen, 12/31/99, (PB2000-105994, A11, MF-A03).
- MCEER-00-0001 "The Marmara, Turkey Earthquake of August 17, 1999: Reconnaissance Report," edited by C. Scawthorn; with major contributions by M. Bruneau, R. Eguchi, T. Holzer, G. Johnson, J. Mander, J. Mitchell, W. Mitchell, A. Papageorgiou, C. Scaethorn, and G. Webb, 3/23/00, (PB2000-106200, A11, MF-A03).
- MCEER-00-0002 "Proceedings of the MCEER Workshop for Seismic Hazard Mitigation of Health Care Facilities," edited by G.C. Lee, M. Ettouney, M. Grigoriu, J. Hauer and J. Nigg, 3/29/00, (PB2000-106892, A08, MF-A02).
- MCEER-00-0003 "The Chi-Chi, Taiwan Earthquake of September 21, 1999: Reconnaissance Report," edited by G.C. Lee and C.H. Loh, with major contributions by G.C. Lee, M. Bruneau, I.G. Buckle, S.E. Chang, P.J. Flores, T.D. O'Rourke, M. Shinozuka, T.T. Soong, C-H. Loh, K-C. Chang, Z-J. Chen, J-S. Hwang, M-L. Lin, G-Y. Liu, K-C. Tsai, G.C. Yao and C-L. Yen, 4/30/00, (PB2001-100980, A10, MF-A02).
- MCEER-00-0004 "Seismic Retrofit of End-Sway Frames of Steel Deck-Truss Bridges with a Supplemental Tendon System: Experimental and Analytical Investigation," by G. Pekcan, J.B. Mander and S.S. Chen, 7/1/00, (PB2001-100982, A10, MF-A02).
- MCEER-00-0005 "Sliding Fragility of Unrestrained Equipment in Critical Facilities," by W.H. Chong and T.T. Soong, 7/5/00, (PB2001-100983, A08, MF-A02).
- MCEER-00-0006 "Seismic Response of Reinforced Concrete Bridge Pier Walls in the Weak Direction," by N. Abo-Shadi, M. Saiidi and D. Sanders, 7/17/00, (PB2001-100981, A17, MF-A03).
- MCEER-00-0007 "Low-Cycle Fatigue Behavior of Longitudinal Reinforcement in Reinforced Concrete Bridge Columns," by J. Brown and S.K. Kunnath, 7/23/00, (PB2001-104392, A08, MF-A02).
- MCEER-00-0008 "Soil Structure Interaction of Bridges for Seismic Analysis," I. PoLam and H. Law, 9/25/00, (PB2001-105397, A08, MF-A02).
- MCEER-00-0009 "Proceedings of the First MCEER Workshop on Mitigation of Earthquake Disaster by Advanced Technologies (MEDAT-1), edited by M. Shinozuka, D.J. Inman and T.D. O'Rourke, 11/10/00, (PB2001-105399, A14, MF-A03).
- MCEER-00-0010 "Development and Evaluation of Simplified Procedures for Analysis and Design of Buildings with Passive Energy Dissipation Systems, Revision 01," by O.M. Ramirez, M.C. Constantinou, C.A. Kircher, A.S. Whittaker, M.W. Johnson, J.D. Gomez and C. Chrysostomou, 11/16/01, (PB2001-105523, A23, MF-A04).
- MCEER-00-0011 "Dynamic Soil-Foundation-Structure Interaction Analyses of Large Caissons," by C-Y. Chang, C-M. Mok, Z-L. Wang, R. Settgast, F. Waggoner, M.A. Ketchum, H.M. Gonnermann and C-C. Chin, 12/30/00, (PB2001-104373, A07, MF-A02).
- MCEER-00-0012 "Experimental Evaluation of Seismic Performance of Bridge Restrainers," by A.G. Vlassis, E.M. Maragakis and M. Saiid Saiidi, 12/30/00, (PB2001-104354, A09, MF-A02).
- MCEER-00-0013 "Effect of Spatial Variation of Ground Motion on Highway Structures," by M. Shinozuka, V. Saxena and G. Deodatis, 12/31/00, (PB2001-108755, A13, MF-A03).
- MCEER-00-0014 "A Risk-Based Methodology for Assessing the Seismic Performance of Highway Systems," by S.D. Werner, C.E. Taylor, J.E. Moore, II, J.S. Walton and S. Cho, 12/31/00, (PB2001-108756, A14, MF-A03).

- MCEER-01-0001 "Experimental Investigation of P-Delta Effects to Collapse During Earthquakes," by D. Vian and M. Bruneau, 6/25/01, (PB2002-100534, A17, MF-A03).
- MCEER-01-0002 "Proceedings of the Second MCEER Workshop on Mitigation of Earthquake Disaster by Advanced Technologies (MEDAT-2)," edited by M. Bruneau and D.J. Inman, 7/23/01, (PB2002-100434, A16, MF-A03).
- MCEER-01-0003 "Sensitivity Analysis of Dynamic Systems Subjected to Seismic Loads," by C. Roth and M. Grigoriu, 9/18/01, (PB2003-100884, A12, MF-A03).
- MCEER-01-0004 "Overcoming Obstacles to Implementing Earthquake Hazard Mitigation Policies: Stage 1 Report," by D.J. Alesch and W.J. Petak, 12/17/01, (PB2002-107949, A07, MF-A02).
- MCEER-01-0005 "Updating Real-Time Earthquake Loss Estimates: Methods, Problems and Insights," by C.E. Taylor, S.E. Chang and R.T. Eguchi, 12/17/01, (PB2002-107948, A05, MF-A01).
- MCEER-01-0006 "Experimental Investigation and Retrofit of Steel Pile Foundations and Pile Bents Under Cyclic Lateral Loadings," by A. Shama, J. Mander, B. Blabac and S. Chen, 12/31/01, (PB2002-107950, A13, MF-A03).
- MCEER-02-0001 "Assessment of Performance of Bolu Viaduct in the 1999 Duzce Earthquake in Turkey" by P.C. Roussis, M.C. Constantinou, M. Erdik, E. Durukal and M. Dicleli, 5/8/02, (PB2003-100883, A08, MF-A02).
- MCEER-02-0002 "Seismic Behavior of Rail Counterweight Systems of Elevators in Buildings," by M.P. Singh, Rildova and L.E. Suarez, 5/27/02. (PB2003-100882, A11, MF-A03).
- MCEER-02-0003 "Development of Analysis and Design Procedures for Spread Footings," by G. Mylonakis, G. Gazetas, S. Nikolaou and A. Chauncey, 10/02/02, (PB2004-101636, A13, MF-A03, CD-A13).
- MCEER-02-0004 "Bare-Earth Algorithms for Use with SAR and LIDAR Digital Elevation Models," by C.K. Huyck, R.T. Eguchi and B. Houshmand, 10/16/02, (PB2004-101637, A07, CD-A07).
- MCEER-02-0005 "Review of Energy Dissipation of Compression Members in Concentrically Braced Frames," by K.Lee and M. Bruneau, 10/18/02, (PB2004-101638, A10, CD-A10).
- MCEER-03-0001 "Experimental Investigation of Light-Gauge Steel Plate Shear Walls for the Seismic Retrofit of Buildings" by J. Berman and M. Bruneau, 5/2/03, (PB2004-101622, A10, MF-A03, CD-A10).
- MCEER-03-0002 "Statistical Analysis of Fragility Curves," by M. Shinozuka, M.Q. Feng, H. Kim, T. Uzawa and T. Ueda, 6/16/03, (PB2004-101849, A09, CD-A09).
- MCEER-03-0003 "Proceedings of the Eighth U.S.-Japan Workshop on Earthquake Resistant Design f Lifeline Facilities and Countermeasures Against Liquefaction," edited by M. Hamada, J.P. Bardet and T.D. O'Rourke, 6/30/03, (PB2004-104386, A99, CD-A99).
- MCEER-03-0004 "Proceedings of the PRC-US Workshop on Seismic Analysis and Design of Special Bridges," edited by L.C. Fan and G.C. Lee, 7/15/03, (PB2004-104387, A14, CD-A14).
- MCEER-03-0005 "Urban Disaster Recovery: A Framework and Simulation Model," by S.B. Miles and S.E. Chang, 7/25/03, (PB2004-104388, A07, CD-A07).
- MCEER-03-0006 "Behavior of Underground Piping Joints Due to Static and Dynamic Loading," by R.D. Meis, M. Maragakis and R. Siddharthan, 11/17/03, (PB2005-102194, A13, MF-A03, CD-A00).
- MCEER-04-0001 "Experimental Study of Seismic Isolation Systems with Emphasis on Secondary System Response and Verification of Accuracy of Dynamic Response History Analysis Methods," by E. Wolff and M. Constantinou, 1/16/04 (PB2005-102195, A99, MF-E08, CD-A00).
- MCEER-04-0002 "Tension, Compression and Cyclic Testing of Engineered Cementitious Composite Materials," by K. Kesner and S.L. Billington, 3/1/04, (PB2005-102196, A08, CD-A08).

- MCEER-04-0003 "Cyclic Testing of Braces Laterally Restrained by Steel Studs to Enhance Performance During Earthquakes," by O.C. Celik, J.W. Berman and M. Bruneau, 3/16/04, (PB2005-102197, A13, MF-A03, CD-A00).
- MCEER-04-0004 "Methodologies for Post Earthquake Building Damage Detection Using SAR and Optical Remote Sensing: Application to the August 17, 1999 Marmara, Turkey Earthquake," by C.K. Huyck, B.J. Adams, S. Cho, R.T. Eguchi, B. Mansouri and B. Houshmand, 6/15/04, (PB2005-104888, A10, CD-A00).
- MCEER-04-0005 "Nonlinear Structural Analysis Towards Collapse Simulation: A Dynamical Systems Approach," by M.V. Sivaselvan and A.M. Reinhorn, 6/16/04, (PB2005-104889, A11, MF-A03, CD-A00).
- MCEER-04-0006 "Proceedings of the Second PRC-US Workshop on Seismic Analysis and Design of Special Bridges," edited by G.C. Lee and L.C. Fan, 6/25/04, (PB2005-104890, A16, CD-A00).
- MCEER-04-0007 "Seismic Vulnerability Evaluation of Axially Loaded Steel Built-up Laced Members," by K. Lee and M. Bruneau, 6/30/04, (PB2005-104891, A16, CD-A00).
- MCEER-04-0008 "Evaluation of Accuracy of Simplified Methods of Analysis and Design of Buildings with Damping Systems for Near-Fault and for Soft-Soil Seismic Motions," by E.A. Pavlou and M.C. Constantinou, 8/16/04, (PB2005-104892, A08, MF-A02, CD-A00).
- MCEER-04-0009 "Assessment of Geotechnical Issues in Acute Care Facilities in California," by M. Lew, T.D. O'Rourke, R. Dobry and M. Koch, 9/15/04, (PB2005-104893, A08, CD-A00).
- MCEER-04-0010 "Scissor-Jack-Damper Energy Dissipation System," by A.N. Sigaher-Boyle and M.C. Constantinou, 12/1/04 (PB2005-108221).
- MCEER-04-0011 "Seismic Retrofit of Bridge Steel Truss Piers Using a Controlled Rocking Approach," by M. Pollino and M. Bruneau, 12/20/04 (PB2006-105795).
- MCEER-05-0001 "Experimental and Analytical Studies of Structures Seismically Isolated with an Uplift-Restraint Isolation System," by P.C. Roussis and M.C. Constantinou, 1/10/05 (PB2005-108222).
- MCEER-05-002 "A Versatile Experimentation Model for Study of Structures Near Collapse Applied to Seismic Evaluation of Irregular Structures," by D. Kusumastuti, A.M. Reinhorn and A. Rutenberg, 3/31/05 (PB2006-101523).
- MCEER-05-0003 "Proceedings of the Third PRC-US Workshop on Seismic Analysis and Design of Special Bridges," edited by L.C. Fan and G.C. Lee, 4/20/05, (PB2006-105796).
- MCEER-05-0004 "Approaches for the Seismic Retrofit of Braced Steel Bridge Piers and Proof-of-Concept Testing of an Eccentrically Braced Frame with Tubular Link," by J.W. Berman and M. Bruneau, 4/21/05 (PB2006-101524).
- MCEER-05-0005 "Simulation of Strong Ground Motions for Seismic Fragility Evaluation of Nonstructural Components in Hospitals," by A. Wanitkorkul and A. Filiatrault, 5/26/05 (PB2006-500027).
- MCEER-05-0006 "Seismic Safety in California Hospitals: Assessing an Attempt to Accelerate the Replacement or Seismic Retrofit of Older Hospital Facilities," by D.J. Alesch, L.A. Arendt and W.J. Petak, 6/6/05 (PB2006-105794).
- MCEER-05-0007 "Development of Seismic Strengthening and Retrofit Strategies for Critical Facilities Using Engineered Cementitious Composite Materials," by K. Kesner and S.L. Billington, 8/29/05 (PB2006-111701).
- MCEER-05-0008 "Experimental and Analytical Studies of Base Isolation Systems for Seismic Protection of Power Transformers," by N. Murota, M.Q. Feng and G-Y. Liu, 9/30/05 (PB2006-111702).
- MCEER-05-0009 "3D-BASIS-ME-MB: Computer Program for Nonlinear Dynamic Analysis of Seismically Isolated Structures," by P.C. Tsopelas, P.C. Roussis, M.C. Constantinou, R. Buchanan and A.M. Reinhorn, 10/3/05 (PB2006-111703).
- MCEER-05-0010 "Steel Plate Shear Walls for Seismic Design and Retrofit of Building Structures," by D. Vian and M. Bruneau, 12/15/05 (PB2006-111704).

- MCEER-05-0011 "The Performance-Based Design Paradigm," by M.J. Astrella and A. Whittaker, 12/15/05 (PB2006-111705).
- MCEER-06-0001 "Seismic Fragility of Suspended Ceiling Systems," H. Badillo-Almaraz, A.S. Whittaker, A.M. Reinhorn and G.P. Cimellaro, 2/4/06 (PB2006-111706).
- MCEER-06-0002 "Multi-Dimensional Fragility of Structures," by G.P. Cimellaro, A.M. Reinhorn and M. Bruneau, 3/1/06 (PB2007-106974, A09, MF-A02, CD A00).
- MCEER-06-0003 "Built-Up Shear Links as Energy Dissipators for Seismic Protection of Bridges," by P. Dusicka, A.M. Itani and I.G. Buckle, 3/15/06 (PB2006-111708).
- MCEER-06-0004 "Analytical Investigation of the Structural Fuse Concept," by R.E. Vargas and M. Bruneau, 3/16/06 (PB2006-111709).
- MCEER-06-0005 "Experimental Investigation of the Structural Fuse Concept," by R.E. Vargas and M. Bruneau, 3/17/06 (PB2006-111710).
- MCEER-06-0006 "Further Development of Tubular Eccentrically Braced Frame Links for the Seismic Retrofit of Braced Steel Truss Bridge Piers," by J.W. Berman and M. Bruneau, 3/27/06 (PB2007-105147).
- MCEER-06-0007 "REDARS Validation Report," by S. Cho, C.K. Huyck, S. Ghosh and R.T. Eguchi, 8/8/06 (PB2007-106983).
- MCEER-06-0008 "Review of Current NDE Technologies for Post-Earthquake Assessment of Retrofitted Bridge Columns," by J.W. Song, Z. Liang and G.C. Lee, 8/21/06 (PB2007-106984).
- MCEER-06-0009 "Liquefaction Remediation in Silty Soils Using Dynamic Compaction and Stone Columns," by S. Thevanayagam, G.R. Martin, R. Nashed, T. Shenthan, T. Kanagalingam and N. Ecemis, 8/28/06 (PB2007-106985).
- MCEER-06-0010 "Conceptual Design and Experimental Investigation of Polymer Matrix Composite Infill Panels for Seismic Retrofitting," by W. Jung, M. Chiewanichakorn and A.J. Aref, 9/21/06 (PB2007-106986).
- MCEER-06-0011 "A Study of the Coupled Horizontal-Vertical Behavior of Elastomeric and Lead-Rubber Seismic Isolation Bearings," by G.P. Warn and A.S. Whittaker, 9/22/06 (PB2007-108679).
- MCEER-06-0012 "Proceedings of the Fourth PRC-US Workshop on Seismic Analysis and Design of Special Bridges: Advancing Bridge Technologies in Research, Design, Construction and Preservation," Edited by L.C. Fan, G.C. Lee and L. Ziang, 10/12/06 (PB2007-109042).
- MCEER-06-0013 "Cyclic Response and Low Cycle Fatigue Characteristics of Plate Steels," by P. Dusicka, A.M. Itani and I.G. Buckle, 11/1/06 06 (PB2007-106987).
- MCEER-06-0014 "Proceedings of the Second US-Taiwan Bridge Engineering Workshop," edited by W.P. Yen, J. Shen, J-Y. Chen and M. Wang, 11/15/06 (PB2008-500041).
- MCEER-06-0015 "User Manual and Technical Documentation for the REDARS<sup>TM</sup> Import Wizard," by S. Cho, S. Ghosh, C.K. Huyck and S.D. Werner, 11/30/06 (PB2007-114766).
- MCEER-06-0016 "Hazard Mitigation Strategy and Monitoring Technologies for Urban and Infrastructure Public Buildings: Proceedings of the China-US Workshops," edited by X.Y. Zhou, A.L. Zhang, G.C. Lee and M. Tong, 12/12/06 (PB2008-500018).
- MCEER-07-0001 "Static and Kinetic Coefficients of Friction for Rigid Blocks," by C. Kafali, S. Fathali, M. Grigoriu and A.S. Whittaker, 3/20/07 (PB2007-114767).
- MCEER-07-002 "Hazard Mitigation Investment Decision Making: Organizational Response to Legislative Mandate," by L.A. Arendt, D.J. Alesch and W.J. Petak, 4/9/07 (PB2007-114768).
- MCEER-07-0003 "Seismic Behavior of Bidirectional-Resistant Ductile End Diaphragms with Unbonded Braces in Straight or Skewed Steel Bridges," by O. Celik and M. Bruneau, 4/11/07 (PB2008-105141).

- MCEER-07-0004 "Modeling Pile Behavior in Large Pile Groups Under Lateral Loading," by A.M. Dodds and G.R. Martin, 4/16/07(PB2008-105142).
- MCEER-07-0005 "Experimental Investigation of Blast Performance of Seismically Resistant Concrete-Filled Steel Tube Bridge Piers," by S. Fujikura, M. Bruneau and D. Lopez-Garcia, 4/20/07 (PB2008-105143).
- MCEER-07-0006 "Seismic Analysis of Conventional and Isolated Liquefied Natural Gas Tanks Using Mechanical Analogs," by I.P. Christovasilis and A.S. Whittaker, 5/1/07.
- MCEER-07-0007 "Experimental Seismic Performance Evaluation of Isolation/Restraint Systems for Mechanical Equipment Part 1: Heavy Equipment Study," by S. Fathali and A. Filiatrault, 6/6/07 (PB2008-105144).
- MCEER-07-0008 "Seismic Vulnerability of Timber Bridges and Timber Substructures," by A.A. Sharma, J.B. Mander, I.M. Friedland and D.R. Allicock, 6/7/07 (PB2008-105145).
- MCEER-07-0009 "Experimental and Analytical Study of the XY-Friction Pendulum (XY-FP) Bearing for Bridge Applications," by C.C. Marin-Artieda, A.S. Whittaker and M.C. Constantinou, 6/7/07 (PB2008-105191).
- MCEER-07-0010 "Proceedings of the PRC-US Earthquake Engineering Forum for Young Researchers," Edited by G.C. Lee and X.Z. Qi, 6/8/07 (PB2008-500058).
- MCEER-07-0011 "Design Recommendations for Perforated Steel Plate Shear Walls," by R. Purba and M. Bruneau, 6/18/07, (PB2008-105192).
- MCEER-07-0012 "Performance of Seismic Isolation Hardware Under Service and Seismic Loading," by M.C. Constantinou, A.S. Whittaker, Y. Kalpakidis, D.M. Fenz and G.P. Warn, 8/27/07, (PB2008-105193).
- MCEER-07-0013 "Experimental Evaluation of the Seismic Performance of Hospital Piping Subassemblies," by E.R. Goodwin, E. Maragakis and A.M. Itani, 9/4/07, (PB2008-105194).
- MCEER-07-0014 "A Simulation Model of Urban Disaster Recovery and Resilience: Implementation for the 1994 Northridge Earthquake," by S. Miles and S.E. Chang, 9/7/07, (PB2008-106426).
- MCEER-07-0015 "Statistical and Mechanistic Fragility Analysis of Concrete Bridges," by M. Shinozuka, S. Banerjee and S-H. Kim, 9/10/07, (PB2008-106427).
- MCEER-07-0016 "Three-Dimensional Modeling of Inelastic Buckling in Frame Structures," by M. Schachter and AM. Reinhorn, 9/13/07, (PB2008-108125).
- MCEER-07-0017 "Modeling of Seismic Wave Scattering on Pile Groups and Caissons," by I. Po Lam, H. Law and C.T. Yang, 9/17/07 (PB2008-108150).
- MCEER-07-0018 "Bridge Foundations: Modeling Large Pile Groups and Caissons for Seismic Design," by I. Po Lam, H. Law and G.R. Martin (Coordinating Author), 12/1/07 (PB2008-111190).
- MCEER-07-0019 "Principles and Performance of Roller Seismic Isolation Bearings for Highway Bridges," by G.C. Lee, Y.C. Ou, Z. Liang, T.C. Niu and J. Song, 12/10/07 (PB2009-110466).
- MCEER-07-0020 "Centrifuge Modeling of Permeability and Pinning Reinforcement Effects on Pile Response to Lateral Spreading," by L.L Gonzalez-Lagos, T. Abdoun and R. Dobry, 12/10/07 (PB2008-111191).
- MCEER-07-0021 "Damage to the Highway System from the Pisco, Perú Earthquake of August 15, 2007," by J.S. O'Connor, L. Mesa and M. Nykamp, 12/10/07, (PB2008-108126).
- MCEER-07-0022 "Experimental Seismic Performance Evaluation of Isolation/Restraint Systems for Mechanical Equipment Part 2: Light Equipment Study," by S. Fathali and A. Filiatrault, 12/13/07 (PB2008-111192).
- MCEER-07-0023 "Fragility Considerations in Highway Bridge Design," by M. Shinozuka, S. Banerjee and S.H. Kim, 12/14/07 (PB2008-111193).

MCEER-07-0024	"Performance Estimates for Seismically Isolated Bridges," by G.P. Warn and A.S. Whittaker, 12/30/07 (PB2008-112230).
MCEER-08-0001	"Seismic Performance of Steel Girder Bridge Superstructures with Conventional Cross Frames," by L.P. Carden, A.M. Itani and I.G. Buckle, 1/7/08, (PB2008-112231).
MCEER-08-0002	"Seismic Performance of Steel Girder Bridge Superstructures with Ductile End Cross Frames with Seismic Isolators," by L.P. Carden, A.M. Itani and I.G. Buckle, 1/7/08 (PB2008-112232).
MCEER-08-0003	"Analytical and Experimental Investigation of a Controlled Rocking Approach for Seismic Protection of Bridge Steel Truss Piers," by M. Pollino and M. Bruneau, 1/21/08 (PB2008-112233).
MCEER-08-0004	"Linking Lifeline Infrastructure Performance and Community Disaster Resilience: Models and Multi-Stakeholder Processes," by S.E. Chang, C. Pasion, K. Tatebe and R. Ahmad, 3/3/08 (PB2008-112234).
MCEER-08-0005	"Modal Analysis of Generally Damped Linear Structures Subjected to Seismic Excitations," by J. Song, Y-L. Chu, Z. Liang and G.C. Lee, 3/4/08 (PB2009-102311).
MCEER-08-0006	"System Performance Under Multi-Hazard Environments," by C. Kafali and M. Grigoriu, 3/4/08 (PB2008-112235).
MCEER-08-0007	"Mechanical Behavior of Multi-Spherical Sliding Bearings," by D.M. Fenz and M.C. Constantinou, 3/6/08 (PB2008-112236).
MCEER-08-0008	"Post-Earthquake Restoration of the Los Angeles Water Supply System," by T.H.P. Tabucchi and R.A. Davidson, 3/7/08 (PB2008-112237).
MCEER-08-0009	"Fragility Analysis of Water Supply Systems," by A. Jacobson and M. Grigoriu, 3/10/08 (PB2009-105545).
MCEER-08-0010	"Experimental Investigation of Full-Scale Two-Story Steel Plate Shear Walls with Reduced Beam Section Connections," by B. Qu, M. Bruneau, C-H. Lin and K-C. Tsai, 3/17/08 (PB2009-106368).
MCEER-08-0011	"Seismic Evaluation and Rehabilitation of Critical Components of Electrical Power Systems," S. Ersoy, B. Feizi, A. Ashrafi and M. Ala Saadeghvaziri, 3/17/08 (PB2009-105546).
MCEER-08-0012	"Seismic Behavior and Design of Boundary Frame Members of Steel Plate Shear Walls," by B. Qu and M. Bruneau, 4/26/08 . (PB2009-106744).
MCEER-08-0013	"Development and Appraisal of a Numerical Cyclic Loading Protocol for Quantifying Building System Performance," by A. Filiatrault, A. Wanitkorkul and M. Constantinou, 4/27/08 (PB2009-107906).
MCEER-08-0014	"Structural and Nonstructural Earthquake Design: The Challenge of Integrating Specialty Areas in Designing Complex, Critical Facilities," by W.J. Petak and D.J. Alesch, 4/30/08 (PB2009-107907).
MCEER-08-0015	"Seismic Performance Evaluation of Water Systems," by Y. Wang and T.D. O'Rourke, 5/5/08 (PB2009-107908).
MCEER-08-0016	"Seismic Response Modeling of Water Supply Systems," by P. Shi and T.D. O'Rourke, 5/5/08 (PB2009-107910).
MCEER-08-0017	"Numerical and Experimental Studies of Self-Centering Post-Tensioned Steel Frames," by D. Wang and A. Filiatrault, 5/12/08 (PB2009-110479).
MCEER-08-0018	"Development, Implementation and Verification of Dynamic Analysis Models for Multi-Spherical Sliding Bearings," by D.M. Fenz and M.C. Constantinou, 8/15/08 (PB2009-107911).
MCEER-08-0019	"Performance Assessment of Conventional and Base Isolated Nuclear Power Plants for Earthquake Blast Loadings," by Y.N. Huang, A.S. Whittaker and N. Luco, 10/28/08 (PB2009-107912).

- MCEER-08-0020 "Remote Sensing for Resilient Multi-Hazard Disaster Response Volume I: Introduction to Damage Assessment Methodologies," by B.J. Adams and R.T. Eguchi, 11/17/08 (PB2010-102695).
- MCEER-08-0021 "Remote Sensing for Resilient Multi-Hazard Disaster Response Volume II: Counting the Number of Collapsed Buildings Using an Object-Oriented Analysis: Case Study of the 2003 Bam Earthquake," by L. Gusella, C.K. Huyck and B.J. Adams, 11/17/08 (PB2010-100925).
- MCEER-08-0022 "Remote Sensing for Resilient Multi-Hazard Disaster Response Volume III: Multi-Sensor Image Fusion Techniques for Robust Neighborhood-Scale Urban Damage Assessment," by B.J. Adams and A. McMillan, 11/17/08 (PB2010-100926).
- MCEER-08-0023 "Remote Sensing for Resilient Multi-Hazard Disaster Response Volume IV: A Study of Multi-Temporal and Multi-Resolution SAR Imagery for Post-Katrina Flood Monitoring in New Orleans," by A. McMillan, J.G. Morley, B.J. Adams and S. Chesworth, 11/17/08 (PB2010-100927).
- MCEER-08-0024 "Remote Sensing for Resilient Multi-Hazard Disaster Response Volume V: Integration of Remote Sensing Imagery and VIEWS<sup>TM</sup> Field Data for Post-Hurricane Charley Building Damage Assessment," by J.A. Womble, K. Mehta and B.J. Adams, 11/17/08 (PB2009-115532).
- MCEER-08-0025 "Building Inventory Compilation for Disaster Management: Application of Remote Sensing and Statistical Modeling," by P. Sarabandi, A.S. Kiremidjian, R.T. Eguchi and B. J. Adams, 11/20/08 (PB2009-110484).
- MCEER-08-0026 "New Experimental Capabilities and Loading Protocols for Seismic Qualification and Fragility Assessment of Nonstructural Systems," by R. Retamales, G. Mosqueda, A. Filiatrault and A. Reinhorn, 11/24/08 (PB2009-110485).
- MCEER-08-0027 "Effects of Heating and Load History on the Behavior of Lead-Rubber Bearings," by I.V. Kalpakidis and M.C. Constantinou, 12/1/08 (PB2009-115533).
- MCEER-08-0028 "Experimental and Analytical Investigation of Blast Performance of Seismically Resistant Bridge Piers," by S.Fujikura and M. Bruneau, 12/8/08 (PB2009-115534).
- MCEER-08-0029 "Evolutionary Methodology for Aseismic Decision Support," by Y. Hu and G. Dargush, 12/15/08.
- MCEER-08-0030 "Development of a Steel Plate Shear Wall Bridge Pier System Conceived from a Multi-Hazard Perspective," by D. Keller and M. Bruneau, 12/19/08 (PB2010-102696).
- MCEER-09-0001 "Modal Analysis of Arbitrarily Damped Three-Dimensional Linear Structures Subjected to Seismic Excitations," by Y.L. Chu, J. Song and G.C. Lee, 1/31/09 (PB2010-100922).
- MCEER-09-0002 "Air-Blast Effects on Structural Shapes," by G. Ballantyne, A.S. Whittaker, A.J. Aref and G.F. Dargush, 2/2/09 (PB2010-102697).
- MCEER-09-0003 "Water Supply Performance During Earthquakes and Extreme Events," by A.L. Bonneau and T.D. O'Rourke, 2/16/09 (PB2010-100923).
- MCEER-09-0004 "Generalized Linear (Mixed) Models of Post-Earthquake Ignitions," by R.A. Davidson, 7/20/09 (PB2010-102698).
- MCEER-09-0005 "Seismic Testing of a Full-Scale Two-Story Light-Frame Wood Building: NEESWood Benchmark Test," by I.P. Christovasilis, A. Filiatrault and A. Wanitkorkul, 7/22/09.
- MCEER-09-0006 "IDARC2D Version 7.0: A Program for the Inelastic Damage Analysis of Structures," by A.M. Reinhorn, H. Roh, M. Sivaselvan, S.K. Kunnath, R.E. Valles, A. Madan, C. Li, R. Lobo and Y.J. Park, 7/28/09 (PB2010-103199).
- MCEER-09-0007 "Enhancements to Hospital Resiliency: Improving Emergency Planning for and Response to Hurricanes," by D.B. Hess and L.A. Arendt, 7/30/09 (PB2010-100924).

- MCEER-09-0008 "Assessment of Base-Isolated Nuclear Structures for Design and Beyond-Design Basis Earthquake Shaking," by Y.N. Huang, A.S. Whittaker, R.P. Kennedy and R.L. Mayes, 8/20/09 (PB2010-102699).
- MCEER-09-0009 "Quantification of Disaster Resilience of Health Care Facilities," by G.P. Cimellaro, C. Fumo, A.M Reinhorn and M. Bruneau, 9/14/09.
- MCEER-09-0010 "Performance-Based Assessment and Design of Squat Reinforced Concrete Shear Walls," by C.K. Gulec and A.S. Whittaker, 9/15/09 (PB2010-102700).
- MCEER-09-0011 "Proceedings of the Fourth US-Taiwan Bridge Engineering Workshop," edited by W.P. Yen, J.J. Shen, T.M. Lee and R.B. Zheng, 10/27/09 (PB2010-500009).
- MCEER-09-0012 "Proceedings of the Special International Workshop on Seismic Connection Details for Segmental Bridge Construction," edited by W. Phillip Yen and George C. Lee, 12/21/09.



ISSN 1520-295X